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March 24, 2016

C1TY OF BrYAN
Honorable Mayor, Members of the City Council, The Good Life, Texas Style."
City Manager, and Citizens of the City of Bryan, Texas

We are pleased to submit the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the City of Bryan (the
"City") for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015. The purpose of this report is to provide the Council,
management, staff, the public, and other interested parties with detailed information reflecting the City’s
financial condition. The Texas Local Government Code (§103.001) requires an annual audit of municipalities.
The City has complied with this requirement and the auditor’s report is included.

The City’s independent auditor, Weaver and Tidwell, L.L.P., has issued an unqualified or “clean” opinion on
the City of Bryan’s financial statement for the year ended September 30, 2015. An unqualified opinion
represents the highest level of audit assurance issuable for financial statements. The independent auditor’s
report is located at the front of the financial section of this report.

Management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information contained in
this report, which is based upon a comprehensive framework of internal controls established for this
purpose. Because the cost of internal control should not exceed anticipated benefits, the objective is to
provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of material
misstatements.

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor’s report and
provides a narrative introduction, overview and analysis of the basic financial statements. The MD&A
complements this letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it.

PROFILE OF THE GOVERNMENT

The City of Bryan, incorporated in 1871, is located in east central Texas approximately 100 miles northwest
of Houston and approximately 90 miles east of Austin in an area referred to as the Brazos Valley. Bryan
serves as the county seat for Brazos County. The City and the City of College Station to the south, which
share common borders, are home to the Texas A&M University System. The City encompasses approximately
43.7 square miles and has an estimated population of 80,913.

The City is a home rule city operating under the council-manager form of government. Policy making and
legislative authority are vested in the City Council, which is comprised of the mayor and six other members.
Five of the council members are elected by district. The mayor and one council member are elected at-large.
The city manager is appointed by the City Council and is responsible for the daily management of the City.

The City Council annually enacts a budget through passage of an appropriation ordinance prior to the start of
each fiscal year. The budget serves as the foundation for the City’s financial planning and control. Annual
budgets are prepared for all governmental funds including the general fund, debt service fund, and special
revenue funds.

Viii
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CITY OF BRYAN, TEXAS

The City provides the full range of municipal services contemplated by statute or charter. These services
include police, fire and emergency medical services, parks and recreational facilities and programs, library
services, street maintenance and construction, public improvements, general administrative services,
electrical, water, sewer and solid waste systems. Internal services of the City accounted for on a cost
reimbursement basis are general warehouse operations, risk management services, and employee health
and disability insurance programs. The City also is financially accountable for Bryan Commerce and
Development, Inc. (BCD), a local government corporation and the economic development arm of the City of
Bryan.

FACTORS AFFECTING FINANCIAL CONDITION

Bryan continued its strong growth trajectory during the fiscal year, realizing increases in current sales taxes
and property values. While oil and gas revenues saw significant increases in fiscal year 2014, falling market
prices resulted in declines in fiscal year 2015. Despite this decrease, overall governmental revenues were up
4.7% over the previous year. Bryan and neighboring College Station are the economic center of the region
comprised of Brazos County and the surrounding seven counties. Texas A&M University, with a student
enrollment of more than 59,000 and over 22,000 full and part-time employees, ranks among the nation’s
largest individual campuses and dominates the Bryan-College Station area. Additionally, Blinn College, a two
year academic institution, has a campus in Bryan with a student enrollment of over 12,000. In 2015, Blinn
purchased an additional 94 acres in west Bryan for the expansion of campus facilities. While not immune
from factors that affect the state and national economies, the area is somewhat insulated due to the
concentration of stable or growing employment sectors: government, higher education and health care. Five
of the top ten employers in the area fall into these classifications.

Historically, the Bryan-College Station area’s unemployment rate has been among the lowest in the state and
that trend continues. As of September 2015, the unemployment rate for the Bryan-College Station area was
3.5% compared to 4.5% state-wide.

MAJOR INITIATIVES

In September 2014, Texas Governor Rick Perry, Texas A&M University System Chancellor John Sharp and
officials from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), State of Texas, and
biopharmaceutical company GSK dedicated a national pandemic influenza vaccine manufacturing facility in
Bryan, Texas, which when complete will serve as an anchor for the Research Valley BioCorridor. The facility is
on track for a 2016 start-up.

The Research Valley BioCorridor had its beginning in 2011 when the Cities of Bryan and College Station
adopted an inter-local agreement (ILA) for its creation. The purpose of the BioCorridor is to attract bio-
related industries that develop life-changing medical technologies, build tax base, and attract high-paying
jobs and investment to the Cities. The ILA outlines a number of ways the Cities will work together to create
and manage an environment conducive for development and growth of the BioCorridor. The agreement
applies to four tracts of land totaling approximately 196 acres owned by Bryan Commerce and Development,
of which approximately 147 acres are located in College Station.

Some highlights of the agreement include:

P.O. Box 1000, Bryan, Texas 77805 ® 979.209.5000 ® www.bryantx.gov



CITY OF BRYAN, TEXAS

e Joint construction and cost-sharing of HSC Parkway, the major roadway within the BioCorridor

e Creation of joint development standards

¢ Ad valorem revenue sharing on real and personal properties

e Sewer service to be provided by Bryan; Water service to be provided by College Station

e A swap of exclusive sewer service territories that enables each city to more effectively provide
service due to terrain and proximity to existing sewer systems

InJune 2012, Texas A&M received a contract to develop one of three U.S. Department of Health and Human
Services National Centers for Innovation in Advanced Development and Manufacturing. Under the Centers
for Innovation in Advanced Development and Manufacturing contract, Texas A&M University System will be
responsible for developing and procuring medical countermeasures that address the public health and
medical consequences of chemical, biological, radiological and nuclear incidents, pandemic influenza and
emerging infectious diseases. The $285.6 million contract includes an initial investment of $176.6 million
from the U.S. government with the remainder cost-shared by commercial and academic proposal partners.
The build-out of the Research Valley BioCorridor is expected to provide a major economic boost to Bryan and
College Station as well as the Brazos Valley for many years to come.

in late 2014, the City completed its development of infrastructure supporting the Research Valley
BioCorridor. Projects completed include a regional lift station, expansion of the gravity sewer system and an
extension of the HSC Parkway to Hwy 47. These projects, along with an overpass completed in 2013 at the
intersection of Hwy 47 and HSC Parkway provide critical support to the Research Valley BioCorridor.

In 2014, Axis Pipe & Tube commenced commercial operations in Texas Triangle Park. Axis Pipe & Tube, the
largest manufacturing operation in the Brazos County, produces steel pipe, structural steel and tubular steel
products. In 2013, the City, as a partner with Brazos County in the City of Bryan and Brazos County Economic
Development Foundation, signed a development agreement with Axis Pipe & Tube bringing the $120 million
manufacturing facility to the county. In 2015, Axis Pipe and Tube added an additional 100 acres to its
operations. The facility is expected to ultimately employ at least 285 full time employees. Texas Triangle Park
is a master-planned, rail served industrial park located in the extra territorial jurisdiction (ETJ) of Bryan. The
addition of Axis Pipe and Tube to Texas Triangle Park has been a catalyst for growth and significant economic
benefit to the region.

LONG-TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING

The City annually prepares a five-year financial forecast to ensure that current revenue and spending
commitments are sustainable. Economic development efforts in prior years have resulted in significant cash
in-flows for the City in recent years. The sale of land in the Traditions development, sales of the City’s LaSalle
Hotel and Annex building and other sales have produced over $9.0 million in “one-time’ revenue since 2013.
The resulting inflows, along with the City’s continued attention to cost control have significantly increased
the General Fund’s ending fund balance which is approximately 175 days of average operating costs. In 2015,
City Council set a target of 100 days of operating cash. Specific one-time parks and recreation projects were
approved for spending in 2016 which address a portion of the operating funds over the target. City Council
also recently approved the establishment of Capital Reserve and Oil and Gas funds to capture future one-
time revenues to be directed to specific one-time projects. Through careful planning, City Council is helping
to ensure the sustained long-term financial health of the City.

P.O. Box 1000, Bryan, 1exas 77805 ® 979.209.5000 ® www.bryantx.gov




CITY OF BRYAN, TEXAS

In 2015, staff developed and received City Council approval on a five-year Capital Improvement Program
(CIP). This five year CIP is a plan for both long-term and short-term capital needs. Debt payments are
structured so that capital assets funded by debt have a longer life than the debt associated with those assets.
The City employs an objective, analytical approach to determine whether new debt can be assumed each
year.

The City issued no new debt in 2015, resulting in a net $26.0 million reduction in governmental and business-
type debt due to normally scheduled debt service payments. Additionally, the City issued $19.5 million in
general obligation refunding bonds in July 2015, which enabled the retirement of higher interest debt at a
savings of over $2.7 million. Future debt issues and operational expenses related to improvements will be
funded with growth in revenues generated by increases in property valuations and improved efficiencies
within City operations. The electric, water, and wastewater systems will continue their capital improvement
programs with the issuance of bonds supported by utility revenues as deemed necessary.

RELEVANT FINANCIAL POLICIES

The City’s fund balance/operating reserves policies continue to be an important factor in planning decisions.
The City has specific reserves policies for its major funds based on fund risks. The policies state that the City
will maintain an unassigned fund balance equal to at least 60 days of operating budget for the general fund
and most other funds and at least 90 days of reserves in the City electric fund to be used for unanticipated
emergencies. As noted above, the City also set a target balance of 100 days for the general fund. The funds
available through these policies will assist the City in avoiding cash flow interruptions, generate investment
income, reduce the need for short term borrowing, and assist in maintaining an investment-grade debt
rating.

The City of Bryan invests funds prudently and has adopted an investment policy, which is reviewed annually
by the City Council as prescribed by law. The City Council has appointed an Investment Committee charged
with monitoring staff adherence to the investment policy and providing investment advice. Staff provides a
quarterly report of investments for the Investment Committee to review. The City’s investment practice is to
buy securities and hold to maturity to avoid potential losses from a sale. During Fiscal Year 2015, the City
complied with all aspects of the investment policy.

AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

In 2015, the Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City for last years’ Comprehensive
Annual Financial Report (CAFR). To be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government must publish an
easily readable and efficiently organized CAFR. The report must satisfy both Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (GAAP) and applicable legal requirements. City staff believes the current CAFR continues to meet
the Certificate of Achievement requirements and it will be submitted to the GFOA to determine eligibility for
another certificate. The City also received awards for its annual budget document and investment policy
during the last year. In January 2016, the City was awarded the Government Treasurers’ Organization of
Texas’ Certificate of Distinction for its investment policy, and in March 2015, the City was awarded the
Distinguished Budget Presentation Award from the GFOA.

The preparation of this report is made possible by the dedicated services of the entire staff of the Fiscal
Services Department and our independent auditors. We express sincere appreciation to all employees who

Xi
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CITY OF BRYAN, TEXAS

contributed to its preparation. We also appreciate the leadership and support of the Mayor and City Council,
without which this report would not be possible.

Respectfully submitted,

flne g

Kean Register
City Manager

oeg OOd
Chief Financial Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of City Council
City of Bryan, Texas

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Bryan, Texas (the City), as of and for the
year ended September 30, 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The City’'s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We
did not audit the financial statements of Bryan Business Council, Inc. (BBC), the discretely
presented component unit of the City. We also did not audit the financial statements of the
Brazos Valley Solid Waste Management Agency, Inc. (BVSWMA), a joint venture of the City,
representing $13,588,808 of the assets and $679,322 of the income of the business-type
activities and aggregate remaining fund information of the City. The financial statements of
BBC and BVSWMA were audited by other auditors whose report thereon has been furnished to
us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for BBC and BVSWMA, are
based solely on the report of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement. The financial statements of BBC and BVSWMA were not audited in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

AN INDEPENDENT MEMBER OF WEAVER AND TIDWELL, L.L.P. 24 GREENWAY PLAZA, SUITE 1800, HOUSTON, TX 77046
BAKER TILLY INTERNATIONAL CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS AND ADVISORS P:713.850.8787 F:713.850.1673



To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of City Council
City of Bryan, Texas

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, the financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the
governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit,
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Bryan, Texas, as
of September 30, 2015, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable,
cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 1 to the basic financial statements, the City has adopted the provisions of
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 68, Accounting and
Reporting for Pensions - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27 and GASB Statement
No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date — an
amendment of GASB Statement No. 68. Beginning net position on the government-wide
Statement of Activities and on the proprietary funds Statement of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Net Position has been restated to reflect the effect of implementation of these
statements. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.



To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of City Council
City of Bryan, Texas

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management’s discussion and analysis, Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in
Fund Balance — Budget and Actual, Schedule of Required Contributions — Texas Municipal
Retirement System, and Schedule of Changes in the City’s Net Pension Liability and Related
Ratios — Texas Municipal Retirement System be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management'’s
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining
and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, and statistical section are presented for
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are the responsibility of
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the
basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America by us and the other
auditors. In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund statements are fairly
stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and, accordingly, we do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on them.



To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of City Council
City of Bryan, Texas

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
March 14, 2016 on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant
agreements, and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing,
and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering City’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Cosanon and) Dideuotl LLE.

WEAVER AND TIDWELL, L.L.P.

Houston, TX
March 14, 2016
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As management of the City of Bryan, Texas (the “City”), we offer readers of the City’s financial
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2015. Readers are encouraged to consider the information presented here in
conjunction with additional information furnished in the letter of transmittal, which can be found on
pages viii -xii of this report.

Financial Highlights

Government-wide financial statements
e assets exceed liabilities by $504,316,454 (net position)
e unrestricted net position was $92,913,733; these funds may be used to meet ongoing
obligations to citizens and creditors
e total net position increased by $28,060,209
e total debt decreased by $26,025,000 or 6.7%
= $19,480,000 in general obligation refunding bonds were issued during FY 15 in order to
reduce interest costs on current outstanding debt. These general obligation bonds along
with the offering premium refunded $12,150,000 in general obligation bonds and
$7,980,000 in Electric System revenue bonds.
= $25,375,000 in additional outstanding debt was retired. Total debt retired during FY 15,
including the refunded bonds was $45,505,000.
= $26,845,674 of outstanding debt is due within one year as of September 30, 2015.

Fund Financial Statements
e governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $68,323,317
* anincrease of $6,471,146 in fund balances is due primarily to higher tax revenues, one
time land sale revenues and sales of capital assets
= gpproximately $30,612,358 or 44.8% is available for spending at the City’s discretion
(unassigned fund balance)
e General Fund unassigned fund balance was $30,621,712 or 53.7% of total general fund
expenditures during FY 15

Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis serves as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements. The City’s
basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government-wide financial
statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also
contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements.

Government-wide Financial Statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to
provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances in a manner similar to a private-sector
business.

The Statement of Net Position presents all of the City’s assets and liabilities, with the difference
between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve,
to some extent, as an indicator of whether the City’s financial position is improving or deteriorating.
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The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during
the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event
giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and
expenses reported in this statement may be for items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal
periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation and sick leave).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that
are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-
type activities). The governmental activities describe services provided by the City and include general
government, development services, public works (streets and drainage), public safety, and cultural and
recreational (parks and recreation, library service, and other community service activities). The
business-type activities of the City include electric generation, distribution and transmission, water
supply and distribution, wastewater collection and treatment, solid waste collection, and a general
purpose airport.

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (known as the “primary
government”), but also Bryan Business Council, Inc., a legally separate economic development
corporation, for which the City is financially accountable. Financial information for this component unit
is reported separately from the financial information presented for the primary government itself.

Bryan Texas Utilities’ qualified scheduling entity (BTU QSE Services, Inc.) and Bryan Commerce and
Development, Inc. are also legally separate functions, but for all practical purposes operate as
departments of the City of Bryan, and therefore have been included as an integral part of the primary
government. For reporting purposes, BTU QSE Services, Inc. is combined with the City Electric System.
Included in Note 1 of the financial statements are separate Condensed Statements of Net Position and
Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Net Position for BTU QSE Services,
Inc.

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 24-26 of this report.

Fund Financial Statements. The financial statements are prepared on the basis of funds. A fund is a self
balancing grouping of related accounts that is used to report and maintain control over resources that
have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Bryan, like other state and local
governments, uses fund accounting to demonstrate and ensure compliance with finance-related legal
and local policy requirements. All of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories:
governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental Funds. Governmental funds are used to account for the functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-
wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and
outflows of resources, as well as on balances of resources available to meet obligations at the end of the
fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financial
requirements.
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Because the focus of governmental fund financial statements is narrower than that of the government-
wide financial statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds
with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial
statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the City’s near-term
financial activities. Both the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and the Governmental Fund Statement
of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this
comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The City currently maintains twenty-four (24) individual governmental funds. Information is presented
separately in the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and in the Governmental Fund Statement of
Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances for the General Fund and the Debt Service Fund,
both of which are considered to be major funds (2). Data from eleven (11) special revenue funds, two
(2), capital project funds, and nine (9) permanent funds have been combined into one single, aggregated
presentation. Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the
form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.

The City of Bryan adopts an annual appropriation budget for its General Fund, Debt Service Fund and
special revenue funds. Individual fund budgetary comparison schedules are provided in the Required
Supplementary and the Supplementary sections of this report (starting on page 97).

The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 28-31 of this report.

Proprietary Funds. The City maintains two different types of proprietary funds, enterprise funds and
internal service funds, and adopts an annual appropriation budget for each. The City’s ten (10)
proprietary funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the
government-wide financial statements. The City uses seven (7) enterprise funds to account for its city
electric, rural electric, water, wastewater, solid waste, economic development corporation and airport.
Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among
the City’s various functions. The City uses three (3) internal service funds to account for its warehouse
operations, self-insurance operations and employee benefits trust fund.

Proprietary funds provide the same types of information as the government-wide financial statements.
The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information in the Proprietary Fund
Statement of Net Position, the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position, and
the Statement of Cash Flows for the city electric, rural electric, water and wastewater systems, all of
which are considered major funds of the City. Data from three (3) non-major enterprise funds have
been combined into one single, aggregated presentation in the proprietary fund financial statements.
All internal service funds are also combined into a single aggregated presentation in the proprietary
fund financial statements. Individual fund data for the aggregated proprietary funds and the internal
service funds is provided in the form of combining statements in the Supplementary section of this
report (starting on page 103).

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 32-37 of this report.
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Fiduciary Funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside
the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statement because
the resources of those funds are not available to support the City’s own programs. The accounting used
for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. The basic fiduciary fund financial
statement can be found on page 38 of this report.

Notes to the Financial Statements. The notes provide additional information essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes
to the financial statements can be found on pages 39-96 of this report.

Other Information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report
also presents certain required supplementary information concerning the City’s progress in funding its
obligation to provide pension benefits to its employees and a budgetary comparison schedule for the
General Fund to demonstrate compliance with the budget. Required supplementary information can be
found on pages 97-101 of this report.

The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with non-major governmental funds, non-
major enterprise funds, and internal service funds are presented following the required supplementary
information. Combining and individual statements and schedules can be found on pages 106-138 of this
report.

Government-wide Financial Analysis

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial
position. In the case of the City of Bryan, assets exceed liabilities by $504,316,454 as of September 30,
2015.

The adoption of GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, amends the
requirements of GASB Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental
Employers, as well as the requirements of GASB Statement No. 50, Pension Disclosures, as they relate to
governmental employers that account for pensions that are provided through trusts, or equivalent
arrangements. Employers are required to report the difference between the actuarial total pension
liability and the pension plan’s fiduciary net position as the net pension liability on the statement of net
position. Previously, a liability was recognized only to the extent that contributions made to the plan
were exceeded by the actuarially calculated contributions.

Also adopted for FY 15, GASB Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent
to the Measurement Date an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68 addresses an issue regarding
application of the transition provisions of GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Pensions. The issue relates to amounts associated with contributions, if any, made by a state or local
government employer or nonemployer contributing entity to a defined benefit pension plan after the
measurement date of the government’s beginning net pension liability. This statement, in conjunction
with GASB Statement No. 68 requires restatement of net position as of October 1, 2014 as follows:
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Governmental Activities Business Type Activities
Net Position, beginning of period - as previously reported S 117,589,868 S 385,528,131
Net pension liability (21,484,900) (11,948,356)
Reverse net pension obligation as reported 9/30/14 4,417,571 2,453,427
Reverse pension accrual in Construction-in-Progress* - (299,496)
Net Position, beginning of period - as restated S 100,522,539 S 375,733,706

For more information on this restatement, please see Note 1.

The largest portion of the City’s net position $349,009,941, or 69.2%, reflects its investment in capital
assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery and equipment, infrastructure, and improvements), less any
outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to
citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City’s
investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources
needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources. An additional portion of the City’s net
position $62,392,780, or 12.4%, represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on their
usage. The remaining balance of unrestricted net position, $92,913,733 or 18.4%, may be used to meet
the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. At the end of FY 15, the City of Bryan
was able to report positive balances in all three categories of net position, for the government as a
whole, as well as for its separate governmental and business-type activities.

City of Bryan's Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Current and other assets S 81,901,112 $ 73,523,290 $ 191,857,934 $213,941,920 S 273,759,046 $287,465,210
Capital assets 151,505,157 157,659,865 533,751,076 517,413,723 685,256,233 675,073,588
Total assets 233,406,269 231,183,155 725,609,010 731,355,643 959,015,279 962,538,798
Deferred outflows 6,612,784 1,850,603 21,157,300 17,191,503 27,770,084 19,042,106
Non-current liabilities 110,209,138 96,893,545 295,087,340 302,355,778 405,296,478 399,249,323
Other liabilities 18,954,449 18,550,345 49,629,357 55,206,857 68,583,805 73,757,202
Total liabilities 129,163,587 115,443,890 344,716,697 357,562,635 473,880,283 473,006,525
Deferred inflows 881,500 - 7,707,125 5,456,380 8,588,625 5,456,380
Net position:
Net investment in
capital assets 68,002,663 67,019,218 281,007,278 269,168,669 349,009,941 336,187,887
Restricted 22,972,793 23,068,934 39,419,987 34,139,444 62,392,780 57,208,378
Unrestricted 18,998,510 27,501,716 73,915,223 82,220,018 92,913,733 109,721,734
Total net position* $109,973,966 $117,589,868 S 394,342,488 $ 385,528,131 $ 504,316,454 $503,117,999
Restated amounts - (17,067,329) - (9,794,425) - (26,861,754)

Total net position as restated* $ 109,973,966 $100,522,539 $ 394,342,488 $ 375,733,706 $ 504,316,454 $ 476,256,245

*Note: Restatement of FY14 Net Position, reference Note 1.

The $28,060,209 increase to $504,316,454 in total net position is due to increases in business-type
activities as well as governmental activities. The net position of business type activities increased
$18,608,782 due primarily to the excess of operating revenues over expenses in the Electric, Rural
Electric, Water, Wastewater and land sales in the Bryan Commerce and Development fund. The net
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$18,608,782 due primarily to the excess of operating revenues over expenses in the Electric, Rural
Electric, Water, Wastewater and land sales in the Bryan Commerce and Development fund. The net
position of the Governmental Activities increased by $9,451,427 primarily as a result of program and
general revenues plus transfers in exceeding expenses. The net effect of the restatement amounts is
reflected in the changes to net position and are outlined in the above table and discussed in Note 1 of
the financial statements.

A decrease of $16,808,001 to $92,913,733 in the City’s total unrestricted net position is due to an
increase in investments in capital assets as well as the restatement due to GASB Statements No. 68 and
No. 71. The unrestricted net position of the Business-Type Activities decreased by $8,304,795 to
$73,915,223. The unrestricted net position of the Governmental Activities decreased by $8,503,206 to
$18,998,510. As previously stated, the net effect of the restated amounts from FY 14 are outlined in the

above table.
City of Bryan's Changes in Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges forservices S 6,926,299 $ 6,828,230 $261,421,051 $252,053,246 $268,347,350 $258,881,476
Operating grants and contributions 2,769,647 2,490,517 - - 2,769,647 2,490,517
Capital grants and contributions 2,049,078 1,661,849 2,755,942 1,784,937 4,805,020 3,446,786
General revenues:
Property taxes 28,039,989 25,765,716 - - 28,039,989 25,765,716
Other taxes 21,683,058 21,834,534 - - 21,683,058 21,834,534
Other 10,589,029 10,230,726 4,273,025 3,096,044 14,862,054 13,326,770
Total revenues 72,057,100 68,811,572 268,450,018 256,934,227 340,507,117 325,745,799
Expenses:
General Government 9,775,235 11,862,123 - - 9,775,235 11,862,123
Development Services 5,403,697 5,265,275 - - 5,403,697 5,265,275
Public Works Services 16,894,814 14,180,817 - - 16,894,814 14,180,817
Public Safety 33,648,379 33,069,954 - - 33,648,379 33,069,954
Cultural and Recreational 8,374,038 8,332,012 - - 8,374,038 8,332,012
Interest on long-term debt 3,299,163 3,548,311 - - 3,299,163 3,548,311
Electric - - 171,705,349 170,664,644 171,705,349 170,664,644
Rural electric - - 36,214,517 33,312,663 36,214,517 33,312,663
Water - - 9,841,218 9,761,250 9,841,218 9,761,250
Wastewater - - 9,935,489 10,272,703 9,935,489 10,272,703
Other - - 7,860,010 7,851,301 7,860,010 7,851,301
Total expenses 77,395,326 76,258,492 235,556,583 231,862,561 312,951,909 308,121,053
Increase (decrease)in net position
before transfers and special items (5,338,226) (7,446,920) 32,893,435 25,071,666 27,555,208 17,624,746
Special items - sale of plantequipment - - 505,000 2,493,174 505,000 2,493,174
Net Transfers 14,789,653 12,138,907 (14,789,653)  (12,138,907) - -
Increase (decrease)in net position 9,451,427 4,691,986 18,608,782 15,425,933 28,060,208 20,117,920
Net position - October 1* 100,522,539 112,897,882 375,733,706 370,102,198 476,256,245 483,000,080
Net position - September 30 $109,973,966 $117,589,868 $394,342,488 $385,528,131 $504,316,453  $503,118,000
Restated amounts - (17,067,329) - (9,794,425) - (26,861,754)
Total net position as restated* $109,973,966  $100,522,539 $394,342,488 $375,733,706 $504,316,454 $476,256,245

*Note: Restatement of FY14 Net Position, reference Note 1.
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Governmental Activities. Total governmental activity revenues increased in FY15 from FY14 by
$3,245,528 or 4.7% to $72,057,100. Several factors contributed to this increase in FY15. Property tax
revenues increased by $2,274,273, or 8.8%. Capital grants and contributions increased by $387,229, or
23.3% in FY15 over FY14 revenues. During FY15, other revenues (including transportation and drainage
assessments, investment earnings, and miscellaneous items) increased in total by $358,303 or 3.5%.

The Government Wide presentation of expenses attempts to consolidate all revenues and expenses on a
basis similar to a private business. This presentation removes capital spending and principal payments
(see note 4 for capital assets of the governmental activities) and allocates expenses of internal service
activities to all related parties. Governmental activities expenses increased in FY15 as compared to
FY14 by $1,136,834 to $77,395,326. The major changes in this category were:

e Public safety expenses increased $578,425 in FY15 when compared to FY14. This increase is
primarily due to added firefighter positions and training costs.

e Public Works expenses increased by $2,713,997 or 19.1%. This increase is attributable to
increased street maintenance FY15.  Street maintenance expenditures in the Street
Improvement fund increased $2,608,520 from FY14 to FY15.

e These increases are partially offset by savings in other categories.

Expenses and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities
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Revenues by Source - Governmental Activities
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Business-type Activities. Business-type activities net position increased by $18,608,782, or 5.0%, to
$394,342,488 in FY15. Charges for services for business-type activities increased $9,367,805, or 3.7%, to
$261,421,051, while expenses increased $3,694,022, or 1.6%, to $235,556,583. Key elements of the
variances are as follows:

For the City and Rural Electric Systems, combined charges for services for FY15 and FY14 were
$223,539,164 and $219,651,541 respectively, an increase of 1.8%. The slight increase in
revenues for City and Rural Electric are primarily due to higher base rates, customer growth,
higher usage due to weather, and larger transmission cost of service revenue during the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2015. These higher revenues were offset by lower fuel revenues on
both the wholesale and retail markets. Combined City and Rural Electric expenses for FY15 and
FY14 were $207,919,866 and $203,977,307 respectively, an increase of 1.9%. Combined net
position for the electric systems for the year ended September 30, 2015 was $232,969,665 of
which $51,995,185 is available to meet ongoing obligations.

Water system charges for services showed an increase in FY15 of $711,327, or 6.1%, to
$12,390,019 due to lower summer rainfall in FY15 as well as increased wholesale water sales.
Water system expenditures increased slightly by $79,968, or 0.1% in FY15. FY15 ending net
position for the Water system was $62,831,047 of which $7,812,750 is available to meet
ongoing obligations.

Net position of the Wastewater system at FY15 year end was $66,927,750, of which $10,532,496
was available to meet ongoing obligations. Wastewater system charges for services increased
by $386,450 or 3.1%. Expenses for FY15 were $9,935,489, a decrease from FY14 of $337,214 or
3.3%.
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Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds

As noted earlier, the City of Bryan uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with
finance-related legal requirements. Fund financial statements can be found starting on page 106 of this
report.

Governmental Funds. The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-
term inflows, outflows, and the balance of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing
the City’s financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure
of a government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

General Fund. The General Fund is the primary governmental fund of the City of Bryan. The fund
balance of the General Fund increased by $7,189,233, during FY15 compared to an increase of
$5,718,276 in FY14. Revenues of the fund increased $257,609 and expenditures increased by
$2,905,932. Expenditures were in excess of revenues by $8,891,412. Transfers in increased by
$2,915,306 and transfers out increased by $375,502. FY15 transfers in and out of the fund netted
$14,488,911. Sales of capital assets increased in FY15 over FY14 by $1,579,476. Net transfers and sale
of capital assets both helped offset the excess of expenditures over revenues. Some items to note in the
General Fund are:

e Property tax revenues to the General Fund increased by $1,225,978 or 7.3% to $18,090,087 due
to increased property values.

e Other revenues for the year, which includes oil and gas leases and royalties, decreased in FY15
over FY14 by $927,756 or 43.5%.

e Investment earnings in FY15 increased by $123,363 or 99.0% due to slightly increased
investment rates.

e Capital outlay increased in FY15 by $1,640,775 or 128.4% due to public safety vehicle purchases
including ambulance purchases and new police and municipal court vehicles.

e Public safety non capital expenditures increased in FY15 by $804,500, or 2.7%. This was mainly
due to salaries and benefits increasing by $963,620 or 3.6%. Savings in other public safety
expenditures partially offset this increase in payroll expenses.

e Cultural and recreational expenditures increased by $195,053 or 3.1%. Increases in payroll and
parks maintenance contributed to this year over year increase.

Debt Service Fund. The Debt Service Fund ended the fiscal year with a total fund balance of $6,080,301,
compared to $6,128,399 at the end of FY14. All of the fund balance is restricted for the payment of
debt. Tax revenues in the Debt Service Fund increased by $102,417 or 1.4% to $7,574,218. Debt service
payments from the fund totaled $10,512,311 with debt issuance costs totaling $67,859. The additional
debt service is supported by transfers from TIRZ 10, TIRZ 19, TIRZ 22 and the General Fund in the
amount of $2,418,836.

Other Governmental Funds. The Other Governmental Funds include the Special Revenue Funds, Capital

Project Funds, and Permanent Funds. The total fund balance in Other Governmental Funds decreased in
FY15 over FY14 by $669,989, or 2.4% to $26,874,611.
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Special Revenue Funds. The City’s special revenue funds include the Grant Fund, Community
Development fund, Hotel Tax fund, Tax Increment Reinvestment Zones (TIRZ), and some special
assessment funds. The fund balances in the special revenue funds increased by $133,026, or 0.1%, in
FY15.

e The Community Development Fund provides programs and services to low and moderate
income persons. The most significant expense is $1,427,193 spent on the various programs
funded by state, local, and federal grants.

e Hotel Tax Revenues for FY15 were $1,286,072. Expenditures total $635,760. These funds
primarily go to fund outside agencies who promote the hotel and tourism industries in Bryan,
TX.

e The Street Improvement Fund expenditures total $6,770,143 on street maintenance projects.
The fund balance was $12,387,623, which is committed or encumbered for street improvement
projects at the end of FY15.

e The Drainage Improvement Fund expended $481,805 in FY15 on drainage projects throughout
the City. Ending fund balance was $2,364,950, which is committed or encumbered for drainage
projects at the end of FY15.

Capital Projects Funds. The total expenditures from Capital Projects Funds were $1,225,200. The net
fund balance in the Capital Project Funds decreased by $820,428 to $7,465,788. This decrease in fund
balance is due to activities and expenditures relating to the construction of capital infrastructure. All of
the fund balance is either available for capital projects or encumbered for capital projects.

Permanent Funds. Expenditures from the permanent funds come from spendable revenue generated
by non-spendable donations in the form of interest earning. In FY15 $39,575 in spendable funds was
used for expansion and upkeep of the City of Bryan Cemetery. The fund balance increased by $17,413
to $1,917,624 due to contributions of $43,350. Investment earnings of $13,638 helped offset the
expenditures.

Proprietary Funds. The City of Bryan’s Proprietary Funds are used to track the enterprise and internal
service activities of the City. Detailed information regarding this fund’s activities is captured in the
Business-Type activities in the Government Wide financial statements and is discussed above.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

General Fund revenues are mainly derived from taxes, charges for services, fines, and grants. Other
miscellaneous, non-operating revenues are derived from items such as one time sales of capital assets,
sales of land, and oil and gas royalties and lease payments. Property taxes in the General Fund are
derived from the maintenance and operations portion of the tax rate (M&O rate). The M&O rate in
effect during FY15 was $0.442658 per $100 of valuation. The adopted tax rate for FY15 was $0.629990
per $100 of valuation. The remainder of the tax rate is used to fund the City’s debt service and is called
the interest and sinking fund rate (1&S rate). The I&S rate for FY15 was $0.187332 per $100 of valuation.
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City of Bryan, Texas

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015
(Unaudited)

Total General Fund revenues for FY15 were $48,109,990 and were $2,553,271 or 5.6% ahead of budget
and $257,609 or 0.5% more than revenues in FY14. Tax revenues for the General Fund include property
tax, sales tax, franchise tax, bingo tax, and alcoholic beverage tax. General Fund tax revenues were
80.0% of total General Fund revenues in FY15. Notable variances in General Fund tax revenues for FY15
are:

e FY15 General Fund property tax revenues were $18,090,087 and $39,744 or 0.2% below budget.
As noted above, property taxes in FY15 were $1,225,978 or 7.3% higher than FY14 property tax
revenues.

e Sales taxes were $1,055,930 or 6.3% above budget in FY15. Compared to FY14 revenues, FY15
sales taxes were down slightly by $94,019, or 0.5%. February 2015 sales tax included a refund in
the amount of $615,196 related to collections during 2007-2011. The State Comptroller notified
the City that a taxpayer incorrectly paid sales tax during that time. Excluding this refund, FY15
sales tax revenues were $521,177 or 2.9% higher than FY14.

e Franchise tax revenue for FY15 was $2,191,346 and $74,364, or 3.5% above budget for FY15.
Franchise tax revenues were $189,441, or 8.0% below FY14 revenues.

e Alcoholic beverage taxes were $37,776, or 33.7%, above budget for FY15 and $18,985, or 14.5%,
ahead of FY14 revenues.

Charges for services in the General Fund include ambulance charges, recreational charges, health and
public safety fees, and other miscellaneous charges. Charges for services make up 9.4% of General Fund
total revenues in FY15. Some notable items in this category are:

e Ambulance charges in FY15 were $235,132, or 13.8% above budget. FY15 saw an increase of
$48,914, or 2.6% over FY14 revenues in this category.

e Revenues for recreational activities were $51,275 or 3.9% below budget in FY15. Compared to
FY14 revenues, FY15 saw a decline of $24,932 or 1.9%.

e Miscellaneous charges for services was $192,974 or 133.8% ahead of budget and was $50,306 or
17.5% above FY14 revenues.

Other categories of note for General Fund revenues include fines and court charges, licenses and
permits, grants, investment earnings, and other revenues. Items to note in these categories are as
follows:

e Fines and court charges were $158,933 or 8.4% below budget for the year in FY15. This
category has remained steady in FY15 as compared to FY14 with only a 0.1% decrease year over
year.

e Federal, state, and local grants make up 2.7% of General Fund revenues and were $216,814 or
20.3% above budget for FY15. Grant revenues decreased slightly by $5,535, or 0.4% in FY15 as
compared to FY14.

e Other revenues were $835,574 or 226.8% above budget in FY15 due to the sale of the Municipal
Office Building Annex (former City of Bryan Police Station). Compared to FY14, other revenues
saw a decrease of $927,756 or 43.5% due to a decrease in oil and gas activity and a decrease in
land sales in FY15.
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City of Bryan, Texas

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015
(Unaudited)

Total General Fund operating expenditures are broken down into major categories in the accompanying
required supplementary section of the report beginning on page 100. General fund activities are broken
down into the following main categories:

e General Government and Administrative — This category includes Executive, City Secretary, Legal
Services, Fiscal Services, Information Technology, Human Resources, and other administrative
departments that serve the City.

e Development Services — This category includes Planning, Engineering, Building, and Special
Projects.

e  Public Works Services — Includes Drainage and Streets and Traffic Operations.

e Public Safety — Police, Fire and Ems, the Municipal Court, and the City of Bryan Animal Center
are included in this category.

e Cultural and Recreations — Includes the golf course, parks and recreation services, and the
libraries.

e Other General Fund activities include capital expenditures, administrative reimbursements, and
transfers in and out.

General Fund expenditures for the year totaled $57,001,402 and were $4,243,221 or 6.9% less than
budget. All departments were encouraged to manage spending and conserve money wherever possible.
Additionally, some projects in parks and recreation, such as the Sadie Thomas Pool and the Williamson
Skate Park, were delayed and will be completed in FY16. As a result, many of the General Fund
departments ended the year below their final appropriation amount.

Total general government and administrative expenditures were $13,667,518 or 10.6% under budget for
FY15. This makes up 24.0% of total FY15 General Fund expenditures. Some notable budget variances in
this category are as follows:

e The Executive department was below budget by $250,107 or 10.5% due to unfilled positions,
savings in utility costs, consultants, office equipment rental, and festivals and events.

e The City Secretary department was below budget by $189,292 or 19.2% due to unfilled positions
and contractual service costs.

e Payments to other agencies were below budget by $272,248 or 8.1% due primarily to incentives
not earned by economic development partners of the City.

e The Fiscal Services department was below budget by $193,636 or 12.9% due primarily to savings
in personnel costs, vacant positions, and contractual services.

e Information Technology was below budget by $210,185, or 6.8% due to certain projects that
have been postponed indefinitely.

e Fleet services was below budget in FY15 by $252,512 or 33.5% due to staff vacancies and
supplies cost.

Development services finished FY15 below budget by $378,146 or 11.0%. Expenditure totals in this
category were $3,058,936 and made up 5.4% of total General Fund expenditures for FY15. Notable
budget variances in this category include engineering which was $249,199, or 17.9% under budget for
FY15 due to staff vacancies.
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City of Bryan, Texas

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015
(Unaudited)

Public Works services total expenditures for FY15 were $3,422,137 and makes up 6.0% of total General
Fund expenditures for the year. Overall Public Works was $149,345 or 4.2% under budget due primarily
to staff vacancies and capital projects that will be completed in FY16.

Public Safety expenditures for FY15 are $30,850,086 and $855,855 or 2.7% under budget. Public safety
accounts for 54.1% of all General Fund expenditures in FY15. Some notable variances include:

e Police services are $291,618, or 1.8% below budget due to staff vacancies and other non-capital
expenditure categories.

e Fire and EMS is below budget by $331,128, or 2.5%, for FY15 due to staff vacancies.

e  Municipal Court expenditures for FY15 are $150,396, or 10.5% under budget for the year due to
savings in professional services and other miscellaneous categories.

e The City of Bryan Animal Center is under budget by $82,713, or 10.4%, due to vacant positions
throughout FY15.

Cultural and recreational services expenditures for FY15 total $6,560,486 and were $39,779, or 0.6%
under budget for the year. Library, parks and recreation, and the golf course make up 11.5% of total
General Fund expenditures in FY15.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital Assets. The City of Bryan’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type
activities as of September 30, 2015 was $685,256,233 (net of accumulated depreciation), an increase of
$10,182,645 or 1.5%. This investment in capital assets includes land, park facilities, buildings and system
improvements, machinery and equipment, street and drainage systems, and construction in progress.

Capital Assets for FY15 included the following:
City of Bryan's Capital Assets*

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Land $ 11,591,736 S 11,591,736 $ 16,701,003 $ 16,701,003 S 28,292,739 S 28,292,739
Buildings 24,321,616 26,911,018 925,746 1,077,661 25,247,362 27,988,679
Equipment 7,997,064 7,944,349 3,970,340 3,767,070 11,967,404 11,711,419
Improvements 9,401,066 10,420,959 490,025,105 430,443,540 499,426,171 440,864,499
Infrastructure 94,101,920 95,543,864 - - 94,101,920 95,543,864
Construction in Progress 4,091,755 5,247,939 22,128,882 65,424,449 26,220,637 70,672,388
Total $151,505,157 $157,659,865 $533,751,076  $517,413,723 $685,256,233  $675,073,588

*Note: Net of accumulated depreciation. See Note 4.

Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found in Note 4 to the financial statements on
pages 57-58 of this report.
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City of Bryan, Texas

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015
(Unaudited)

Long-term Debt. At the end of fiscal year 2015, the City of Bryan had total debt outstanding of
$364,015,000. Of this amount, $145,530,000 (general obligation bonds and certificates of obligation)
comprises debt backed by the full faith and credit of the City. The remainder of the City’s debt is
secured by specified revenue sources (revenue bonds).

Outstanding Debt at Year End
Bonds and Notes Payable

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

General obligation bonds S 43,553,982 S 48,590,908 S 15421,019 S 8359,093 S 58975001 S 56,950,001

Revenue bonds - - 218,485,001 242,020,001 218,485,001 242,020,001
Certificates of obligation 40,780,021 43,290,021 45,775,000 47,780,000 86,555,021 91,070,021
Total S 84334003 S 91,880,929 S 279,681,020 S 298,159,094 S 364,015,023 $ 390,040,023

During FY15, the City’s total debt decreased by $26,025,000 or 6.7%. The City retired or refunded
$45,505,000 in outstanding principal. The City issued new refunding debt totaling $19,480,000.

The City’s General Obligation, Certificates of Obligation and Revenue bond ratings are listed below.

Moody's Standard

Investors Service & Poor's
General Obligation Bonds Aa2 AA
Certificates of Obligation Aa2 AA
Revenue Bonds - Waterworks and Sewer Aa2 AA-
Revenue Bonds - City Electric A2 A+
Revenue Bonds - Rural Electric A2 A+

Additional information on the City’s long-term debt can be found in Note 5 to the financial statements
on pages 59-63 of this report.

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates

Bryan continued its strong growth trajectory during FY15, realizing increases in property values and sales
tax revenues which positively impacted the City’s governmental funds. Bryan and neighboring College
Station are the economic center of the region comprised of Brazos County and the surrounding seven
counties. While not immune from factors that affect the state and national economies, the area is
somewhat insulated due to the concentration of stable or growing employment sectors: government,
higher education and health care. Five of the top ten employers in the area fall into these
classifications.
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City of Bryan, Texas

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015
(Unaudited)

During 2014, Brazos county and surrounding counties saw a significant increase in oil and gas production
activity as the result of the application of hydraulic fracturing techniques in the Eagle Ford shale
formation. The economic activity surrounding this development had a positive impact on sales tax
revenues, City lease royalties and property values. However, during 2015, this activity saw a steady
decrease. This is reflected in lower one-time revenues associated with this activity. The City is taking a
conservative approach to these revenues in the FY16 budget as well as future growth forecasts.

Continued growth in the area allowed the City to lower the property tax rate for FY14 from $0.633308
per $100 of property valuation to the effective tax rate of $0.62999. Tax rates were not changed for
FY15 or FY16. Ad valorem property taxes comprised approximately 37.6% of General Fund revenues in
FY15. FY16 budgeted General Fund property tax revenues increased 5.2% from FY15 bolstered by
continued growth in Bryan and the surrounding area. FY16 sales tax revenue is budgeted to increase by
0.2% when compared to FY15 actual sales tax revenue. This reflects the conservative approach the City
has taken over the last budget cycle assuming a decline in the impact of oil and gas activities in FY15 and
FY16. Thus far in FY16, actual tax receipts are higher than budget. Actual sales tax receipts for the first
three (3) months of FY16 are $407,000 or 10.4% above budget. While the City still expects some
moderation in retail activities, any slowdown should be cushioned by the areas economic base
previously described. As always, staff continues its efforts to hold the line on operating costs.

Revenues for the entire electric system for FY16 are projected to be $241,078,571, which is an increase
of $4,609,881 or 1.9% in FY16 versus FY15 budget. This projected increase is due primarily to rural base
revenues associated with phased in rates and to higher transmission revenues. FY16 budgeted electric
expenditures are projected to be $240,427,478, which is an increase of $5,934,178 or 2.5% from the
FY15 budget. This rise is driven by higher departmental costs and increased TMPA capacity costs.

The Water Fund has budgeted a decrease in operating expenditures for FY16 compared to the FY15
budget of $101,686 or 1.5% to $6,796,353. Total expenditures for the Water Fund, including debt
service and capital expenditures is budgeted to decrease by $3,447,300, or 21.4% due to completion of
capital projects and debt service costs savings as a result of refunded debt during FY15.

The Wastewater Fund budget for FY16 shows operating revenues of $12,701,323, which is $377,223 or
3.1% higher than the FY15 budget. Budgeted operating expenditures for FY16 are $6,790,911 which is
$268,468 or 3.8% less than the FY15 budget. Total expenditures including capital projects and debt
service are projected to decrease during FY16 by $3,085,259, or 15.4% due to completed capital projects
and debt service cost decreases.

The Solid Waste Fund budget for FY15 shows total revenues of $7,913,293. This is $156,129 or 2.0%
more than the FY15 budget. The FY16 budgeted operating expenditures are projected to be $5,438,593,
which is an increase of $7,624 or 0.1% from the FY15 budget. Total expenditures are budgeted for
$8,066,646 in FY16 which is a $589,299 decrease fromFY15. This is primarily due to capital expenditure
decreases resulting from the purchase of new Solid Waste trucks FY15.

21



City of Bryan, Texas

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015
(Unaudited)

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Bryan’s finances for all of
those with an interest in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information
provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the City of
Bryan, Fiscal Services Department, Attention: Chief Financial Officer, P.O. Box 1000, Bryan, Texas 77805-
1000 or visit our website at http://www.bryantx.gov.
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CITY OF BRYAN, TEXAS
Statement of Net Position
As of September 30, 2015

Current assets:

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments
Receivables:
Accounts

Less allowance for uncollectible

Property taxes

Less allowance for uncollectible

Sales taxes
Grants
Interest
Notes
Internal balances
Inventories

Under-recovered fuel cost
Under-recovered regulatory fee

Prepaid energy costs

Prepaid and other assets

Restricted assets:

Permanently restricted:

Investments

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Receivables:
Assessments
Notes

Prepaid energy costs

Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments

Investment in BVSWMA

Investment in Economic Development Foundation

Capital assets:
Land

Buildings

Improvements other than buildings
Machinery and equipment

Infrastructure

Construction in progress
Less accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets
Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

Accumulated decrease in fair value of of hedging derivatives

Pensions

Deferred outflows

Unamortized loss on refunded debt

Total deferred outflows

Primary Government

Component Unit

Governmental Business-type Bryan Business
Activities Activities Total Council, Inc.

52,416,619 S 70,024,971 S 122,441,590 S 1,417,098

16,225,385 5,567,558 21,792,943 -
5,659,943 24,965,921 30,625,864 35,511

(3,258,890) (1,113,943) (4,372,833) -

1,184,655 - 1,184,655 -

(1,012,704) - (1,012,704) -

3,054,823 - 3,054,823 -

233,248 75,001 308,249 -

34,447 95,907 130,354 -
450,000 - 450,000 156,549

1,291,821 (1,291,821) - -

206,131 4,295,203 4,501,334 -

- 1,030,124 1,030,124 -

- 1,339,933 1,339,933 -

- 8,300,717 8,300,717 -
9,672 1,007,321 1,016,993 20,000

895,724 - 895,724 -
77,390,874 114,296,892 191,687,766 1,629,158

115,056 - 115,056 -
4,166,519 20,631 4,187,150 180,703

- 20,726,973 20,726,973 -

- 5,679,135 5,679,135 -

- 37,545,495 37,545,495 -

- 13,588,808 13,588,808 -

228,663 - 228,663 -
11,591,736 16,701,003 28,292,739 1,474,150

38,783,545 1,920,180 40,703,725 -
32,198,451 738,269,339 770,467,790 207,477

31,914,180 13,813,251 45,727,431 -

186,160,966 - 186,160,966 -
4,091,755 22,128,882 26,220,637 46,027
(153,235,476) (259,081,579) (412,317,055) (100,839)
151,505,157 533,751,076 685,256,233 1,626,815
156,015,395 611,312,118 767,327,513 1,807,518
233,406,269 S 725,609,010 S 959,015,279 S 3,436,676
- S 17,801,026 S 17,801,026 S -
4,975,222 2,850,801 7,826,023 -
1,637,562 505,473 2,143,035 -
6,612,784 S 21,157,300 S 27,770,084 S -
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Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities and retainage
Claims
Accrued vacation and sick pay
Unearned revenue
Derivative financial instruments
Deferred credits
Accrued interest
General obligation bonds
Certificates of obligation
Notes
Payable from restricted assets:
Accounts payable
Derivative financial instruments
Accrued liabilities
Accrued interest
Over recovered fuel
Revenue bonds
General obligation bonds
Certificates of obligation
Customer deposits
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:
General obligation bonds
Certificates of obligation
Revenue bonds
Unamortized bond premiums (discounts)
Unamortized gain on refunded debt
Notes
Claims
Derivative financial instruments
Net pension liability (NPL)
Other post employment benefits (OPEB)
Accrued vacation and sick pay
Other noncurrent liabilities
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows

Pensions
Deferred regulatory liability
Total deferred inflows

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:

BVSWMA, Inc.

Economic Development Foundation

Debt retirement

Debt service

Perpetual care:

Expendable
Nonexpendable

Rate stabilization

Collateral deposits

Noncurrent notes receivable

Police activities

Court activities

Record preservation

Capital improvements

TIRZ Development

Other purposes
Unrestricted

Total net position

Primary Government

Component Unit

Governmental Business-type Bryan Business
Activities Activities Total Council, Inc.
3,116,922 S 11,660,455 S 14,777,377 S 26,266
3,067,994 1,652,630 4,720,624 -
1,658,311 - 1,658,311 -
2,232,701 406,982 2,639,683 -
414,122 82,466 496,588 -
- 6,009,018 6,009,018 -
117,682 - 117,682 -
352,857 83 352,940 -
- - - 50,643
- 774,191 774,191 -
- 2,739,941 2,739,941 -
- 2,173,575 2,173,575 -
- 15,375,001 15,375,001 -
4,926,492 1,414,181 6,340,673
2,915,000 2,215,000 5,130,000
152,368 5,125,834 5,278,202 -
18,954,449 49,629,357 68,583,806 76,909
38,627,490 14,006,838 52,634,328 -
37,865,021 43,560,000 81,425,021 -
- 203,110,000 203,110,000 -
806,053 6,618,518 7,424,571 -
- - - 88,598
1,092,875 - 1,092,875 -
- 11,792,008 11,792,008 -
24,990,390 13,897,248 38,887,638 -
2,082,820 931,544 3,014,364 -
4,744,489 864,833 5,609,322 -
- 306,351 306,351 -
110,209,138 295,087,340 405,296,478 88,598
129,163,587 344,716,697 473,880,284 165,507
881,500 505,099 1,386,599 -

- 7,202,026 7,202,026 -
881,500 7,707,125 8,588,625 -
68,002,663 281,007,278 349,009,941 1,487,574

- 13,588,808 13,588,808 -

228,663 - 228,663 -

- 10,552,883 10,552,883 -

5,727,444 6,911,885 12,639,329 -

1,021,900 - 1,021,900 -

895,724 - 895,724 -

- 1,687,392 1,687,392 -

- 6,679,019 6,679,019 -

4,166,519 - 4,166,519 -

78,500 - 78,500 -

468,114 - 468,114 -

80,057 - 80,057 -

7,465,788 - 7,465,788 -

706,544 - 706,544 -

2,133,540 - 2,133,540 -
18,998,510 73,915,223 92,913,733 1,783,595
109,973,966 S 394,342,488 S 504,316,454 S 3,271,169

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BRYAN, TEXAS
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds

As of September 30, 2015

Debt Other Total
General Service Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Funds Funds
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents S 25,677,449 S 1,441,187 $ 21,379,381 S 48,498,017
Investments 8,395,413 471,620 6,996,280 15,863,313
Receivables:
Accounts 4,872,397 - 725,706 5,598,103
Less allowance for uncollectible (3,165,526) - (93,364) (3,258,890)
Property taxes 832,210 352,445 - 1,184,655
Less allowance for uncollectible (711,744) (300,960) - (1,012,704)
Sales taxes 3,054,823 - - 3,054,823
Assessments 115,056 - - 115,056
Grants 365 - 232,883 233,248
Interest 16,921 948 14,049 31,918
Notes 16,519 4,600,000 - 4,616,519
Due from other funds 271,826 - 261,717 533,543
Prepaid and other assets 9,307 - 365 9,672
Total assets S 39,385,016 S 6,565,240 S 29,517,017 S 75,467,273
Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
Accounts payable S 876,741 S - S 1,962,329 S 2,839,070
Accrued liabilities 2,643,072 - 23,348 2,666,420
Retainage payable - - 365,189 365,189
Due to other funds 146,631 - 209,736 356,367
Customer deposits 152,368 - - 152,368
Unearned revenue - 450,000 - 450,000
Total liabilities 3,818,812 450,000 2,560,602 6,829,414
Deferred inflows:
Deferred property taxes 82,743 34,939 - 117,682
Other deferred revenue 115,056 - 81,804 196,860
Total deferred inflows 197,799 34,939 81,804 314,542
Fund balances:
Nonspendable 109,393 - 895,724 1,005,117
Restricted 720,583 6,080,301 11,235,668 18,036,552
Committed 2,384,963 - 14,752,573 17,137,536
Assigned 1,531,754 - - 1,531,754
Unassigned 30,621,712 - (9,354) 30,612,358
Total fund balances 35,368,405 6,080,301 26,874,611 68,323,317
Total liabilities, deferred inflows and fund balances S 39,385,016 S 6,565,240 S 29,517,017 S 75,467,273

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

28



CITY OF BRYAN, TEXAS
Reconciliation of Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position
As of September 30, 2015

Total fund balances - governmental funds S 68,323,317

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of
net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and
therefore, are not reported in the funds. (Includes net capital assets of the
Internal service funds in the amount of $127,543). 151,505,157

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period
expenditures and, therefore, are recorded as unearned in the funds. 232,740

The City's equity in the Economic Development Foundation is included
in the Statement of Net Position but is not included at the fund level. 228,663

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of risk
management, employee health insurance benefits and central warehousing
to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds
related to governmental activities are included in the governmental activities
in the statement of net position. (Net of amount allocated to business-type
activities of $(1,056,061) and net capital assets in the amount of $127,543). 1,348,836

Interest payable on long-term debt does not require current financial resources,
and therefore, is not reported as a liability in the governmental funds balance sheet. (352,857)

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable and compensated absences, are not
due and payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds.
These items are detailed below:

General obligation bonds payable $ 43,553,982
Certificates of obligation payable 40,780,021
Deferred amount on refunding and premium charges on debt (831,509)
Net Pension Liability 24,990,390
Deferred amounts on pensions (net) (4,093,722)
Accrued vacation and sick leave (Net of internal
service fund liability in the amount of $64,463) 6,912,728 (111,311,890)
Net position of governmental activities S 109,973,966

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF BRYAN, TEXAS

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015

Debt Other Total
General Service Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Funds Funds
Revenues:
Property taxes S 18,090,087 S 7,574,218 S 2,610,275 S 28,274,580
Sales taxes 17,788,430 - - 17,788,430
Franchise taxes 2,191,346 - - 2,191,346
Alcoholic beverage taxes 149,776 - - 149,776
Bingo taxes 267,434 - - 267,434
Hotel occupancy taxes - - 1,286,072 1,286,072
Transportation and drainage assessments - - 6,553,176 6,553,176
Charges for services 4,538,814 - - 4,538,814
Fines and court charges 1,723,017 - 39,362 1,762,379
Licenses and permits 625,106 - - 625,106
Grants 1,284,034 - 1,485,613 2,769,647
Investment earnings 247,920 32,728 205,894 486,542
Other 1,204,026 435,417 477,821 2,117,264
Total revenues 48,109,990 8,042,363 12,658,213 68,810,566
Expenditures:
Current:
General government and administration 13,667,518 - - 13,667,518
Development services 3,058,936 - 1,565,643 4,624,579
Public works services 3,422,137 - 7,046,090 10,468,227
Public safety 30,850,086 - 103,942 30,954,028
Cultural and recreational 6,560,486 - 644,876 7,205,362
Administrative reimbursement (3,476,440) - - (3,476,440)
Capital outlay 2,918,679 - 1,849,557 4,768,236
Debt service:
Bond and principal retirement - 7,141,927 - 7,141,927
Interest and fiscal charges - 3,370,384 - 3,370,384
Debt issuance costs - 67,859 - 67,859
Total expenditures 57,001,402 10,580,170 11,210,108 78,791,680
Excess (deficiencies) of revenues over (under) expenditures (8,891,412) (2,537,807) 1,448,105 (9,981,114)
Other financing sources (uses):
Sales of capital assets 1,591,734 - - 1,591,734
Transfers in 15,303,568 2,418,836 405,000 18,127,404
Transfers out (814,657) - (2,523,094) (3,337,751)
Long-term debt issued - - - -
Refunding bonds issued - 11,745,000 - 11,745,000
Premium on refunding bonds - 557,141 - 557,141
Premium on long-term debt issued - - - -
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent - (12,231,268) - (12,231,268)
Total other financing sources (uses) 16,080,645 2,489,709 (2,118,094) 16,452,260
Net change in fund balances 7,189,233 (48,098) (669,989) 6,471,146
Fund balances, October 1, 2014 28,179,172 6,128,399 27,544,600 61,852,171
Fund balances, September 30, 2015 S 35,368,405 S 6,080,301 S 26,874,611 S 68,323,317

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

30



CITY OF BRYAN, TEXAS

Reconciliation of Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds S 6,471,146
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures. However, in the government-wide
statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful
lives as depreciation expense. This is the amount of capital assets recorded in the
current period. 4,768,236

The City's investment in the Economic Development Foundation is reported at the
government-wide level but not at the fund level. 761,895

The net effect of various transactions involving capital assets (i.e., sales and contributions)
is to increase net position. 239,366

Depreciation expense on capital assets reported in the government-wide statement of
activities does not require the use of current financial resources. Therefore, depreciation
expense is not reported as an expenditure in governmental funds. (11,211,655)

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to governmental funds,
while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial
resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction has any effect on net position.

Also, governmental funds report the effect of issuance cost, premiums, discounts, and
similar items when debt is first issued, whereas the amounts are deferred and amortized

in the statement of activities. The effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term
debt and related items is detailed below:

General obligation refunding bonds issued (11,745,000)
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent 12,231,268
Premium amount on refunding bond (557,141)
Debt principal repayments 7,141,927 7,071,054

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current
financial resources; therefore, they are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. 1,800,784

Accrued interest expense on long-term debt is reported in the government-wide statement
of activities, but does not require the use of current financial resources; therefore, accrued

interest expense is not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. 139,080

Some property taxes will not be collected for several months after the city's fiscal year end,
and are not considered "available" revenues in the governmental funds. 117,682

Some revenues reported in the governmental funds were earned in prior periods; and
therefore, are not reported in the government-wide statement of activities. (352,273)

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of risk management,
employee health insurance benefits and central warehousing to individual funds. The net
revenue of the internal service funds related to governmental activities is reported with

governmental activities (net of amount allocated to business-type activities of ($407,014). (353,888)

Change in net position of governmental activities. S 9,451,427

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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City of Bryan, Texas
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial Reporting Entity

The City of Bryan, Texas (the “City”) is a municipal corporation which operates under a Council-
Manager form of government. The accompanying financial statements present the City and its
component units, which are entities for which the City is considered to be financially accountable.
Blended component units, although legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of the City’s
operations. A discretely presented component unit is reported in a separate column in the
government-wide financial statements to emphasize that it is legally separate from the City.

Blended component units

BTU QSE Services, Inc. (“QSE”) was created as a result of deregulation of the electric market within
the state of Texas. The QSE exists to perform qualified scheduling services of electrical generation
for the City of Bryan City Electric Fund. The QSE is a separate legal entity whose primary purpose is
to provide a service to the City. The BTU Board of Directors serves as the board of the QSE. The QSE
is reported as an enterprise fund and is combined with City Electric Fund.

Bryan Commerce and Development Incorporated (“BCD”) was created to assist and act on behalf of
the City in promoting, developing, encouraging, and maintaining employment, commerce, economic
development, and public facility development in the City. The Bryan City Council serves as the Board
of Directors of BCD. Since the elected officials of the City are financially accountable for BCD and
the primary purpose of BCD is to provide a service to the City, BCD is considered a blended
component unit. BCD is not separately presented here as it is separately presented in the
supplementary section of this report. See page 128.
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City of Bryan, Texas
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015

The condensed combined statements of net position for the City Electric System and QSE as of
September 30, 2015 are as follows:

Condensed Statements of Net Position
September 30, 2015

BTU City QSE Combined
Current assets S 77,995,483 S 4,263,130 S 82,258,613
Capital assets, net 282,313,937 199,912 282,513,849
Restricted assets 36,642,710 - 36,642,710
Other 20,739,694 - 20,739,694
Total assets 417,691,824 4,463,042 422,154,866
Deferred outflows 19,834,806 - 19,834,806
Current liabilities 16,338,943 2,342,410 18,681,353
Current liabilities payable 21,606,636 i 21,606,636
from restricted assets
Noncurrent liabilities 219,823,929 - 219,823,929
Total liabilities 257,769,508 2,342,410 260,111,918
Deferred inflows 1,303,862 - 1,303,862
Net position:
Netinvestmentin capital assets 111,718,265 199,912 111,918,177
Restricted 22,172,233 - 22,172,233
Unrestricted 44,562,762 1,920,720 46,483,482
Total net position S 178,453,260 S 2,120,632 S 180,573,892
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City of Bryan, Texas
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015

The condensed combined statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position for the
City Electric System and QSE for the year ended September 30, 2015, are as follows:

Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses And Changes in Net Position

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015

BTU City QSE Combined

Operating revenues S 184,541,033 S 1,682,488 S 186,223,521
Operating expenses 161,015,859 1,682,488 162,698,348
Operating income 23,525,173 - 23,525,173
Investmentincome 770,945 - 770,945
Interest expense (8,761,732) - (8,761,732)

Income before operating transfers
o 15,534,386 - 15,534,386

& special items

Special items 505,000 - 505,000
Other non-operating, net 1,529,782 - 1,529,782
Transfers, net (11,411,380) - (11,411,380)
Changes in net position 6,157,788 - 6,157,788
Net position, beginning of period 179,430,914 2,120,632 181,551,546
Prior period adjustment (7,135,442) - (7,135,442)
Net position, beginning of period, restatec 172,295,472 2,120,632 174,416,104
Net position, end of period S 178,453,260 S 2,120,632 S 180,573,892
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City of Bryan, Texas
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015

Discretely presented component unit

The City has included the Bryan Business Council, Inc. (“BBC”) in its financial statements as a
discretely presented component unit, since the City is financially accountable for the entity. The
BBC, a non-profit corporation, was originally formed to market properties within the City owned
Bryan Industrial Park. In addition, the BBC currently serves as an economic development arm of the
City, and as such, provides a financial benefit to the City. The City provides coverage for the board of
directors under the City’s officer and employee liability plan and provides limited administrative
support to the BBC. The BBC’s board of directors is appointed by and serves at the discretion of the
Bryan City Council. The Bryan City Council also directs the work plan and objectives of the BBC.
Financial statements may be obtained by contacting:

The Bryan Business Council, Inc.
P. O. Box 1000
Bryan, Texas 77805

Cooperative Efforts

In January 2010, the City of Bryan entered into an Interlocal Cooperation Agreement with the City of
College Station to create a local government corporation under Subchapter D of Chapter 431, Texas
Transportation Code, to be known as the Brazos Valley Solid Waste Management Agency, Inc.
(“BVSWMA”). The purpose of this Corporation is to finance, construct, own, manage and operate
the existing and future municipal solid waste landfill facilities on behalf of the two cities. The City’s
one-half undivided interest in BVYSWMA is reported in the Solid Waste Fund (see Note 14).

The City’s financial statements do not include the Texas Municipal Power Agency (“TMPA”). TMPA,
a separate municipal corporation, is a joint venture entered into by the Texas cities of Bryan,
Garland, Denton and Greenville for the purpose of obtaining the economic advantages of jointly
financing, constructing and operating electric generating units and transmission grid to supply the
cities’ electric energy needs. The eight-member board of directors of TMPA includes two members
appointed by the Bryan City Council. The City has an ongoing financial interest in TMPA due to the
City’s guarantee of a portion of TMPA’s debt (see Note 13).

In 2009, the City of Bryan and Brazos County entered into an agreement to create the City of Bryan
and Brazos County Economic Development Foundation Inc. (“BBCEDF”), a local government
corporation formed under Subchapter D of Chapter 431 of the Texas Transportation Code. The
BBCEDF was created to promote, develop, encourage, and maintain employment, commerce, and
economic development in the City and the County (see Note 21).

Government-wide and fund financial statements

The government-wide financial statements (the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the City and its component units.
For the most part, the effect of interfund activity, within the governmental and business-type
activities columns, has been removed from these statements. Governmental activities, which
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City of Bryan, Texas
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015

normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from
business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. Likewise,
the primary government is reported separately from certain legally separate component units for
which the primary government is financially accountable.

The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given
function are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with
a specific function. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase,
use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function and 2) grants
and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a
particular function. Taxes and other items not included among program revenues are reported
instead as general revenues.

In fund financial statements (the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet and Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances, the Proprietary Funds Statement of Net Position and
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Net Position and the Fiduciary Fund
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position), the City segregates transactions related to certain functions or
activities in separate funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal
compliance. Separate financial statements are presented for governmental funds, proprietary
funds, and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial
statements. Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are
reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. Non-major funds are aggregated
and presented in a single column in the appropriate governmental fund and proprietary fund
statements.

Governmental funds are those funds through which most governmental functions typically are
financed. The measurement focus of governmental funds is on the sources, uses, and balances of
current financial resources.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of
the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. All general
tax revenues and other receipts that are not restricted by law or contractual agreement to some
other fund are accounted for in this fund. General operating expenditures, fixed charges and
capital improvement costs that are not paid through other funds are paid from the General
Fund.

The Debt Service Fund accounts for the financial resources accumulated for the payment of
principal, interest and related costs on long-term debt paid primarily from taxes levied by the
City. The fund balance of the Debt Service Fund is restricted exclusively for debt service
expenditures.
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City of Bryan, Texas
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015

Other Governmental Funds is a summarization of all the non-major governmental funds, including
Special Revenue, Capital Projects, and Permanent funds. The purpose and source of revenue for
each Special Revenue fund is:

e Grant Fund — The source of funds is grants awarded to the City. The use of these funds is
restricted by the terms of each grant.

e Community Development Fund — The source of funds is federal grants awarded to the City
and use of the grant money is restricted by the terms of the grants. Primarily, the
Community Development fund provides programs and services to low and moderate income
persons.

e Hotel and Motel Room Tax Fund — The source of funds is the hotel occupancy tax. The use
of these funds is restricted by the tax code of the State of Texas.

e Sidewalks Fund — This fund was established by City of Bryan Ordinance to track money from
developers and property owners for the construction and maintenance of sidewalks.

e Court Technology Fund — This fund was established by City Ordinance and the source of
funds is a $4.00 fee for each case that comes before the City’s Municipal Court. These funds
are restricted to technology necessary for the Court’s operations.

e Street Improvement Fund — Per the City of Bryan Code of Ordinances, a transportation user
fee was established in order to provide a properly maintained road system. That fee is the
source of revenue for this fund. The use of these funds is restricted to the purposes of
planning, constructing, operating, monitoring and maintaining the transportation system of
the City.

e Drainage Improvement Fund — The drainage fee was established by the City of Bryan Code
of Ordinances and is the source of funds for this fund. These funds can only be used for the
City’s drainage system.

e Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #10 - The source of funds is the incremental property tax
revenue from the appreciated appraised value of this TIRZ. The use of these funds is
restricted to the geographical area within this zone.

e Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #19 - The source of funds is the incremental property tax
revenue from the appreciated appraised value of this TIRZ. The use of these funds is
restricted to the geographical area within this zone.

e Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #21 - The source of funds is the incremental property tax
revenue from the appreciated appraised value of this TIRZ. The use of these funds is
restricted to the geographical area within this zone.

e Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #22 - The source of funds is the incremental property tax
revenue from the appreciated appraised value of this TIRZ. The use of these funds is
restricted to the geographical area within this zone.

Proprietary funds include enterprise and internal service funds and are accounted for using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. The accounting
objectives are a determination of net income, financial position and cash flow. All assets and
liabilities are included in the Statement of Net Position.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
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City of Bryan, Texas
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015

delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. Operating
expenses for the proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses
and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are
reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. At fiscal year end, the City accrues estimated
unbilled revenues (excluding fuel expense) for electric, water, and wastewater customers.

The City reports the following major enterprise funds:

The City Electric Fund (Bryan Texas Utilities or BTU) accounts for the activities necessary to
provide electric services to the residents of the City. These activities include administration,
electric generation, distribution, transmission system operations and maintenance, new
construction, financing and related debt service, and billing and collection.

The Rural Electric Fund accounts for the activities necessary to provide electric services to its
customers living outside the City and within its service area. These activities include electric
distribution, operations and maintenance, new construction, financing and related debt service.
Administrative, billing and collection services are provided by the City Electric Fund.

The Water Fund accounts for the activities necessary to provide water services to the residents
of the City. These activities include administrative services, water production and distribution
system operations and maintenance, new construction, financing and related debt service.
Billing and collection services are provided by the City Electric Fund under a contractual
agreement.

The Wastewater Fund accounts for the activities necessary to provide wastewater collection and
treatment services to the residents of the City. These activities include administrative services,
wastewater system operations and maintenance, new construction, financing and related debt
service. Billing and collection services are provided by the City Electric Fund under a contractual
agreement.

Other Enterprise Funds is a summarization of all of the non-major enterprise funds of the City.

Internal service funds account for the City’s central warehouse function, administration of self-
funded health insurance provided to City employees, and the City’s risk management activities,
including general liability and workers’ compensation claims and associated administrative
expenses on a cost reimbursement basis.

The Payroll Fund, a fiduciary fund, accounts for the City’s payroll funds. Each of the other funds
contributes its respective share of personnel costs to the Payroll Fund. Employee wages,
associated employment taxes and employee benefits are paid from the fund. This fund is
excluded from the government-wide Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities since
the assets are not available to support the City’s own programs.
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City of Bryan, Texas
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015

Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentation

Measurement focus refers to what is being measured; basis of accounting refers to when revenues
and expenditures are recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial statements.

The government-wide financial statements and fund financial statements for proprietary funds are
reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. All
assets and liabilities (whether current or non-current) are included on the Statement of Net
Position. The operating statements present increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in net
total assets. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when
they become both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they
are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current
period. For this purpose, the City considers property taxes available if they are collected within sixty
(60) days of the end of the current fiscal period. A one hundred twenty (120) day availability period
is used for recognition of all other Governmental Fund revenues. Expenditures are recorded when a
liability is incurred. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to
compensated absences, are recorded only when payment is due.

The revenues susceptible to accrual are property taxes, franchise fees, licenses, charges for service,
investment income and intergovernmental revenues. Sales taxes collected and held by the State at
year end on behalf of the City are also recognized as revenue. Grants and similar items are
recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been
met. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available when cash is received
by the City.

As a general rule the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide
financial statements. Exceptions to the general rule are payments-in-lieu-of taxes, payments for use
of rights-of-way, and other charges between the City’s electric, water, wastewater functions and
various other functions of the government. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct
costs and program revenues reported for the various functions concerned.

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers and applicants for goods,
services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and
contributions. General revenues include all taxes. Likewise, internally dedicated resources are
reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues.

The accounting and reporting policies of the City relating to the funds included in the accompanying
basic financial statements conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America applicable to state and local governments. Generally accepted accounting principles for
local governments include those principles prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (“GASB”).
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Budgetary Control

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles for
all governmental funds except the capital projects funds and the permanent funds. Capital project
fund expenditures are effectively controlled through bond indenture provisions. Permanent funds
are controlled by the trust agreements which established the funds. All unexpended appropriations
lapse at fiscal year-end.

The City Charter establishes the City’s fiscal year as the twelve-month period beginning October 1.
The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial
statements:

The City’s departments submit to the City Manager a budget of estimated expenditures for the
ensuing fiscal year. Prior to September 1, the City Manager submits to the City Council a
proposed operating budget of estimated expenditures and revenues.

Upon receipt of the budget estimate the City Council publishes notice of and conducts public
hearings on the proposed budget to obtain citizen comment. Prior to October 1, the budget is
legally enacted through passage of the Appropriations Ordinance.

The City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between line items and
departments within any fund. Any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund must
be approved by the City Council. The legal level of budgetary control (the level at which
expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations) is the fund level.

Budgeted amounts are as originally adopted, or as amended in accordance with the annual
appropriations ordinance.

Encumbrance accounting is employed in governmental funds. Encumbrances (purchase orders
and contracts) outstanding at fiscal year-end are reported as assigned fund balances and do not
constitute expenditures or liabilities because the amounts will be re-appropriated and honored
in the subsequent year.

Cash and Investments

Cash for all funds, including restricted cash, but excluding fiduciary fund cash and BTU City and Rural
Electric cash, is pooled into common accounts in order to maximize investment opportunities. Each
fund participating in the pools has an equity interest therein. Investment earnings on these monies
are allocated based upon relative equity at month end. An individual fund’s pooled cash and
investments are available upon demand. Negative balances incurred in pooled cash at fiscal year-
end are treated as interfund receivables of the General Fund and interfund payables of the deficit
fund.

Marketable securities with an original maturity of three months or less are considered to be cash
equivalents.
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Investments of all funds are stated at fair value in accordance with GASB Statement No. 31,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools.
Inventories

All inventories are valued at average cost. Inventories owned by the Enterprise and Internal Service
Funds are accounted for using the consumption method (an expense is recorded when the inventory

item is used).

Prepaid Energy Costs

The Texas Municipal Power Agency’s (“TMPA”) rates for the purchase of electricity billed to the City
Electric System (BTU) are designed to cover TMPA’s annual system costs including debt service
costs. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010, BTU, along with other TMPA member cities,
issued debt in their own names to refund a portion of TMPA debt and to finance certain capital
improvements of TMPA. Such amounts have been accounted for as a prepayment of future energy
costs on the Statement of Net Position and are amortized through 2019, the life of the associated
debt. Additionally, in 2007, BTU entered into a purchase power agreement with a subsidiary of Shell
Energy North America (U.S.), L.P. As a part of the agreement, BTU prepaid $14,000,000 of
generation capacity costs. The prepayment is being amortized over the life of the agreement which
extends through December 31, 2017. The amortization of prepaid energy costs is reported on the
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position in depreciation and amortization and
totaled $8,300,717 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015.

Other Prepaid Items

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded
as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.

Interfund Receivables and Payables

Short-term amounts owed between funds are classified as “Due to/from other funds”. Any residual
balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are reported
in the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances”.

Transactions Between Funds

Legally authorized transfers are treated as interfund transfers and are included in the results of both
Governmental and Proprietary Funds.

The City allocates to the proprietary funds a percentage of indirect costs incurred to provide general
and administrative support services to those funds that are paid through the General Fund.
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Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets, are reported in
the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial
statements and in the fund financial statements for the proprietary funds.

All capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is
not available. To the extent the construction is performed by the City, the cost includes payroll and
related costs and certain general and administrative expenses. Interest is not capitalized in these
accounts because interest is recovered concurrently in the proprietary fund rate structure. Donated
assets are valued at their fair market value on the date donated. Repairs and maintenance are
recorded as expenses. Renewals and betterments are capitalized.

Assets capitalized have an original cost of $5,000 or more and three or more years of useful life.

Depreciation has been calculated on each class of depreciable property using the straight-line
method over the following estimated service lives:

Estimated Service Lives

Buildings & improvements 15 - 40 vyears
Water and wastewater systems 40 years
Electric system 20 - 30 years
Electric generating and related equipment 20 - 40 years
Improvements other than buildings 5 - 40 years
Machinery and equipment 3 - 10 years
Library books 15 years
Software 3 years
Streets 20 years
Sidewalks 20 years
Traffic signals 20 years
Storm drains 35 years
Bridges and culverts 40 years
Works of art and historical treasures Determined on individual basis

Minimum Fund Balance Policy

The City has set financial guidelines regarding the retention of General Fund fund balances and
reserves, to ensure that adequate funds are available to cover daily operating expenditures and in
anticipation of economic downturns or natural disasters. The City Council has adopted a financial
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standard to maintain a General Fund minimum fund balance of 60 days of annual operating expense
totals.

Use of Estimates

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles,
management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of
assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Bond Issuance Expenses

According to the financial reporting requirements of GASB Statement No. 65, /tems Previously
Reported as Assets and Liabilities, bond issuance expenses are to be expensed as incurred. Issuance
expenses are reported on the Statement of Activities on the Government-Wide Financial Statements
for Governmental Activities in interest on long-term debt expense and on the Statement of
Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Balances in interest and fiscal charges. These amounts
totaled $67,859 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015. Issuance expenses for Business-Type
Activities are reported on the on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
in interest expense and totaled $44,691 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015.

Utility Revenues, Fuel Recovery, and Regulatory Recovery

BTU City and Rural Electric Customers are billed on the basis of monthly cycle billings. At year end,
the City and Rural Electric Systems accrue estimated unbilled revenues for the period ended
September 30. The difference between fuel revenue billed and fuel expense incurred is recorded as
an addition or a reduction to fuel and purchased power expense, with a corresponding entry to
accounts payable — over recovered fuel or accounts receivable — under recovered fuel, whichever is
appropriate. At September 30, 2015 the City Electric System reported a current liability — over
recovered fuel of $2,173,575. At September 30, 2015 the Rural Electric System reported a current
asset — under recovered fuel of $1,030,124.

The difference between regulatory revenue billed and regulatory expense incurred is recorded as an
addition or a reduction to transmission cost of service expense, with a corresponding entry to
accounts payable — over recovered regulatory fee or accounts receivable — under recovered
regulatory fee, whichever is appropriate. At September 30, 2015 the City Electric System reported a
current asset — under recovered regulatory fee of $1,200,665. At September 30, 2015 the Rural
Electric System reported a current asset — under recovered regulatory fee of $138,871.

Deferred Regulatory Liability

To better align certain benefits received with BTU’s retail rate design, the City Electric System
utilizes regulatory accounting treatment for the funds it collects from customers and developers as
contributions of aid in construction (AIC) under GASB Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting
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and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB & AICPA
Pronouncements. The City Electric System recognizes AIC received as a deferred regulatory liability
in the deferred inflows section of the Statements of Net Position. The deferred regulatory liability is
amortized to depreciation expense over the life of the asset constructed. During the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2015, the City Electric System collected $320,599 of AIC. During the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2015, the Rural Electric System collected $1,841,186 of AIC.

Compensated Absences

The City’s policy in effect during Fiscal Year 2015 allows employees to earn vacation leave at rates of
10 to 20 days (80 to 160 hours) per year with unlimited accumulation. Classified employees in the
police and fire departments earn vacation at the rate of 15 days (120 hours) per year in accordance
with Texas Local Government Code, Chapter 143, until the employee reaches 15 years employment
at which time the rate of accrual becomes the same rate as that for other City employees. Upon
termination, employees with a minimum of one year employment, who leave in good standing, are
paid for unused vacation time up to a maximum of two times the employee’s annual accrual rate at
the time of separation.

City employees earn sick leave at a rate of 10 days (80 hours) per year and are permitted to accrue a
maximum of 120 days (960 hours). Classified employees in the police and fire departments earn sick
pay at the rate of 15 days (120 hours) per year in accordance with Texas Local Government Code,
Chapter 143, with unlimited accumulation. Upon termination, classified police and fire department
employees are paid for any unused sick leave up to a maximum of 90 days (720 hours or 1080 hours
for shift firefighters). Non-classified employees are paid for accumulated sick leave up to a
maximum of 240 hours upon termination, if they have a minimum of 480 hours accrued, dependent
upon leaving in good standing and being continuously employed for a minimum of ten years in a
regular, full time position immediately prior to separation.

The City accrues vacation and sick pay when the liability is incurred. Amounts related to
governmental fund types are reported in the government-wide financial statements. The liabilities
of the governmental fund types are typically liquidated by the General fund and Community
Development fund. All amounts related to proprietary fund types are recorded within those funds.

Pensions - For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the
Fiduciary Net Position of the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) and additions
to/deductions from TMRS’s Fiduciary Net Position have been determined using the flow of
economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual basis of accounting. For this purpose,
plan contributions are recognized in the period that compensation is reported for the employee,
which is when contributions are legally due. Benefit payments and refunds are recognized when due
and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.
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Net Position

Net position represents the difference between assets and liabilities. Net investment in capital
assets consists of capital assets net of accumulated depreciation reduced by the outstanding
balances of any borrowing used for the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.
Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through
enabling legislation adopted by the City or through external restrictions imposed by creditors,
grantors, or laws and regulations of other governments.

New Accounting Pronouncements, Changes in Accounting Principles, and Restatements

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015, the City adopted:

GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, amends the requirements
of GASB Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental Employers, as
well as the requirements of GASB Statement No. 50, Pension Disclosures, as they relate to
governmental employers that account for pensions that are provided through trusts, or equivalent
arrangements. Employers are required to report the difference between the actuarial total pension
liability and the pension plan’s fiduciary net position as the net pension liability on the statement of
net position. Previously, a liability was recognized only to the extent that contributions made to the
plan were exceeded by the actuarially calculated contributions. Implementation of this
pronouncement requires the City to restate net position. (See also Note 9.)

GASB Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement
Date an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68. This Statement is to address an issue regarding
application of the transition provisions of Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Pensions. The issue relates to amounts associated with contributions, if any, made by a state or local
government employer or nonemployer contributing entity to a defined benefit pension plan after
the measurement date of the government’s beginning net pension liability. This statement, in
conjunction with GASB Statement No. 68 requires the City to restate net position. (See also Note 9.)

The following table provides a reconciliation of net position at September 30, 2014, as previously
reported to net position at September 30, 2014, as restated:

Governmental Activities Business Type Activities
Net Position, beginning of period - as previously reported S 117,589,868 § 385,528,131
Net pension liability (21,484,900) (11,948,356)
Reverse net pension obligation as reported 9/30/14 4,417,571 2,453,427
Reverse pension accrual in Construction-in-Progress* - (299,496)
Net Position, beginning of period - as restated S 100,522,539 S 375,733,706

*This reflects the amount of pension accruals that were allocated to construction-in-progress in
prior periods. Amount is included as part of prior period adjustment and also restates prior period
capital assets on the Statement of Net Position.
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GASB Statement No. 69, Government Combinations and Disposals of Government Operations,
establishes accounting and financial reporting guidance related to government combinations and
disposals of government operations. The term government combinations refers to a variety of
transactions and may be mergers, acquisitions, or transfers of operations. This standard sets forth
definitions of each of these transaction types and sets forth the specific accounting and reporting
treatment to be given for each. The Statement also provides accounting and reporting guidance for
disposals of government operations that have been sold or transferred. The requirements of this
Statement will be applied prospectively, beginning in the period of adoption. The effect of this
guidance on the City will be limited to its impact on recognition of potential combination and
disposal transactions into which the City may enter in the future. This pronouncement had no
impact on the City in FY 2015.

The following guidance issued by GASB is effective for FY 2016 and is expected to be applicable to
the City:

GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, addresses accounting and
financial reporting issues related to fair value measurements. The definition of fair value is the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. This Statement provides guidance for
determining a fair value measurement for financial reporting purposes. This Statement also
provides guidance for applying fair value to certain investments and disclosures related to all fair
value measurements.

2. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Deposits

State statutes require that all deposits in financial institutions be fully collateralized with depository
insurance or by U.S. Government obligations or its agencies and instrumentalities; or direct
obligations of Texas or its agencies and instrumentalities that have a market value of not less than
the principal amount of the deposits. At year-end, the City’s demand deposits at BB&T were
entirely covered by federal depository insurance or by collateral held by the Federal Reserve Bank in
the City’s name. At September 30, 2015 the amount of the City’s demand deposits was
$70,203,708, BTU’s demand deposits were $55,308,235 and the combined bank balance was
$125,511,943.

Investments
The City’s investment program is guided by State statutes, by various City ordinances and by the
City’s investment policy which amplifies those guidelines and prescribes how the City will operate its

investment program in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

The City’s policy, which was adopted by the City Council on August 26, 2014, for the fiscal year
ending September 30, 2015, sets forth (1) the basic principles governing the investment of City
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funds; (2) the objectives of the City’s investment program; and (3) the authority, responsibilities,
limitations, documentation and requirements to be used in the administration and operation of the
City’s investment program.

Investments authorized by the investment policy are those approved by the revised State of Texas
Public Funds Investment Act, Chapter 2256. These investments include the following:

a. Direct obligations of the United States or its agencies and instrumentalities;

b. Debentures or discount notes issued by, guaranteed by, or for which the credit of any
Federal Agencies and Instrumentalities is pledged for payment;

c. Direct obligations of the State of Texas or its agencies;

d. Bonds or other obligations, the principal and interest of which is guaranteed by the full faith
and credit of the United States;

e. Certificates of deposit issued by state and national banks within the state of Texas that are
secured by obligations qualified as acceptable collateral;

f. Certificates of deposit issued by savings and loan associations within the state of Texas that
are secured by obligations qualified as acceptable collateral;

g. Bankers Acceptances eligible for discounting with the Federal Reserve maturing within 90
days;

h. Commercial paper with a stated maturity of 180 days or less from the date of issuance that
is rated not less than A-1, P-1, F-1 or its equivalent;

i. Fully collateralized repurchase agreements having a defined termination date of 90 days or
less, secured by qualified obligations, pledged with a third party, and placed through a
primary government securities dealer as defined by the Federal Reserve, or a bank
domiciled in Texas;

j. Money-market mutual funds that are SEC registered no-load funds with dollar-weighted
average portfolio maturity of 90 days or less;

k. The City utilizes local government investment pools rated no lower than AAA or AAA-m from
at least one nationally recognized rating agency;

|.  Hedging contracts and related security insurance agreements in relation to fuel oil, natural
gas, coal, nuclear fuel, and electric energy to protect against loss due to price fluctuations;
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m. Reverse repurchase agreements are allowed only if the term does not exceed 90 days after
delivery, and money received is used to acquire additional authorized investments with a
maturity date not to exceed the expiration date stated in the agreement.

The City’s investment policy prohibits the substitution of collateral on repurchase agreements
without prior approval of the City.

At September 30, 2015, the fair market value of the City’s portfolio is as follows:

Fair Percentage Wgt. Avg. Credit
Value of Total Maturity Risk
U.S. Agencies and Instrumentalities S 50,504,940 26.82% 1030 AAA
Collateral Deposits 6,679,019 3.55%
Investments in Government Pools 8,013,378 4.25% 1day AAAmM
Cash 123,138,055 65.38% 1day
Total Investments and deposits S 188,335,392 100.00%

Investments of all funds are stated at fair value in accordance with GASB Statement No. 31,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools.

The revenue bond ordinances require disclosure of the investments held by the reserve fund.
Sufficient investments exist in the pool to adequately meet reserve fund requirements. A detailed
list of those securities is available in the office of the Chief Financial Officer.

Custodial Risk — City deposits in excess of the $250,000 amount covered by the Federal Depository
Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) must be secured by authorized securities with a market value equal
to or greater than 105% of the total deposits. At September 30, 2015, all City deposits were insured
or adequately collateralized.

Interest Rate Risk — The City minimized the risk associated with the decline in market value of
securities due to rising interest rates (interest rate risk) by maintaining a (“buy and hold”) strategy
whereby investment securities are purchased with the intent to hold the securities in the portfolio
until maturity. Additionally, the City’s Investment Policy limits the weighted average maturity of all
securities and Certificates of Deposit in the City’s portfolio to no more than three years at any given
time. The City’s investment strategy acts to reduce interest rate risk through investing funds to meet
cash flow requirements; monitoring the credit ratings of portfolio investments to assure compliance
with the Investment Policy and the Texas Public Funds Investment Act; and investing in a diversified
portfolio of assets including obligations of the United States and its agencies and instrumentalities,
money market mutual funds, and government investment pools.

Credit Risk and Concentration of Credit Risk — In compliance with the City’s Investment Policy and
the Texas Public Funds Investment Act, the City managed credit risk through portfolio diversification

55



City of Bryan, Texas
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015

by limiting investments to avoid over concentration in securities from a specific issuer; limiting
investments in securities with high credit risk; and investing in securities with varying maturities. At
September 30, 2015, the City had no single investment category that exceeded 10% of investable
funds.

Foreign Currency Risk — By virtue of the City’s Investment Policy and the Texas Public Funds
Investment Act, the City is not exposed to foreign currency risk because the City is not authorized to
maintain deposits or investments denominated in a foreign currency.

3. PROPERTY TAXES

Property tax is levied each October 1 on the assessed (appraised) value listed as of the prior January
1 for all real and business personal property located in the City. Taxable assessed value represents
the appraisal value less applicable exemptions authorized by the City Council.

Taxpayers have two options for paying property taxes, the full payment option or the split payment
option. Taxpayers electing the full payment option have from October 1 of the tax year to January
31 of the following year to pay the full amount of taxes without penalty or interest. Taxes become
delinquent on February 1. Any unpaid balance will accrue penalty and interest. Taxpayers electing
the split payment option have from October 1 to November 30 of the tax year to pay half of the tax
amount. The remaining half may be paid without penalty or interest any time on or before June 30
of the following year. Taxes become delinquent on July 1.

Taxpayers who were 65 years of age or older on January 1, and have filed an application for
exemption may pay the taxes on their homestead in four equal installments. Quarterly payments
are due January 31, March 31, May 31, and July 31.

Delinquent taxes are subject to interest and penalty charges. The tax rate to finance general
governmental services including debt service was 62.999 cents per $100 of assessed valuation for
the year ended September 30, 2015. Under provisions adopted by the City, the maximum tax rate is
limited to $1.50 per $100 of assessed valuation.

The Brazos County Appraisal District (“Appraisal District”) is responsible for the recording and
appraisal of property for all taxing units in the County. The Appraisal District is required to assess
property at 100% of its appraised value. Real property must be reappraised at least every three
years. The City may, at its own expense, require annual reviews by the Appraisal District through
various appeals and, if necessary, legal action. Under this system, if the rate, excluding tax rates for
bonds and other contractual obligations adjusted for new improvements, exceeds the rate for the
previous year by more than 8%, qualified voters of the City may petition for an election to
determine whether to limit the tax rate to no more than 8% above the tax rate of the previous year.

The Brazos County Tax Office bills and collects the property taxes of the City.
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4. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2015 was as follows:

Governmental activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated
Land
Construction in Progress

Total capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets, being depreciated
Buildings
Equipment
Improvements
Infrastructure
Total capital assets being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings
Equipment
Improvements
Infrastructure
Total accumulated depreciation

Total capital assets being depreciated, net
Governmental activities capital assets, net

Business-type activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated
Land
Construction In Progress

Total capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets, being depreciated
Buildings
Equipment
Improvements
Total capital assets being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings
Equipment
Improvements
Total accumulated depreciation

Total capital assets being depreciated, net
Business-type activities capital assets, net

Balance Additions / Retirements / Balance
October 1 Completions Adjustments September 30
S 11,591,736 S - S - S 11,591,736

5,247,939 1,851,749 (3,007,933) 4,091,755
16,839,675 1,851,749 (3,007,933) 15,683,491
42,835,334 240,267 (4,292,056) 38,783,545
30,465,396 2,156,858 (708,074) 31,914,180
31,909,671 288,780 - 32,198,451

180,812,706 5,348,260 - 186,160,966
286,023,107 8,034,165 (5,000,130) 289,057,142
(15,924,316) (1,049,946) 2,512,333 (14,461,929)
(22,521,047) (2,074,153) 678,084 (23,917,116)
(21,488,712) (1,308,673) - (22,797,385)
(85,268,842) (6,790,204) - (92,059,046)
(145,202,917) (11,222,976) 3,190,417 (153,235,476)
140,820,190 (3,188,811) (1,809,713) 135,821,666

S 157,659,865 S (1,337,062) $ (4,817,646) S 151,505,157

$ 16,701,003 $ — - $ 16,701,003
65,424,449 30,293,749 (73,589,316) 22,128,882
82,125,452 30,293,749 (73,589,316) 38,829,885

1,920,180 - - 1,920,180
13,192,580 1,306,565 (685,894) 13,813,251
664,567,290 78,524,517 (4,822,468) 738,269,339
679,680,050 79,831,082 (5,508,362) 754,002,770
(842,520 (151,915) - (994,435)
(9,425,510) (1,045,122) 627,721 (9,842,911
(234,123,750) (19,839,562) 5,719,079 (248,244,233)
(244,391,780) (21,036,599) 6,346,800 (259,081,579)
435,288,270 58,794,483 838,438 494,921,191

S 517,413,722

$ 89,088,232

S (72,750,878)

$ 533,751,076
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Depreciation expense was charged as direct expense to programs of the primary government as

follows:

Governmental activities:
General government and administration
Development services
Public works services
Public safety
Cultural and recreational
Total depreciation expense - Governmental activities

Business-type activities:
City Electric
Rural Electric
Water
Wastewater
Other Enterprise Funds
Total depreciation expense - Business-type activities

The City has active construction projects as of September 30, 2015. Total accumulated commitments

for ongoing capital projects are composed of the following:

Street improvements

Drainage improvements
Water system improvements
Wastewater system improvements

Total

58

1,298,100

732,242
6,374,529
1,743,124
1,074,981

11,222,976

12,033,227
2,647,842
2,702,592
2,691,000

961,938

21,036,599

Committed
$ 8,584,499
1,162,500
2,419,573
337,784

$ 12,504,356
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5. LONG-TERM DEBT

The following is a summary of long-term debt transactions (except vacation and sick pay and claims

and judgments) for the year ended September 30, 2015:

Beginning Matured/ Ending Due within
Balance Issued Refunded Balance one year
Governmental Activities:
General Obligation Bonds $ 48,590,908 $ 11,745,000 $ 16,781,926 $ 43,553,982 S 4,926,492
Certificates of Obligation 43,290,021 - 2,510,000 40,780,021 2,915,000
Total governmental activities 91,880,929 11,745,000 19,291,926 84,334,003 7,841,492
Business-type Activities:
Water, Sewer & Airport Systems:
General Obligation Bonds 8,359,093 - 673,074 7,686,019 684,181
Certificates of Obligation 7,540,000 - 960,000 6,580,000 990,000
Revenue Bonds 52,920,001 - 3,350,000 49,570,001 3,385,001
Electric System:
General Obligation Bonds - 7,735,000 - 7,735,000 730,000
Certificates of Obligation 40,240,000 - 1,045,000 39,195,000 1,225,000
Revenue Bonds 189,100,000 - 20,185,000 168,915,000 11,990,000
Total business type activities 298,159,094 7,735,000 26,213,074 279,681,020 19,004,182
Total long-term debt $ 390,040,023 $ 19,480,000 S 45,505,000 S 364,015,023 S 26,845,674
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Long-term debt at September 30, 2015 consists of bonds and certificates of obligation maturing
serially and is summarized as follows:

First
Interest Series Callable Business-
Issue Rates (%) Matures Date Governmental type Total

General Obligation Bonds:
Refunding, Series 2010 2.00 4.00 2021 None 6,455,000 - 6,455,000
Refunding, Series 2013 2.00 3.50 2026 08/15/23 18,907,480 5,562,520 24,470,000
Refunding, Series 2014 2.00 3.25 2031 08/15/24 6,446,502 2,123,499 8,570,001
Refunding, Series 2015 2.00 4.00 2025 None 11,745,000 7,735,000 19,480,000

Total General Obligation Bonds 43,553,982 15,421,019 58,975,001
Certificates of Obligation:
Combination Tax & Revenue, Series 2007 4.00 4.25 2026 08/15/16 8,680,000 - 8,680,000
Combination Tax & Revenue, Series 2008 4.00 5.00 2028 08/15/18 7,915,000 - 7,915,000
Combination Tax & Revenue, Series 2009 3.00 5.00 2029 08/15/19 6,305,000 - 6,305,000
Combination Tax & Revenue, Series 2010 2.00 4.38 2030 08/15/20 10,545,000 - 10,545,000
Combination Tax & Revenue Refunding,

Series 2011 3.00 4.00 2022 None - 6,580,000 6,580,000
Combination Tax & Revenue, Series 2013 3.00 4.25 2023 08/15/23 - 5,170,000 5,170,000
Combination Tax & Revenue, Series 2014 2.00 5.00 2039 08/15/24 7,335,021 34,025,000 41,360,021

Total Certificates of Obligation 40,780,021 45,775,000 86,555,021
Revenue Bonds:
Water and Sewer System Revenue,

Series 2007 4.00 5.00 2032 07/01/17 - 25,955,000 25,955,000
Water and Sewer System Revenue, -

Series 2009A 2.50 4.63 2029 07/01/19 - 4,380,000 4,380,000
Sewer System Revenue, -

Series 2009B 1.35 2.60 2019 None - 550,000 550,000
Water Revenue, Series 2010A 2.00 4.25 2030 07/01/20 - 4,160,000 4,160,000
Sewer System Revenue, Series 2011 0.00 2.70 2030 None 14,525,000 14,525,000
Electric System Revenue City, Series 2006 4.00 5.00 2031 07/01/16 - 9,295,000 9,295,000
Electric System Revenue City, Series 2007 4.25 5.25 2032 07/01/17 - 25,665,000 25,665,000
Electric System Revenue City, Series 2008 4.00 5.25 2033 07/01/17 - 26,940,000 26,940,000
Electric System Revenue Rural, Series 2008  3.50 4.75 2034 07/01/17 - 5,220,000 5,220,000
Electric System Revenue City, Series 2009 4.00 5.00 2034 07/01/17 - 21,025,000 21,025,000
Electric System Revenue City, Series 2010 4.00 5.00 2019 07/01/17 - 26,765,000 26,765,000
Electric System Revenue Rural, Series 2011 3.00 5.00 2021 None - 1,925,000 1,925,000
Electric System Revenue City, Series 2012 3.13 5.00 2037 07/01/22 - 52,080,001 52,080,001

Total Revenue Bonds S - $218,485,001 S 218,485,001
Total long-term debt S 84,334,003 $279,681,020 S 364,015,023
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Debt service requirements to maturity for all bonds, certificates of obligation, contractual
obligations and notes payable are summarized as follows:

General Obligation Bonds

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Total

2016 4,926,492 1,220,738 1,413,508 410,913 7,971,652

2017 4,734,136 1,120,847 1,430,864 388,638 7,674,485

2018 4,836,531 1,005,164 1,463,469 360,021 7,665,185

2019 4,576,005 879,858 1,398,995 327,002 7,181,860

2020 4,699,991 767,238 1,430,009 299,022 7,196,260
2021-2025 17,366,671 1,869,527 7,498,329 804,698 27,539,225
2026-2030 2,117,029 201,418 687,971 66,019 3,072,438

2031 297,126 9,657 97,875 3,181 407,839

Total S 43,553,982 S 7,074,447 S 15,421,019 S 2,659,495 S 68,708,943

Certificates of Obligation

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Total

2016 2,915,000 1,610,959 2,215,000 1,533,044 S 8,274,003

2017 2,415,000 1,520,509 2,275,000 1,476,644 7,687,153

2018 2,505,000 1,432,634 2,260,000 1,408,394 7,606,028

2019 2,600,000 1,335,884 2,235,000 1,348,744 7,519,628

2020 2,695,000 1,234,621 2,180,000 1,288,925 7,398,546
2021-2025 14,825,000 4,513,506 9,030,000 5,430,760 33,799,267
2026-2030 11,175,000 1,467,699 8,560,000 4,002,105 25,204,804
2031-2035 1,650,021 148,253 9,330,000 2,440,611 13,568,885
2036-3038 - - 7,690,000 740,145 8,430,145

Total S 40,780,021 S 13,264,064 S 45,775,000 S 19,669,372 $ 119,488,457

Revenue Bonds

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Total
2016 S - S - S 15,375,000 $ 9,723,588 S 25,098,588
2017 - - 14,805,000 9,073,865 23,878,865
2018 - - 10,475,000 8,385,300 18,860,300
2019 - - 31,560,000 7,960,568 39,520,568
2020 - - 10,630,000 6,507,635 17,137,635
2021-2025 - - 48,380,000 25,934,444 74,314,444
2026-2030 - - 50,445,000 15,612,300 66,057,300
2031-2035 - - 31,635,000 4,567,731 36,202,731
2036-3037 - - 5,180,001 322,575 5,502,576
Total S - S - $ 218,485,001 $ 88,088,006 $ 306,573,007
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Total Long Term Debt

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Total

2016 S 7,841,492 S 2,831,697 S 19,003,508 S 11,667,545 S 41,344,242

2017 7,149,136 2,641,355 18,510,864 10,939,147 39,240,503

2018 7,341,531 2,437,798 14,198,469 10,153,715 34,131,513

2019 7,176,005 2,215,742 35,193,995 9,636,313 54,222,055

2020 7,394,991 2,001,860 14,240,009 8,095,582 31,732,441
2021-2025 32,191,671 6,383,033 64,908,329 32,169,902 135,652,936
2026-2030 13,292,029 1,669,117 59,692,971 19,680,425 94,334,542
2031-2035 1,947,147 157,909 41,062,875 7,011,524 50,179,455
2036-3037 - - 12,870,001 1,062,720 13,932,721

Total S 84,334,003 S 20,338,511 $ 279,681,020 $ 110,416,872 $ 494,770,406

On July 28, 2015 the City issued general obligation refunding bonds totaling $19,480,000. These
bonds mature serially from August 15, 2016 through August 15, 2025 with coupon rates ranging
from 2.0% to 4.0%. After the payment of issuance costs, the proceeds from the sale of the 2015
general obligation bonds are restricted to refunding portions of the City’s outstanding debt and thus
lowering the overall debt service requirements of the City. Proceeds from the sale of the bonds
were used to refund a total of $20,130,000, which includes $12,150,000 of general obligation
refunding bonds and $7,980,000 of City Electric System Revenue Refunding Bonds. This represents a
deferred gain of $597,031, a net present value benefit savings of $2,460,031, and an economic gain
of $2,748,676 by an average interest rate of 2.104%.

The net revenues of the City Electric Fund, Rural Electric Fund, Water and Wastewater Systems are
pledged for the payment of each funds’ respective revenue bonds. Net revenues, as defined by the
various revenue bond ordinances, include substantially all of the revenues and expenses of each
respective system other than certain interest income and expense and depreciation and
amortization. These bond ordinances further require that the net revenues as defined equal at least
1.10 times the average annual debt service on all outstanding City Electric Fund revenue bonds, 1.20
times the average annual debt service on all outstanding Rural Electric Fund revenue bonds and 1.25
times the average annual debt service on all outstanding Water and Wastewater System revenue
bonds.

Under the terms of the bond covenants, City Electric and Rural Electric Funds are required to
maintain minimum reserve fund requirements equal to approximately one year of debt service
requirements. The reserve fund requirements may be satisfied by cash, letter of credit or an
insurance policy. The reserve fund requirements for the Series 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011, and 2012
Bonds are satisfied with restricted funds. The reserve fund requirements for the City Electric Fund
Series 2006, Series 2007 bonds are satisfied with insurance policies, as are the Rural Electric Fund’s
Series 2008 bonds. There are no reserve requirements for the 2013 and 2014 certificates.

The ordinance authorizing the Waterworks and Sewer System revenue bonds stipulates that the City
will deposit certain amounts into a reserve fund for the purpose of retiring the last of the bonds as
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they become due or to pay principal of and interest on the outstanding bonds if necessary. The
ordinance also allows the City to replace or substitute a credit facility for cash or investments on
deposit in the reserve fund. For the Series 2007 and 2009A bonds, the City has exercised the option
to replace the reserve fund requirement with a surety bond.

The City reserves the right at any time to merge its City Electric Fund and its Rural Electric Fund into
a single operating electric utility system. The merger of the Rural Electric Division would not have an
adverse impact on the bondholders.

Arbitrage provisions of the Internal Revenue Tax Act of 1986 require the City to rebate excess
arbitrage earnings from bond proceeds to the federal government. As provided for by the bond
ordinances, this amount would be as a liability in the Proprietary funds for the benefit of the federal
government and will be paid as required by applicable regulations.

Other long term liabilities

Changes in the accrual for unpaid vacation and sick pay are detailed below:

Year Ended September 30, 2015

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
Beginning balance S 6,241,310 S 1,165,356 S 7,406,666
Plus additions 2,230,549 559,419 2,789,968
Less payments (1,494,669) (452,960) (1,947,629)
Ending balance S 6,977,190 S 1,271,815 'S 8,249,005
Amount due in one year S 2,232,701 S 406,982 S 2,639,683
Amount due in over one year S 4,744,489 S 864,833 S 5,609,322

6. PRIOR-YEAR DEFEASANCE OF DEBT

In FY 2015 and prior years, the City defeased certain outstanding general obligation bonds,
certificates of obligation and revenue bonds by placing the proceeds of new bonds in irrevocable
trusts to provide for all future debt service payments on the old debt. Accordingly, the trust account
assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are not included in the City’s financial statements.

As of September 30, 2015, the City had outstanding General Obligation bonds and Certificates of
Obligation totaling $56,270,000 which were considered defeased.
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7. BONDS AVAILABLE FOR SALE

Authorized general obligation bonds available for future issue are as follows:

Year Authorized Unissued Amount
Streets 1984 S 8,225,000
Parks and Recreation Facilities 1984 1,775,000
Railroad Grade Separation 1984 2,850,000
Sanitary Landfill 1984 200,000
Total $ 13,050,000

During the fiscal year 1984, the City Council voted to comply with the option provided by state law
that does not require voter approval on revenue bonds prior to issuance.

8. NATURE AND PURPOSE OF CLASSIFICATION OF FUND EQUITY

The fund balance classifications for Governmental Funds are:

e Nonspendable — includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent because they are
either not in spendable form, or, for legal or contractual reasons, must be kept intact.

e Restricted — includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific purposes which
are externally imposed by providers, such as creditors or amounts restricted due to
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

e Committed — includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific purposes that
are internally imposed by the City through the adoption of an ordinance by the City Council.
In order for fund balance to be committed, the City Council must adopt an ordinance stating
the purpose for which the fund balance is committed. These committed amounts cannot be
used for any other purpose unless the government removes or changes the specified use by
taking the same type of action (adoption of an ordinance) it employed to previously commit
these amounts.

e Assigned — includes fund balance amounts that are self-imposed by the City to be used for a
particular purpose. Fund balance can be assigned by the City Manager, the Chief Financial
Officer or their designee. This authority was delegated to the City Manager and the Chief
Financial Officer by formal resolution of the City Council. Assignments also include
encumbrances for streets, drainage and capital projects.

e Unassigned —includes the residual fund balance within the general fund which has not been
classified within the other above mentioned categories. Unassigned fund balance may also
include negative balances for any governmental fund if expenditures exceed amounts
restricted, committed, or assigned for those specific purposes.
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When both restricted and unrestricted fund balances are available for use, it is the City’s policy to use
restricted fund balance first, then unrestricted fund balance. Similarly, committed fund balances are
reduced first followed by assigned amounts and then unassigned amounts when expenditures are
incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of those unrestricted fund balance classifications are

available.

The City’s classification of fund balances is as follows at September 30, 2015:

Nonspendable:
Permanent Funds Corpus
Other Purposes

Restricted for:

Debt Service

Grants

Hotel/Motel

Municipal Court

TIRZ Development

Capital Projects

Cemeteries

Police

Record Preservation

Other Purposes
Committed to:

Parks

Libraries

Streets

Drainage

Severance Reserve

Assigned to:
Encumbrances

Unassigned

Total fund balances

Special
Debt Service Revenue Capital Permanent

General Fund Fund Funds Project Funds Funds Total
$ -8 -8 -8 - S 895724 S 895,724
109,393 - - - - 109,393
- 6,080,301 - - - 6,080,301
260,859 - 11,423 - - 272,282
- - 1,784,048 - - 1,784,048
223,957 - 244,157 - - 468,114
- - 706,544 - - 706,544
- - - 7,465,788 - 7,465,788
- - - - 1,021,900 1,021,900
78,500 - - - - 78,500
80,057 - - - - 80,057
77,210 - 1,808 - - 79,018
998,283 - - - - 998,283
186,366 - - - - 186,366
- - 12,387,623 - - 12,387,623
- - 2,364,950 - - 2,364,950
1,200,314 - - - - 1,200,314
1,531,754 - - - - 1,531,754
30,621,712 - (9,354) - - 30,612,358
$35,368,405 $6,080,301 $17,491,199 S 7,465,788 $1,917,624 $68,323,317
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Net position has been restricted at September 30, 2015 as follows:

Business-Type Activities

Waste Other

Restricted for: Electric Water Water Enterprise Total

Rate Stabilization S 1,687,392 S - S - S - S 1,687,392
Debt Retirement 10,552,883 - - - 10,552,883
Debt Service 3,703,801 1,161,501 2,046,583 - 6,911,885
Collateral Deposits 6,679,019 - - - 6,679,019
BVSWMA - - - 13,588,808 13,588,808
Total $ 22,623,095 S 1,161,501 S 2,046,583 $ 13,588,808 $ 39,419,987

9. RETIREMENT PLAN

Plan Description

The City of Bryan participates as one of 860 plans in the nontraditional, joint contributory, hybrid
defined benefit pension plan administered by the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS).
TMRS is an agency created by the State of Texas and administered in accordance with the TMRS
Act, Subtitle G, Title 8, Texas Government Code (the TMRS Act) as an agent multiple-employer
retirement system for municipal employees in the State of Texas. The TMRS Act places the
general administration and management of the System with a six-member Board of Trustees.
Although the Governor, with the advice and consent of the Senate, appoints the Board, TMRS is
not fiscally dependent on the State of Texas. TMRS’s defined benefit pension plan is a tax-
qualified plan under Section 401 (a) of the Internal Revenue Code. TMRS issues a publicly
available comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) that can be obtained at www.tmrs.com.

All eligible employees of the city are required to participate in TMRS.

Benefits Provided

TMRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Benefit provisions are adopted by the
governing body of the city, within the options available in the state statutes governing TMRS.

At retirement, the benefit is calculated as if the sum of the employee’s contributions, with
interest, and the city-financed monetary credits with interest were used to purchase an annuity.
Members may choose to receive their retirement benefit in one of seven payments options.
Members may also choose to receive a portion of their benefit as a Partial Lump Sum Distribution
in an amount equal to 12, 24, or 36 monthly payments, which cannot exceed 75% of the
member’s deposits and interest.

Benefits depend upon the sum of the employee’s contributions to the plan, with interest, and the
City-financed monetary credits, with interest. At the date the plan began, the City granted
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monetary credits for service rendered before the plan began of a theoretical amount equal to two
times what would have been contributed by the employee, with interest, prior to establishment of
the plan. Monetary credits for service since the plan began are a percent (100%, 150%, or 200%) of
the employee’s accumulated contributions. In addition, the City can grant, as often as annually,
another type of monetary credit referred to as an updated service credit which is a theoretical
amount which, when added to the employee’s accumulated contributions and the monetary
credits for service since the plan began, would be the total monetary credits and employee
contributions accumulated with interest if the current employee contribution rate and City
matching percentage had always been in existence and if the employee’s salary had always been
the average of his salary in the last three years that are one year before the effective date. At
retirement, the benefit is calculated as if the sum of the employee’s accumulated contributions
with interest and the employer-financed monetary credits with interest were used to purchase an
annuity.

Members can retire at ages 60 and above with 5 or more years of service or with 20 years of
service regardless of age. A member is vested after 5 years. The plan provisions are adopted by
the governing body of the City, within the options available in the state statutes governing TMRS
and within the actuarial constraints also in the statutes.

Employees covered by benefit terms

At the December 31, 2014 valuation and measurement date, the following employees were covered
by the benefit terms:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 515
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 388
Active employees 824
Total 1,727

Contributions

The contribution rates for employees in TMRS are either 5%, 6%, or 7% of employee gross
earnings, and the city matching percentages are either 100%, 150%, or 200%, both as adopted by
the governing body of the city. Under the state law governing TMRS, the contribution rate for each
city is determined annually by the actuary, using the Entry Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost
method. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the cost of
benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded
accrued liability.

Employees for the City of Bryan were required to contribute 7% of their annual gross earnings
during the fiscal year. The contribution rates for the City of Bryan were 16.20% and 15.50% in
calendar years 2014 and 2015, respectively. The City’s contributions to TMRS for the year ended
September 30, 2015 were $7,686,872, and were equal to the required contributions.
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Net Pension Liability

The city’s Net Pension Liability (NPL) was measured as of December 31, 2014, and the Total Pension
Liability (TPL) used to calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as
of that date.

Actuarial assumptions:

The Total Pension Liability in the December 31, 2014 actuarial valuation was determined using the
following actuarial assumptions:

Inflation 3.0% per year

Overall payroll growth 3.0% per year

Investment Rate of Return 7.0%, net of pension plan investment expense, including
inflation

Salary increases were based on a service-related table. Mortality rates for active members, retirees,
and beneficiaries were based on the gender-distinct RP2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table,
with male rates multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied by 103%. The rates are projected
on a fully generational basis by scale BB to account for future mortality improvements. For disabled
annuitants, the gender-distinct RP2000 Disabled Retiree Mortality Table is used, with slight
adjustments.

Actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2014, valuation were based on the results of
actuarial experience studies. The experience study in TMRS was for the period January 1, 2006
through December 31, 2009, first used in the December 31, 2010 valuation. Healthy post-
retirement mortality rates and annuity purchase rates were updated based on a Mortality
Experience Investigation Study covering 2009 through 2011, and dated December 31, 2013. These
assumptions were first used in the December 31, 2013 valuation, along with a change to the Entry
Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost method. Assumptions are reviewed annually. No additional
changes were made for the 2014 valuation.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments is 7.0%. The pension plan’s
policy in regard to the allocation of invested assets is established and may be amended by the
TMRS Board of Trustees. Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with an emphasis on
both capital appreciation as well as the production of income, in order to satisfy the short-term
and long-term funding needs of TMRS.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a
building-block method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by
weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of
return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:
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Target Long-Term Expected Real Rate
Allocation of Return (Arithmetic)
Domestic Equity 17.5% 4.80%
International Equity 17.5% 6.05%
Core Fixed Income 30.0% 1.50%
Non-Core Fixed Income 10.0% 3.50%
Real Return 5.0% 1.75%
Real Estate 10.0% 5.25%
Absolute Return 5.0% 4.25%
Private Equity 5.0% 8.50%

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the Total Pension Liability was 7.0%. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee and employer contributions will be made
at the rates specified in statute. Based on that assumption, the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position
was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and
inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments
was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the Total Pension Liability.
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Changes in the Net Pension Liability

Total Pension  Plan Fiduciary Net Net Pension
Liability (a) Position (b) Liability (a) - (b)
Balance at 12/31/2013 $ 263,183,703 S 224,239,250 S 38,944,453
Changes for the year:
Service Cost 7,088,933 - 7,088,933
Interest 18,281,849 - 18,281,849

Change of benefit terms - - -

Difference between expected and actual experience

Changes of assumptions

(1,764,543)

(1,764,543)

Contributions - employer - 7,667,195 (7,667,195)
Contributions - employee - 3,312,987 (3,312,987)
Net investment income - 12,827,812 (12,827,812)
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee
contributions (11,117,789) (11,117,789) -
Administrative expense - (133,929) 133,929
Other changes - (11,011) 11,011
Net changes 12,488,450 12,545,265 (56,815)
Balance at 12/31/2014 $275,672,153 S 236,784,515 S 38,887,638

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 7.0%,
as well as what the City’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is
1-percentage-point lower (6.0%) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.0%) than the current rate:

1% Increase in
Discount Rate
(8.0%)

$5,450,213

1% Decrease in
Discount Rate
(6.00%)

$79,923,757

Discount Rate
(7.0%)

City’s net pension liability $38,887,638

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in a separately-issued
TMRS financial report. That report may be obtained on the Internet at www.tmrs.com.
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Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to

Pensions

For the year ended September 30, 2015 the city recognized pension expense of $6,701,830.

At September 30, 2015 the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of

resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Differences between expected and actual economic experience

Changes in actuarial assumptions

Difference between projected and actual investment earnings

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date
Total

Deferred Outflows
of Resources

Deferred Inflows
of Resources

S - S 1,386,599
2,295,148 -
5,530,875 -

S 7,826,023 1,386,599

$5,530,875 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability for
the year ending September 30, 2016. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
Thereafter
Total

10. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Year Ended December 31

S 195,843
195,843
195,843
321,020
$ 908,549

The City established the Employee Benefits Trust Fund effective October 1, 1986, covering health
benefits for eligible employees. At that time the Council approved a formal trust agreement
establishing the Fund. Employee premium costs are shared by the City and the employee, while
dependent coverage is paid by the employee. The City’s contract with its third party administrator
and reinsurer sets an individual stop loss deductible in the amount of $150,000 and a maximum
aggregate stop loss deductible of $6,788,366 for the twelve month period which began January 1,
2015 and ends December 31, 2015. These stop loss levels apply to medical coverage only.
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11.

Prescription drug and dental coverage is not included. There were no significant reductions in
insurance coverage in the current year from coverage in the prior year. For the City’s aggregate stop
loss coverage, there have been no settlements that have exceeded insurance coverage for the past
three calendar years. However, the City has paid out $178,272 for calendar year 2013, $116,383 for
calendar year 2014, and $282,458 for calendar year 2015 to date in settlements that exceed
insurance coverage applicable to individual stop loss coverage.

The following schedule represents the changes in claims liabilities for the year:

FY 2015 FY 2014
Beginning balance unpaid claims S 859,163 $ 1,010,988
Incurred claims 8,047,486 6,667,978
Claim payments (7,910,931) (6,819,803)
Ending balance unpaid claims S 995,718 S 859,163
Amounts due in one year S 995,718 S 859,163

OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Effective January 1, 1991, by action of the City Council, the City began offering post-retirement
health care benefits to employees. Effective January 1, 1993, retiree spouses were granted
eligibility for benefits. Dependents were granted eligibility effective January 1, 1994. This plan is a
single employer defined benefit, other post-employment benefit plan. A separate, audited GAAP-
basis post-employment benefit plan report is not available.

To qualify for healthcare an employee must be at least 60 years of age and have five years of TMRS
service credit or have at least 20 years of service credit. In order to be eligible, employees must
elect to retire at time of separation, must elect in writing to continue health benefits coverage at the
time of separation, and must pay the appropriate premium. Coverage can continue for life.

Employees terminating before normal retirement conditions are not eligible for retiree health
coverage. Employees who retire under a disability retirement are not eligible for retiree health
coverage.

Eligible retirees may continue health insurance benefits for eligible spouses and dependents covered
at the time of retirement. A dependent not covered under the plan at this time is not eligible for
coverage. If the retiree elects to continue coverage for any dependent and on any subsequent date
elects to discontinue coverage, the dependent is no longer eligible for coverage.

Survivors of employees who die while actively employed are not eligible for retiree health coverage.
However, surviving spouses and dependents of Texas public officers (as defined by Texas
Government Code, Chapter 615) killed in the line of duty are entitled to purchase continued health
insurance benefits. The surviving spouse is entitled to continue to purchase health insurance
coverage until the date the surviving spouse becomes eligible for federal Medicare benefits.

72



City of Bryan, Texas
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015

Surviving dependent minor children are entitled to continue health insurance coverage until the
dependent reaches the age of 18 years or a later date to the extent required by state or federal law.
A surviving dependent who is not a minor child is entitled to continue health insurance coverage
until the earlier of: (1) the date the dependent becomes eligible for group health insurance through
another employer or (2) the date the dependent becomes eligible for federal Medicare benefits.
Eligible survivors are entitled to purchase the continued coverage at the group rate for that
coverage that exists at the time of payment.

Surviving covered spouses and dependents of deceased retired employees may continue health care
coverage for up to 36 months through COBRA.

Once the retiree or spouse is enrolled in Medicare, the City’s plan becomes the secondary payer.
Retiree is responsible for payment of any Medicare premiums. The City does not provide any cash
payment in lieu of electing the City’s health care plan. Retirees who do not elect to continue coverage
at time of separation are not eligible to opt back in.

The City does not offer life insurance coverage for retirees or their dependents. Employees who retire
are eligible to convert their group life insurance coverage to a Whole Life Policy without accidental
death and dismemberment until the employee reaches age 100 or a Group Term Life with AD&D until
the employee reaches age 70.

The City’s health care plan includes medical, dental, and prescription coverage. Retiree health plan
coverage is the same as coverage provided to active City employees in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the current City of Bryan Health Plan. The City also offers a fully insured optional
vision plan that retirees and their dependents may purchase. The City reserves the right to modify
premium amounts, to modify eligibility requirements and to modify or discontinue retiree health
benefits.

In the year ended September 30, 2015, retirees paid $626,963 in premiums and $1,329,277 in claims
were paid for post-retirement health care and administrative charges. As of September 30, 2015,
the City has 35 retirees, 39 retirees and spouses, 7 retirees and families and 4 retirees and child(ren)
participating in the health plan, out of the 403 employees eligible to participate upon retirement.
Expenses are recognized as retirees submit claims.

The City also provides health benefits as required by the Federal Government under the
Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (“COBRA”). COBRA requires employers
that sponsor group health plans to provide continuation of group coverage to employees and their
dependents under certain circumstances where coverage would otherwise end. Terminated
employees who qualify under COBRA pay premium costs for themselves and dependents.

Expenses are recognized as claims when submitted. COBRA participants are reimbursed at the same
levels as active employees. Participants paid premiums of $9,143 and incurred claims and
administrative expenses of $20,649 during the year ended September 30, 2015. As of September
30, 2015, the City has 2 COBRA participants.
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Future year estimated claims for all health plan participants are actuarially determined by the
reinsurer. All assets of the Employee Benefits Trust Fund are available for future claim payments for
health plan participants.

Prior to January 1, 2010, all retirees electing health plan coverage received a health premium
subsidy averaging 40%. Beginning January 1, 2010, the City implemented new eligibility
requirements for subsidized retiree premiums. The new eligibility requirements require retirees to
meet the ‘Rule of 80’ (sum of age plus years of service at retirement must equal to at least 80), in
order to receive the subsidized retiree premium. Retirees not meeting the ‘Rule of 80" may still
elect the City’s retiree health plan coverage, but will not receive a subsidy.

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting
and Financial Reporting for Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions, which
establishes standards for the measurement, recognition and display of other postemployment
benefit expenditures and related liabilities, and note disclosures in the financial report. Basically,
public-sector employers must accrue the cost of other postemployment benefits (OPEB) over the
active service life of benefiting employees. This statement was effective for the City for the fiscal
year ending September 30, 2008.

Funding Policy and Annual OPEB Cost

The City’s annual other post-employment benefits (OPEB) cost is calculated based on the annual
required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with
the parameter of GASB Statement No. 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an
ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and to amortize any unfunded actuarial
liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed thirty years. The City had its most recent
OPEB valuation performed as of December 31, 2013, as required by GASB. The City’s annual OPEB
cost for the current year and prior two years is as follows:

FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2013
Annual required contribution (ARC) $ 900,753 $ 874517 $ 975,990
Interest on OPEB obligation 126,299 96,503 73,122
Adjustment to ARC (117,015) (89,409) (44,631)
Annual OPEB cost 910,042 881,611 1,004,481
Contributions made (702,316) (219,484) (484,903)
Increase (decrease) in net OPEB obligation 207,726 662,127 519,578
Net OPEB obligation, beginning of year 2,806,638 2,144,511 1,624,933
Net OPEB obligation/(asset), end of year $ 3,014,364 $ 2,806,638 $ 2,144,511

The City’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan and the net
OPEB obligation for fiscal year ending September 30, 2015, and the preceding two fiscal years were
as follows:
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Employer
Fiscal Annual Amount Percentage Net OPEB
Year OPEB Cost Contributed Contributed Obligation
2013 S 1,004,481 S 484,903 48.3% $ 2,144,511
2014 881,611 219,484 24.9% 2,806,638
2015 910,042 702,316 77.2% 3,014,364

Funding status and funding progress

The City had actuarial valuations performed as of December 31, 2013, December 31, 2011,
December 31, 2009, and May 31, 2008. The funded status of the City’s retiree health care plan,
under GASB Statement No. 45, is as follows:

FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2013
Actuarial value of plan assets S - S - S -
Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) 10,704,428 10,704,428 11,860,133
Unfunded AAL (10,704,428)  (10,704,428)  (11,860,133)
Funded Ratio - - -
Covered Payroll 48,991,679 46,907,165 46,141,173
UAAL as a % of Covered Payroll 22% 23% 26%

Under the reporting parameters, the City’s retiree health care plan is 0% funded with an estimated
actuarial accrued liability exceeding actuarial assets by $10,704,428 at December 31, 2013.

Actuarial methods and assumptions

The Projected Unit Credit actuarial cost method is used to calculate the GASB ARC for the City’s
retiree health care plan. Using the plan benefits, the present health premiums and a set of actuarial
assumptions, the anticipated future payments are projected. The entry age normal method then
provides for a systematic recognition of the cost of these anticipated payments. The yearly ARC is
computed to cover the cost of benefits being earned by covered members as well as to amortize a
portion of the unfunded accrued liability.

Projections of health benefits are based on the plan as understood by the City and include the types
of benefits in force at the valuation date and the pattern of sharing benefit costs between the City
and the City’s employees to that point. Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective and
employ methods and assumptions that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial
accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets. Significant methods and assumptions were as
follows:
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12.

Inflation rate - 3.00% perannum

Investment rate of return - 4.50%, net of expenses

Actuarial cost method - Projected Unit Credit Cost Method
Amortization method - Level as a percentage of employee payroll
Amortization period - 30-year, open amortization

Payroll growth - 3.00% perannum

Healthcare cost trend rate - Initial rate of 7.50% declining to an ultimate

rate of 5.00% after 10 years

Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the
probability of events in the future. Amounts determined regarding the funded status and the
annual required contributions of the City’s retiree health care plan are subject to continual revision
as actual results are compared to past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.
The required schedule of funding progress presented as required supplementary information
provides multiyear trend information that shows whether the actuarial value of plan assets is
increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits.

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal
Revenue Code Section 457. The plan, as amended, is available to all employees, and permits them
to defer a portion of their salary until future years. The plan funds are not available to employees
until termination, retirement, death, or emergency.

All amounts of compensation deferred under the plan (until paid or made available to the employee
or other beneficiary) were placed in trust for the exclusive benefit of the participants and the
beneficiaries. This is in accordance with changes made to Section 457 of the Internal Revenue Code.
Since the City is no longer the Plan Administrator or the trustee, the assets of the Plan are no longer
a reportable fund in the City’s basic financial statements.

Similar to the Section 457, the City of Bryan offered its employees the Retiree Health Savings (RHS)
Plan. The plan allowed employees to make pre-tax contributions from their salary or accrued leave
time to fund medical expenses for employees and their family on a tax-free basis during retirement.
Once an employee elected to participate, this cannot ever be changed or revoked unless there is
employment separation.

Like the Section 457, all amounts of compensation deferred under the plan (until paid or made
available to the employee or other beneficiary) were placed in trust for the exclusive benefit of the
participants and the beneficiaries. The City is not the Plan Administrator or the trustee; therefore,
the assets of the Plan are not a reportable fund in the City’s basic financial statements.
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13. TEXAS MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY

The Texas Municipal Power Agency (“TMPA”) was created in July 1975 by concurrent ordinances of
the Texas cities of Bryan, Denton, Garland, and Greenville (“Cities”) pursuant to Acts 1995 64th Leg.
Ch. 143, sec 1 (the “Act”). Under the provisions of the Act, TMPA is a separate municipal
corporation. TMPA is exempt from federal income tax under section 115 of the Internal Revenue
code.

In September 1976, TMPA entered into identical Power Sales Contracts (the “Contract”) with each of
the Cities for the purpose of obtaining the economic advantages of jointly financing, constructing
and operating large electric generating units and related facilities to supply the Cities’ future energy
needs. Under the Contract, the Cities are required to pay, for the benefits received or to be received
by them from such activities, an amount sufficient to recover TMPA’s operating and maintenance
expenses and the Bond Fund, Reserve Fund and Contingency Fund requirements of the Revenue
Bond Resolutions. In addition, the Cities are obligated to guarantee the payment of TMPA’s bonds
and commercial paper. At September 30, 2015, the City’s portion of outstanding TMPA bonds and
commercial paper was approximately $119.9 million and $18.7 million, respectively.

As originally written in 1976, the Contract was a requirements contract, which obligated the Cities,
with certain exceptions, to purchase their wholesale electricity requirements from TMPA. In 1997,
the Contract was amended and converted from a requirements contract to a take-or-pay contract,
under which each City is obligated to take or pay for a specified percentage of electricity from
TMPA’s generating facility. Those percentages are Bryan 21.7%; Denton 21.3%; Garland 47%; and
Greenville 10%. The amendment confirmed the Cities’ obligations to pay all costs of TMPA.

TMPA operates the Gibbons Creek Steam Electric Station (“Gibbons Creek”), a coal-fired generating
plant located in Grimes County, Texas with a net generating capability of 462 MW. The plant began
commercial operation October 1, 1983.

Under the current debt structure, all generation debt will be paid off by September 1, 2018, causing
the Power Sales Contract to expire on that same date. Thereafter, all remaining debt will be
transmission debt, payable solely from transmission system revenues. TMPA and the Cities are
developing a plan in relation to the ownership, operational, and contractual issues associated with
TMPA following September 1, 2018.

During the year ended September 30, 2015, the City Electric System (BTU) paid TMPA $49,561,344
for power purchases and related activity under the contract. As of September 30, 2015 BTU had
payables to TMPA amounting to $1,189,070.

The TMPA’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the year ended September 30, 2015
reported the following:
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14.

FY 2015

Total Assets S 826,228,000
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 9,471,000
Total Liabilities 801,623,000
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources -
Total Net Position S 34,076,000
Change in Net Position

for year ended September 30, 2015 S 6,867,000

TMPA’s audited financial statements may be obtained by writing TMPA, P.O. Box 7000, Bryan, TX
77805.

BRAZOS VALLEY SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT AGENCY

In 2010, the City Councils of Bryan and College Station approved, through an interlocal agreement,
the creation of a local government corporation, BVYSWMA, Inc., which currently owns and manages
landfill operations for both Cities. The expectation was that a combined landfill operation will
minimize solid waste management costs for both Cities. BVSWMA, Inc. superseded a previous
agreement established in 1990 which combined landfill operations under the then newly created
Brazos Valley Solid Waste Management Agency (BVSWMA). The powers of BVSWMA, Inc. are
vested in a seven member Board of Directors, consisting of appointees from each City Council.

The bylaws for BVSWMA, Inc., establish powers that include the issuance of debt, acquisition of land
and equipment, the hiring of a general manager and staff to maintain and operate the facilities and
the establishment of tipping fees. BVSWMA, Inc., revenues are derived from tipping fees paid by
landfill customers that include the Cities of Bryan and College Station, other unaffiliated businesses
and the general public.

BVSWMA, Inc. owns two landfill sites. The initial landfill site known as Rock Prairie Landfill, located
in College Station, was closed in 2011 as it reached operating capacity. The Twin Oaks Landfill,
located in Grimes County, was opened in 2011 and has an expected capacity of over 50 years.

In 2010, the City issued 55,145,000 in Certificates of Obligation, Series 2010 to finance the
construction of the Twin Oaks Landfill site. BVSWMA has agreed to pay the City an amount equal to
the future debt service requirements of these certificates of obligation. At September 30, 2015 the
City reported a receivable in the amount of $4,150,000 of which $230,000 is due and payable to the
City within one year.

The City of Bryan and the City of College Station each recognize a 50% ownership in BYSWMA, Inc.
The City of Bryan’s 50% ownership is reflected in the Solid Waste Fund.

BVSWMA'’s audited annual financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2015 reported
the following:
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Total Assets
Total Liabilities
Total Net Position

Change in net position for the year ended September 30, 2015

Bryan's undivided 50% share of changes in net position
for the year ended September 30, 2015

FY 2015
S 40,870,977
13,693,361
S 27,177,616
S 1,358,643
S 679,322

Audited financial statements for BVSWMA, Inc. may be obtained from:

BVSWMA, Inc.
2690 Hwy. 30
Anderson, TX 77830
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15. INTERFUND BALANCES

Interfund receivable and payable balances at September 30, 2015 are as follows:

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount
City Electric General S 52,520
Nonmajor governmental General 94,111
Nonmajor governmental City Electric 167,606
City Electric Rural 4,858,109
Water City Electric 466,132
Wastewater City Electric 337,955
Nonmajor enterprise funds City Electric 224,989
Internal service funds City Electric 95,360
General City Electric 25,314
General Nonmajor governmental 209,736
General Internal service 36,776
Total S 6,568,608

Interfund receivable and payable balances result from the time lag between the dates that interfund
goods and services are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur. Transactions are recorded in
the accounting system and payments between funds are made. The interfund balances presented
agree with the sum of interfund balances in the balance sheet for governmental funds and

statement of net position for proprietary funds.
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16. INTERFUND TRANSFERS

Interfund transfers for the year ended September 30, 2015 are as follows:

Transfers Out

Nonmajor City Nonmajor
General Governmental Electric Water Wastewater Enterprise
Transfers In Fund Funds Fund Fund Fund Funds Total
General Fund S - S 300,000 S 11,411,380 S 612,491 $ 639,191 $ 2,340,506 $15,303,568
Debt Service 195,742 2,223,094 - - - - 2,418,836
Nonmajor govern-
mental funds 405,000 - - - - - 405,000
Water Fund 32,567 - - 32,567
Wastewater Fund - - - - - 34,500 34,500
Nonmajor enter-prise
funds 181,348 - - 29,468 5,563 - 216,379
Total transfers out S 814,657 $ 2,523,094 S 11,411,380 $ 641,959 S 644,754 $ 2,375,006 $18,410,850

Transfers are primarily used to move funds from:

o The proprietary funds to the General Fund for use of City owned rights-of-way and as
payments in lieu of property taxes

e The proprietary funds to the Debt Service Fund as payments in lieu of property taxes

e The Capital Project Funds to the Water and Wastewater Funds as incidental utility system
improvements made relative to street and drainage capital improvement projects

e The Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Funds to the Debt Service Fund and Bryan Commerce
and Development, Inc. for debt service payments as they become due

e Funds that are no longer needed and are closed by transferring all balances to other
appropriate funds

The sum of all transfers presented agrees with the sum of interfund transfers presented in the
governmental and proprietary fund financial statements.
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17. ADMINISTRATIVE ALLOCATIONS TO OTHER FUNDS

The General Fund provides general and administrative support services to the City Electric Fund,
Rural Electric Fund, Water Fund, Wastewater Fund, Solid Waste Fund, Insurance Fund, TIRZ funds,
Special Projects Fund, Employee Benefits Fund, Bryan Commerce and Development Fund, and
Coulter Airfield Fund. Costs of these services are allocated as follows:

General Fund

Administrative costs allocated to:

City Electric Fund S 868,591
Water Fund 668,809
Wastewater Fund 693,703
Nonmajor Enterprise Fund (Solid Waste Fund) 560,427
Internal Service Fund (Insurance Fund) 191,589
Street Improvement 116,310
Drainage Fund 61,500
Employee Benefits Fund 138,650
Warehouse Fund 70,019
Bryan Commerce & Development 36,374
Coulter Airfield Fund 70,468

S 3,476,440

18. DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND UNEARNED REVENUE

The balance of deferred inflows of resources and unearned revenues at September 30, 2015
consists of the following:

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources Unearned Totals
Delinquent property taxes receivable (General Fund) S 82,743 S - S 82,743
Delinquent property taxes receivable (Debt Service Fund) 34,939 - 34,939
Street and drainage assessments receivable (General Fund) 115,056 - 115,056
Notes receivable (Debt Service fund) - 450,000 450,000
WasteWater unearned revenue - 82,466 82,466
Nonmajor governmental funds 81,804 - 81,804
Total S 314,542 S 532,466 S 847,008
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19.

20.

LITIGATION

There are several lawsuits pending in which the City is involved. In the event of an unfavorable
outcome in any suit, in management’s opinion, a claim against the City would be covered by
insurance or funds available in the Insurance Fund and would not materially affect the financial
statements of the City.

RISK MANAGEMENT

In fiscal year 1989, the City decided not to purchase commercial liability insurance. At that time,
City management believed that it was more economical to manage liability risks internally and set
aside assets for the payment of claims in an internal service fund. The “Insurance Fund” was
established to service all claims for risk of losses relating to general liability and workers’
compensation.

In fiscal year 1994, the City began purchasing excess liability insurance to reduce its exposure to
catastrophic losses. Liability insurance providing a $5,000,000 limit per occurrence/$5,000,000
aggregate limit for general, auto, public officials, and police liability with a $500,000 self-insured
retention for claims was purchased with coverage effective October 1, 2015. Worker’s
compensation coverage is provided at $20,000,000 with $2,500,000 retention. There have been no
settlements that have exceeded insurance coverage for each of the past three fiscal years.

All funds of the City participate in the Insurance Fund. The costs of providing claims servicing and
claims payment are allocated by charging each fund a “premium” based upon a percentage of the
respective fund’s estimated current-year payroll and expenses and management’s estimate of
projected current costs. These charges consider exposure and recent trends in actual claims
experience of the City as a whole and make provision for catastrophic losses.

The Insurance Fund liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the
amount of that loss can be reasonably estimated. The City has recorded a potential liability in the
amount of $1,755,468 for claims that have been incurred but not reported as of September 30,
2015. Because actual claims liabilities depend on such complex factors as changes in legal doctrines
and damage awards, the process used in computing liability does not necessarily result in an exact
amount. Claims liabilities are reevaluated periodically to take into consideration recently settled
claims, the frequency of claims and other economic and social factors.
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The schedule below represents the changes in estimated claims liabilities:

2015 2014
Unpaid claims at beginning of fiscal year S 1,763,344 S 1,330,320
Incurred claims 520,171 888,152
Claim payments (528,047) (455,128)
Total unpaid claims at end of fiscal year S 1,755,468 S 1,763,344
Amounts due in one year S 769,321 S 662,593

Texas law limits recovery, under legislatively defined governmental functions, to $500,000 per
occurrence. Claims proceeding from proprietary functions are not limited.

21. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Traditions Development

In 1999, the City embarked on a major development program for the City’s west side encompassing
approximately 850 acres. The City identified the land for possible development, located in Brazos
County east of Highway 47 and south of Villa Maria Road. The City believed that a legitimate public
interest would be served by purchasing this land and that economic development would be
stimulated by developing this land into a first class resort, golf course, and planned community
known as the Bryan Resort Project (subsequently known as the Traditions Development).

As a result, the City and Jordan Community Properties, L.P. entered into a Master Economic
Development Agreement (MEDA) on November 2, 1999. One of the provisions of the MEDA was for
the City to create a local government corporation to aid the City in completion of certain provisions
in the MEDA. The local government corporation created was Bryan Commerce and Development,
Incorporated (BCDI). BCDI purchased the land, identified by the City, for development. The City
agreed to provide public infrastructure improvements including all major arterial streets, all major
utilities including electrical, gas, water, sewer, telephone, cable, drainage structures, water delivery
systems, street lighting, landscaping of median entryways, all signhage for the project, traffic signals,
entryway structures, and lighting necessary for the project.

The partnership between BCDI and Jordan Community Properties, L.P. was named Bryan/Jordan
L.P. (subsequently known as Bryan/Traditions, L.P.). Bryan/Jordan L.P. was formed as a limited
partnership, on October 26, 2000, under the laws of the State of Texas. The partners in
Bryan/Jordan L.P. were CFJ Properties, Inc., a Texas corporation and the general partner, BCDI, a
Texas local government corporation, a limited partner, and Jordan Community Properties, L.P., a
Texas limited partnership and a limited partner. The partnership interest was as follows: 1%, 55%
and 44% for Jordan Properties, Inc. or an affiliate thereof, Jordan L.P. and BCDI, respectively.
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The purpose of Bryan/Jordan L.P. was to develop a portion of the land, purchased by BCDI, into a
planned community, including a residential community and a commercial development. This
community would become known as Traditions. In order for Bryan/Jordan L.P. to develop the land,
BCDI would periodically contribute portions of the land, as a partnership contribution, to
Bryan/Jordan, L.P. by a special warranty deed.

Several changes to the original partnership agreement have taken place since October 26, 2000.
The following is a history of the changes that have occurred.

On February 24, 2004, the partnership agreement was amended to reflect the change in names of
certain partners. CFJ Properties, Inc. was now known as Rosemel Properties, Inc. and Jordan
Community Properties, L.P. was now known as Melrose Community Properties, L.P. In addition, the
name of the partnership was changed from Bryan/Jordan, L.P. to Bryan/Traditions, L.P.

On February 25, 2009, the partnership agreement, was amended and restated (Amendment) to
reflect certain changes. Traditions Acquisition Partnership, GP, LLC, a Texas limited liability
company, acquired the general partnership interest originally owned by CFJ Properties, Inc. and
subsequently known as Rosemel Properties, Inc. Traditions Acquisition Partnership GP, a Texas
limited partnership, acquired the limited partnership interest originally owned by Jordan
Community Properties, Inc. subsequently known as Melrose Community Properties, L.P. Concurrent
with the Amendment, Traditions Acquisition Partnership, L.P. agreed to acquire a group of loans
payable from Bryan/Traditions, L.P. and payable to M&I Bank, relating to the Melrose entities, with
a balance at the closing date was $1,840,432. Traditions Acquisition Partnership, L.P. executed a
release, that released the guarantors from their respective obligations for the loan from M&I Bank
to Bryan/Traditions, L.P. In consideration for Traditions Acquisition Partnership, L.P.’s contribution,
the Amendment specified the deeding of 34 existing lots, within the Traditions Development, from
Bryan/Traditions, L.P. to Traditions Acquisition Partnership.

Other special provisions of the Amendment provided that:

e BCDI agrees to provide funding for the construction of a future bridge, roadways or other
infrastructure as future development occurs.

e Upon Traditions Acquisition Partnership’s completion of a club house to certain
specifications, additional provisions were activated. Traditions Acquisition Partnership
completed the club house as specified in the Agreement on March 1, 2011. The subsequent
provisions included that Traditions Acquisition Partnership is entitled to receive the first
$150,000 of the net sales proceeds of each of the next 20 lots developed by
Bryan/Traditions, L.P., and additionally, that Traditions Acquisition Partnership has the
option to purchase 50 acres of BCDI land known as Parcel 35 for $1. If they choose to
exercise the option to purchase Parcel 35, they forgo a number of construction
commitments by the City.

Except as noted above, the partnership interest is: 1%, 55% and 44% for Traditions Acquisition
Partnership, GP, LLC, Traditions Acquisition Partnership GP and BCDI, respectively, on lot sales and
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25% and 75% for Traditions Acquisition Partnership GP and BCDI, respectively, on larger parcel
sales.

In 2000, the City approved an Ordinance creating Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone Ten (TIRZ Ten).
TIRZ Ten, which includes most of the Traditions Development, funds public infrastructure
improvements as further described in Note 26.

In September 2014, the City of Bryan entered into economic development agreements with Atlas
Hotel, L.P., and Traditions Acquisitions Partnership, L.P., related to the Traditions development. The
agreements provide funding of $6,000,000 for a hotel conference center and the immediately
surrounding infrastructure including roadways, utilities, landscaping, street lighting and other
improvements to be funded solely by available TIRZ Ten revenues. A separate agreement provides
up to $2,250,000 from Hotel/Motel Tax revenues collected from the Atlas Hotel operations for
qualifying expenses.

The Traditions Development currently includes a Jack Nicklaus designed golf course and an 800 acre
high end housing development. At September 30, 2015, BCDI holds approximately 280 acres under
the Agreement that remain to be developed. The Partnership is expected to stay operational until
all Partnership property is sold. There is no debt outstanding related to land held by BCDI in the
Traditions development. The City anticipates that the proceeds from BCDI’s portion of future land
sales will exceed the cost of future City infrastructure required by the Traditions Development.

City of Bryan and Brazos County Economic Development Foundation Inc.

In 2009, the City of Bryan and Brazos County entered into an agreement to create the City of Bryan
and Brazos County Economic Development Foundation Inc. (“BBCEDF”), a local government
corporation formed under Subchapter D of Chapter 431 of the Texas Transportation Code. The
BBCEDF was created to promote, develop, encourage and maintain employment, commerce, and
economic development in the City and the County. In 2009, the BBCEDF purchased 191 acres of
land in north Brazos County to be developed as a business park. In March 2012, the BBCEDF
entered into an option agreement which gave the BBCEDF the right to purchase up to 724 adjacent
acres. The business park, known as the Texas Triangle Park, is primarily the focus for economic
development for the BBCEDF.

In April 2013, the BBCEDF entered into an Economic Development Agreement (EDA) with Kuadrum
Pipe and Tube, Inc. (Kuadrum) which was fulfilled by and with its affiliate corporation Axis Pipe and
Tube, Inc. (Axis). Per the terms of the EDA, the BBCEDF and the City sold approximately 160 and 23
acres, respectively, to Axis to build a manufacturing facility. In addition, the BBCEDF will provide
$7,150,000 in development credits, the County will provide tax abatement and the City will provide
a non-annexation agreement. Axis is also required to meet certain criteria including, among other
items, purchasing additional land, achieving a particular taxable valuation and employing a
minimum number of full-time employees. If Axis fails to meet its obligations under the EDA, the
BBCEDF may terminate the EDA and tender a demand of $1,500,000. On January 1, 2015 Axis had
$179,046,540 in taxable value in Brazos County, in compliance with agreement terms. Additionally,
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in January 2015, Axis purchased 100 acres of land, satisfying its requirement to purchase from the
BBCEDF 60 acres by January 23, 2015.
The City of Bryan’s 50% ownership in BBCEDF is reflected on the Statement of Net Position as

Investment in Economic Development Foundation.

Research Valley BioCorridor

In December 2011, the Cities of Bryan and College Station (the Cities) adopted an inter-local
agreement (ILA) for the development of the Research Valley BioCorridor. The purpose of the
BioCorridor is to attract bio-related industries that develop life-changing medical technologies,
build tax base, and attract high-paying jobs and investment to the Cities. The ILA outlines a number
of ways the Cities will work together to create and manage an environment conducive for
development and growth of the BioCorridor. The agreement applies to four tracts of land totaling
approximately 196 acres owned by Bryan Commerce and Development, of which, approximately
147 acres are located in College Station.

The agreement provides for the joint construction and cost-sharing of HSC Parkway, the major
roadway within the BioCorridor, creation of joint development standards, ad valorem revenue
sharing on real and personal properties, sewer service to be provided by Bryan; Water service to be
provided by College Station and a swap of exclusive sewer service territories that enables each City
to more effectively provide service due to terrain and proximity to existing sewer systems.

In 2014, the City of Bryan completed construction of roadways and sewer improvements under the
agreement. Ad valorem taxes to be shared under the agreement are based on the lower of the
Cities of Bryan and College Station’s O&M tax rates, subject to a minimum rate of $0.24 per $100
valuation, and will be split on a 50/50 basis. No tax revenue sharing has occurred through
September 30, 2015.
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

As of September 30, 2015, the receivables not expected to be collected within one year are notes and
assessments receivable as follows:

General Debt Service
Fund Fund Total
Notes receivable S 16,519 S 4,150,000 S 4,166,519
Street and drainage assessments 115,056 - S 115,056
S 131,575 S 4,150,000 S 4,281,575

23. RESTRICTED CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS

Below is a reconciliation of the various restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments reported

as of September 30, 2015:

City Electric Rural Electric Wastewater
Fund Fund Water Fund Fund Total

Bond Retirement Reserve S 10,552,883 S 311,042 S - S - S 10,863,925
Bond Debt Service 5,351,474 247,576 1,445,962 2,295,772 9,340,784
Rate Stabilization Reserve 1,687,392 - - - 1,687,392
Customer Deposits Payable 4,094,526 1,021,128 - - 5,115,654
Over-Recovered Fuel Expense 2,173,575 - - - 2,173,575
Collateral Deposits 6,679,019 - - - 6,679,019
Capital Debt Proceeds 6,103,841 732,749 460,497 67,194 7,364,281

S 36,642,710 S 2,312,495 $1,906,459 S 2,362,966 S 43,224,630
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24. BUDGETARY EXPENDITURES IN EXCESS OF APPROPRIATIONS

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015 budgetary expenditures in excess of appropriations
are reported as indicated below:

Final Variance with
Budgeted Actual Final Budget -
Governmental Funds Amounts Amounts (Negative)
Grant Fund
Total expenditures S - S 135,339 S (135,339)
Debt Service Fund
Total expenditures 10,514,760 22,811,438 (12,296,678)
TIRZ 19- Nash Street Fund
Total expenditures 137,347 139,744 (2,397)
TIRZ 22- Lauth Development Fund
Total expenditures 495,179 512,513 (17,334)
Self Insurance Fund
Total expenditures 2,268,800 2,476,460 (207,660)
Employee Benefits Fund
Total expenditures 8,867,756 9,907,289 (1,039,533)

For the fiscal year ended 30, 2015, the Grant fund exceeded budget by $135,339 mainly due to
expenditures of grant funds for police and fire equipment made during the year. The department
had grant revenue and fund balance available to cover the expenditures.

Total expenditures in the Debt Service fund exceed budget by $12,296,678 due to the cost
associated with the 2015 GO refunding issue. The refunding bonds produce a net interest cost
savings over their life.

Total expenditures in the TIRZ 19 exceeded budget by $2,397 due to higher than budgeted debt
service cost.

Total expenditures in the TIRZ 22 exceeded budget by $17,334 due to higher than budgeted debt
service cost.

Total expenditures in the Self Insurance fund exceeded budget by $207,660 due to higher than
budgeted worker’s compensation and liability claims.

Total expenditures in the Employee Benefits fund exceeded budget by $1,039,522 due to higher
than budgeted health insurance claims.
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25. FUND DEFICITS

The Community Development Fund, a Special Revenue Fund, has a deficit unassigned fund balance
as of September 31, 2015 in the amount of $9,354. This is a result of expenditures incurred in
advance of processing the related grant requests. The City will submit grant fund requests to cover
the fund deficit in fiscal year 2016.

26. TAXINCREMENT FINANCING ZONES

Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code allows for the creation of Tax Increment Financing Zones
(“TIFZ”). TIFZ are statutory tools available to municipalities in Texas to promote development or
redevelopment in an area that would not occur in the foreseeable future solely through private
investment. TIFZ are also a means to allow a community to enhance their ability to attract
economic development or to allow businesses currently located within their area to expand. Once
a City has designated a TIFZ, the governing bodies of the county and school district may choose to
participate.

When a TIFZ is formed, a base value for the property located within the TIFZ is established. At the
date of creation the appraised value is normally accepted as the base value. As the property within
the TIFZ develops, property taxes are collected based upon appreciated appraised values at the
rate established annually by the participating entities. Each participant in the TIFZ remits the
amount of taxes attributable to the increase in the appraised values to the Tax Increment Financing
Zone to be used to fund the project plan. Project plans normally include the creation of
infrastructure such as roads, street improvements, water and sewer systems, lighting, landscaping,
etc. A TIFZ can be terminated either on the date designated in the ordinance creating the zone, or
the date on which all project costs, tax increment debt, and associated interest have been paid.

As of September 30, 2015, the City had four active Tax Increment Financing Zones:

Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #10: In 2000, the City approved an ordinance creating a TIRZ
known as “Reinvestment Zone Number Ten, City of Bryan, Texas” (“Zone Ten”). Zone Ten
encompasses a portion of the west side of the City in the area known as Traditions. The
development includes a Jack Nicklaus designed golf course and an 800-acre high end housing
development. Through the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015, the City estimates that it has
funded $22.0 million in public infrastructure improvements and associated costs within Zone Ten.
Combination Tax and Surplus Utility System Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 20004, in the
aggregate principal amount of $17,000,000 were issued by the City to provide funds to commence
certain of the public infrastructure improvements. In 2005, the Series 2000A bonds were refunded
through the City’s issuance of $13,696,712 of General Obligation refunding bonds. In 2015, the
2005 GO Ref bonds were refunded through the City’s issuance of $12,150,000 of General Obligation
refunding bonds. The outstanding debt balance as of September 30, 2105 is $7,965,728 with debt
service payments through 2025. The City contributes all of its incremental tax revenues to Zone
Ten. Brazos County has agreed to allow 80% of its maintenance and operations rate to be diverted
to Zone Ten through 2025. Incremental ad valorem property taxes provided 111% of the debt
service payments in FY 2015.
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Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #19: In 2005, the City approved an ordinance creating a TIRZ
known as “Reinvestment Zone Number Nineteen, City of Bryan, Texas” (“Zone Nineteen”). The
development consists of 122 acres in the central portion of the City of Bryan in the vicinity of Nash
Street. Through the fiscal year ended September 2015, the City estimates that it has funded $1.8
million in public infrastructure improvements and associated costs within Zone Nineteen. Tax and
Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2005, in the aggregate principal amount of $1,747,642
were issued by the City to provide funds to commence certain of the public infrastructure
improvements within Zone Nineteen. Subsequently, in 2007, the City issued Tax and Revenue
Certificates of Obligation, Series 2007, in the aggregate principal amount of $200,000 for TIRZ
Nineteen projects. In 2013 and 2014, the Series 2005 were refunded through the City’s issuance of
$1,534,542 of General Obligation refunding bonds. The outstanding debt balance as of September
30, 2105 is $1,280,042 with debt service payments through 2031. The City contributes all of its
incremental tax revenues to Zone Nineteen. Brazos County agreed to allow 100% of its
maintenance and operations rate to be diverted to Zone Nineteen through 2013. Incremental ad
valorem property taxes provided 91% of debt service payments in FY 2015.

Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #21: In 2006, the City approved an ordinance creating a TIRZ
known as “Reinvestment Zone Number Twenty-One, City of Bryan, Texas” (“Zone Twenty-One”).
Zone Twenty-One is located in Downtown Bryan and was created to support the re-development of
the Downtown district. Through the fiscal year ended September 2015, the City estimates that it
has funded $300,000 in public infrastructure improvements and associated costs within Zone
Twenty-One.

Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #22: In 2007, the City approved an ordinance creating a TIRZ
known as “Reinvestment Zone Number Twenty-Two, City of Bryan, Texas” (“Zone Twenty-Two”).
Zone Twenty-Two is a retail development on the east side of the City of Bryan in the vicinity of
Bryan Towne Center. Through the fiscal year ended September 2015, the City estimates that it has
funded $5.2 million in public infrastructure improvements and associated costs within Zone
Twenty-Two. Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2007, in the aggregate principal
amount of $3,721,414 were issued by the City to provide funds to commence certain of the public
infrastructure improvements within Zone Twenty-Two. Subsequently, in 2008, the City issued Tax
and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2008, in the aggregate principal amount of $287,914
for TIRZ Twenty-Two projects. In September 2013, bond funds of $1,481,500 were assigned to Zone
Twenty-Two from Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2010. The outstanding debt
balance as of September 30, 2105 is $4,251,274 with debt service payments through 2030. The City
contributes all of its incremental tax revenues to Zone Twenty-Two. Brazos County has agreed to
allow 100% of its maintenance and operations rate to be diverted to Zone Twenty-Two through
2023. Incremental ad valorem property taxes provided 105% of debt service payments in FY 2015.

The following schedule is a ten year history of relevant data with regard to these TIFZ:
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Net Tax Rate Captured
Zone/ Base Taxable Captured Per $100 Tax
Fiscal Year Value Value Value Valuation Revenue

#10

2015 637,640 178,967,116 $178,329,476 $0.629990 $1,123,458
2014 637,640 139,749,374 139,111,734 0.629990 876,390
2013 637,640 115,128,526 114,490,886 0.633308 725,080
2012 637,640 99,472,976 98,835,336 0.636400 628,988
2011 637,640 92,479,156 91,841,516 0.636400 584,479
2010 637,640 86,173,404 85,535,764 0.636400 544,350
2009 637,640 81,855,365 81,217,725 0.636400 516,870
2008 637,640 66,843,855 66,206,215 0.636400 421,336
2007 637,640 40,005,365 39,367,725 0.636400 250,536
2006 637,640 4,076,325 3,438,685 0.636400 21,884
#22

2015 2,464,400 33,898,290 31,433,890 0.629990 198,030
2014 2,464,400 27,947,440 25,483,040 0.629990 160,541
2013 2,464,400 24,662,080 22,197,680 0.633308 140,580
2012 2,464,400 25,047,040 22,582,640 0.636400 143,716
2011 2,038,090 27,353,460 25,315,370 0.636400 161,107
2010 2,038,090 29,254,110 27,216,020 0.636400 173,203
2009 2,038,090 8,388,060 6,349,970 0.636400 40,411
2008 2,038,090 2,038,090 - 0.636400 -
#19

2015 2,213,289 23,048,143 20,834,854 0.629990 131,257
2014 2,213,289 20,519,511 18,306,222 0.629990 115,327
2013 2,213,289 19,743,440 17,530,151 0.633308 111,020
2012 2,213,289 18,121,071 15,907,782 0.636400 101,237
2011 2,213,289 16,096,206 13,882,917 0.636400 88,351
2010 2,213,289 15,255,274 13,041,985 0.636400 82,999
2009 2,213,289 12,222,530 10,009,241 0.636400 63,699
2008 2,213,289 8,992,060 6,778,771 0.636400 43,140
2007 2,213,289 - - 0.636400 -
#21

2015 41,070,995 56,999,200 15,928,205 0.629990 100,346
2014 41,070,995 54,701,063 13,630,068 0.629990 85,868
2013 41,070,995 53,611,658 12,540,663 0.633308 79,421
2012 41,070,995 52,889,681 11,818,686 0.636400 75,214
2011 41,070,995 52,504,534 11,443,539 0.636400 72,827
2010 41,070,995 51,057,085 9,986,090 0.636400 63,551
2009 41,070,995 43,915,850 2,844,855 0.636400 18,105
2008 41,070,995 - - 0.636400 -
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27. TAXABATEMENTS

28.

Chapter 312 of the Texas Tax Code authorizes the City to provide property tax abatements for
limited time periods to encourage development or expansion of property. The terms of each
agreement are limited by the guidelines and criteria established by the City Council. At September
30, 2015 the City had established abatement agreements with the following property owners:

FY 2015 FY 2015 FY 2015 FY 2015 FY 2015
Date of Appraised Taxable Abated Taxes Taxes
Property Owner Abatement Values Values Values Levied Abated
Kent Moore 2008-2016  $4,515,160 $3,160,612 $1,354,548 $19,912 S 8,534
Penncro Associates 2011-2014 245,660 123,580 122,080 779 769
Woodbolt Distribution, LLC 2014-2023 6,154,050 1,393,920 4,760,130 8,782 29,988
Toyo Ink International 2008-2015 21,155,300 21,155,300 - 133,276 -

FINANCIAL HEDGING

On March 10, 2008, the City modified BTU’s Energy Risk Policy to allow for the purchase and sale of
certain financial instruments defined as hedge instruments. The essential goal of the Energy Risk
Policy is to provide a framework for the operation of a fuel and energy purchasing and hedging
program to better manage risk exposures in order to stabilize pricing and costs for the benefit of the
City’s customers.

The City applies GASB Statement No. 53 — Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative
Instruments (“GASB 53”), which addresses the recognition, measurement, and disclosures related to
derivative instruments. The City utilizes natural gas commodity swaps and options to hedge its
exposure to fluctuating fuel prices. Since these derivatives are entered into for risk mitigation
purposes, the instruments are considered potential hedging derivative instruments under GASB 53.

In accordance with the requirements of GASB 53, the City Electric Fund reports all fuel hedges on
the Statement of Net Position at fair value. The fair value of option contracts are determined using
New York Mercantile Exchange (“NYMEX”) or Houston Ship Channel (“HSC”) closing settlement
prices as appropriate to the instrument. For swap transactions, the value is calculated as the
difference between the closing futures price at the end of the reporting period, and the futures
price at the time the positions were established, less applicable commissions.

The City evaluated all potential hedging derivative instruments for effectiveness as of September 30,
2015, and determined the derivatives to be effective in substantially offsetting the changes in cash
flows of the hedgeable items. The City’s hedgeable items are expected HSC natural gas purchases to
serve budgeted load. The City projects total natural gas needs as part of a 10-year forecast. This
forecast is the basis for the procurement amount of the hedgeable item. The City’s potential
hedging derivatives are NYMEX and HSC indexed commodity swaps and options. These derivatives
act as cash flow hedges.
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The City utilized regression analysis to test effectiveness of its NYMEX hedges. Testing was based on
the extent of correlation between historical NYMEX index and HSC natural gas prices for the prompt
months of January 2003 to September 2015. The correlation coefficient of (0.8462) exceeds the
minimum standard established by GASB 53 and indicates a strong linear relationship between the
NYMEX and HSC prices. The calculated R® value of 0.9564 indicates that the changes in cash flows of
the hedge substantially offset the changes in cash flows of the hedgeable item. The City Electric
Fund also utilizes HSC indexed gas commodity swaps to hedge its open exposure after a NYMEX-
based swap contract month settles. The City Electric Fund entered into Platts Gas Daily daily swaps
to hedge this exposure. These HSC indexed swaps are hedging the physical purchases of natural gas
also based on the HSC index and are effective cash flow hedges under the consistent critical terms
method as defined by GASB 53. The swap is for the purchase of virtually the same quantity of the
hedgeable item, has zero fair value at inception, and the reference rate of the swap and the
hedgeable item are the same (HSC index).

For the fiscal year ended September 31, 2015, the total fair value of outstanding hedging derivative
instruments was a net liability of $17,801,026. The fair value of those instruments maturing within
one year are reported on the Statement of Net Position in current liabilities as derivative financial
instruments and were $6,009,018 at September 30, 2015. The fair value of those instruments with
maturities exceeding one year are reported on the Statement of Net Position in noncurrent liabilities
as derivative financial instruments and were $11,792,008 at September 30, 2015.

Hedge accounting treatment outlined in GASB 53 and GASB 63 requires changes in the fair value of
derivative instruments deemed effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of hedged items be
reported as deferred (inflows) outflows of resources on the Statement of Net Position. For the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2014, the fair value of the City’s Electric fund’s hedging derivative
instruments — NYMEX-based commaodity swaps — decreased by $1,083,731; which is reported in the
Statement of Net Position as a reduction of deferred outflows of resources. The deferred outflows
are reported until respective contract expirations occur in conjunction with hedged expected
physical fuel purchases. When fuel purchase transactions occur, the deferred balance associated
with the expired fuel hedging contract is recorded as an adjustment to fuel expense. At September
30, 2105 the deferred outflows of resources related to hedging derivatives were $17,801,026 and
are reported on the Statement of Net Position.

The following information details the City Electric Fund’s hedging derivative instruments as of
September 30, 2015:

Volume
Hedged Effective Maturity  Reference
Type Terms (MMBtu) Dates Dates Index Fair Value
BTU
Commaodity _ pay: se7goop OIS 02015 6)
rices o ,678, 801,
Swaps P Dec 2018  Dec 2018

$3.072-6.49

5,678,000 $ (17,801,026)
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29.

Fuel swap contracts represent a financial obligation to buy or sell the underlying settlement point
price. If held to expiration, as is the City’s policy, the financial difference determined by mark-to
market valuation must be settled on a cash basis.

Credit Risk — The City’s hedging derivative instruments generate exposure to a certain amount of risk
that could give rise to financial loss. Since current hedges have a net liability position, the City is not
exposed to counterparty credit risk. However, it is the City’s policy to require full collateralization of
the fair value of derivative instruments in asset positions should the counterparty’s credit ratings fall
below investment grade.

Basis Risk — The City is exposed to basis risk because the expected gas purchases being hedged will
settle based on a pricing point (HSC) different than the pricing point of the hedge transactions
(NYMEX). For September 2015, prompt month prices were $2.638/MMBtu and $2.614/MMBtu, for
NYMEX and HSC, respectively.

Termination Risk - Exposure to termination risk occurs because the City or its counterparties may
terminate a derivative instrument if the other party fails to perform under the terms of the contract.
The City’s fuel hedges are exchange-traded instruments, and consequently, termination risk is
mitigated by the rules and guidelines established by NYMEX, which is governed by the Commodity
Futures Trade Commission.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On October 1, 2015, BTU implemented phase two of a three phase electric rate adjustment for the
City Electric System which includes City of Bryan retail customers and the Rural Electric System
wholesale rate. After the third phase, to be effective October 1, 2016, base rates would have
increased 2.4% over the prior three years.

On October 1, 2015, the City Electric System increased the Power Supply Adjustment (PSA)
component of its rates for retail customers. The PSA is used to recover fuel costs, net purchased
power costs, and adjustments for the over or under recovery for such costs from preceding periods.
The City Electric system increased the PSA $0.0025/kWh (an average of 8.5%) for retail customers to
eliminate projected under recovery of fuel and purchased power costs.

On October 1, 2015, the City Electric System increased the Regulatory Charge (RC) component of its
rates for retail customers and the Rural Electric System wholesale rate. The RC is used to recover
BTU’s full cost of the Wholesale Transmission Service Charge as established by the Public Utility
Commission of Texas and for other fees assessed by regulatory bodies. The City Electric System
increased the RC 20% for all retail customer classes and the Rural Electric System wholesale rate to
eliminate projected under recovery of regulatory costs.

On October 6, 2015, following a resource planning study, BTU executed forward market power

purchases for the years 2018 through 2022. Spread over five years, BTU transacted with four
counterparties for the total purchase of approximately 949,000 MWh.
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On October 1, 2015, the City Electric System increased the Regulatory Charge (RC) component of its
rates for retail customers and the Rural Electric System wholesale rate. The RC is used to recover
BTU’s full cost of the Wholesale Transmission Service Charge as established by the Public Utility
Commission of Texas and for other fees assessed by regulatory bodies. The City Electric System
increased the RC 20% for all retail customer classes and the Rural Electric System wholesale rate to
eliminate projected under recovery of regulatory costs.

On October 6, 2015, following a resource planning study, BTU executed forward market power

purchases for the years 2018 through 2022. Spread over five years, BTU transacted with four
counterparties for the total purchase of approximately 949,000 MWh.
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CITY OF BRYAN, TEXAS
Required Supplementary Information
General Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget (GAAP Basis) and Actual

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015

Revenues:

Taxes:
Property
Sales
Franchise
Bingo
Alcoholic beverage

Charges for services:
Ambulance charges
Recreational charges
Health and public safety
Miscellaneous charges

Fines and court charges:
Municipal court

Licenses and permits

Grants:
Texas Attorney General
U.S. Department of Criminal Justice
Texas Department of Transportation

Contributions to Library - College Station
FEMA

Other
Investment earnings
Other
Total revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
General government and administration:
Executive
City Secretary
Legal services
Payments to other agencies
Fiscal services
Information technology
Human resources
Fleet services
Facility services
Total general government and administration

Development services:
Planning
Engineering
Building
Special Projects
Total development services

Public works services:
Public Works Call Center
Drainage and Streets
Traffic Operations
Total public works services

Final Budget -
Budgeted Amounts Positive
Original Final Actual Amounts (Negative)
18,129,831 18,129,831 18,090,087 S (39,744)
16,732,500 16,732,500 17,788,430 1,055,930
2,116,982 2,116,982 2,191,346 74,364
267,650 267,650 267,434 (216)
112,000 112,000 149,776 37,776
1,700,000 1,700,000 1,935,132 235,132
1,330,800 1,330,800 1,279,525 (51,275)
995,379 995,379 986,983 (8,396)
144,200 144,200 337,174 192,974
1,881,950 1,881,950 1,723,017 (158,933)
619,755 619,755 625,106 5,351
10,281 10,281 10,219 (62)
- - 19,869 19,869
1,025,939 1,025,939 1,084,115 58,176
31,000 31,000 169,831 138,831
90,000 90,000 247,920 157,920
368,452 368,452 1,204,026 835,574
45,556,719 45,556,719 48,109,990 2,553,271
2,247,392 2,387,772 2,137,665 250,107
954,260 986,870 797,578 189,292
724,640 724,640 627,977 96,663
3,363,571 3,363,571 3,091,323 272,248
1,475,970 1,503,247 1,309,611 193,636
3,113,768 3,113,768 2,903,583 210,185
636,746 636,746 617,649 19,097
753,853 753,853 501,341 252,512
1,794,243 1,812,028 1,680,791 131,237
15,064,443 15,282,495 13,667,518 1,614,977
1,638,257 1,638,257 1,596,808 41,449
1,302,875 1,390,425 1,141,226 249,199
257,968 257,968 248,430 9,538
63,972 150,432 72,472 77,960
3,263,072 3,437,082 3,058,936 378,146
1,890,831 1,890,831 1,877,904 12,927
1,680,651 1,680,651 1,544,233 136,418
3,571,482 3,571,482 3,422,137 149,345
continued
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CITY OF BRYAN, TEXAS
Required Supplementary Information
General Fund

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget (GAAP Basis) and Actual (continued)

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2014

Public safety:
Police services
Fire and emergency medical services
Animal Center
Municipal court
Total public safety

Cultural and recreational:
Library services
Parks and recreation services
Total cultural and recreational

Administrative reimbursement

Capital outlay

Debt service-bond retirement

Interest and fiscal charges
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of expenditures over

(under) revenues

Other financing sources (uses):
Sale of capital assets
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balance

Fund Balance, October 1, 2014
Fund Balance, September 30, 2015

Variance with

Final Budget -
Budgeted Amounts Positive
Original Final Actual Amounts (Negative)
16,492,342 16,492,342 16,200,724 291,618
12,987,547 12,987,547 12,656,419 331,128
793,874 793,874 711,161 82,713
1,432,178 1,432,178 1,281,782 150,396
31,705,941 31,705,941 30,850,086 855,855
2,324,800 2,324,800 2,304,727 20,073
4,259,826 4,275,465 4,255,759 19,706
6,584,626 6,600,265 6,560,486 39,779
(3,487,037) (3,487,037) (3,476,440) (10,597)
3,596,154 4,134,395 2,918,679 1,215,716
60,298,681 61,244,623 57,001,402 4,243,221
(14,741,962) (15,687,904) (8,891,412) 6,796,492
300,975 300,975 1,591,734 1,290,759
15,039,861 15,039,861 15,303,568 263,707
(2,909,060) (1,895,360) (814,657) 1,080,703
12,431,776 13,445,476 16,080,645 2,635,169
(2,310,186) (2,242,428) 7,189,233 9,431,661
28,179,172 28,179,172 28,179,172 -
25,868,986 S 25,936,744 S 35,368,405 S 9,431,661
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Supplemental Information

e Non-Major Governmental Funds

0}
(0}
0}

Special Revenue Funds
Capital Project Funds
Permanent Funds

e Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance —
Budget (GAAP Basis) and Actual

(0}

©O 0O 0O 0O o0 O o

(o}

Debt Service Fund

Grant Fund

Community Development Fund
Hotel/Motel Tax Fund
Sidewalks Fund

Court Technology Fund

Street Improvement Fund
Drainage Improvement Fund
TIRZ #10-22

e Non-Major Enterprise Funds

e Internal Service Funds

e Agency Funds

e Capital Assets used in the Operation of Governmental Funds
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COMBINING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Special Revenue Funds

Grant Fund — To account for the receipt and expenditure of grant revenues for all governmental funds
other than the Community Development Fund.

Community Development Fund — To account for Federal grant revenues provided through the
Department of Housing and Urban Development for the development of environmental and economic
opportunities, principally for persons of low and moderate income.

Hotel and Motel Room Tax Fund — To account for the receipt and expenditure of funds received by the
City from the assessment of hotel and motel occupancy tax. Usage of funds is restricted to construction
and maintenance of convention and civic facilities, and the promotion of tourism and the arts within the
City of Bryan.

Sidewalks Fund — To account for funds received from developers and property owners for the
construction and maintenance of sidewalks. Money received will be refunded to the remitter, if not
used within 10 years.

Court Technology Fund — To account for revenues derived from a portion of court fees dedicated to use
for technology improvements for Municipal Court functions.

Street Improvement Fund — To account for revenue derived from a fee assessed on utility bills for the
purpose of street improvements.

Drainage Improvement Fund — To account for revenue derived from a fee assessed on utility bills for the
purpose of drainage improvements.

Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #10 Fund — To account for revenues derived from captured assessed
valuation in, and bond proceeds for, the Traditions Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone. Bond proceeds
are used for various public improvements within the zone. The taxes from the captured assessed
valuation will be used to retire the debt and handle other operating expenses within the zone.

Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #19 Fund — To account for revenues derived from captured assessed
valuation in, and bond proceeds for, the Villa Maria-FM 158 Corridor Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone.
Bond proceeds are used for various public improvements within the zone. The taxes from the captured
assessed valuation will be used to retire the debt and handle other operating expenses within the zone.

Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #21 Fund — To account for revenues derived from captured assessed
valuation in, and bond proceeds for, the Downtown Bryan Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone. Bond
proceeds are used for various public improvements within the zone. The taxes from the captured
assessed valuation will be used to retire the debt and handle other operating expenses within the zone.
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Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #22 Fund — To account for revenues derived from captured assessed
valuation in, and bond proceeds for the Lauth Development Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone. Bond
proceeds are used for various public improvements within the zone. The taxes from the captured
assessed valuation will be used to retire the debt and handle other operating expenses within the zone.

Capital Project Funds

2010 Certificates of Obligation Fund — To account for the construction of streets, sidewalks, lighting,
soundwalls, landscaping, acquiring rights-of-way, restoring historic structures, equipping property and
facilities for a solid waste disposal system, drainage and traffic system improvements.

2014 Certificates of Obligation Fund — To account for the construction of streets, sidewalks, drainage,
traffic system improvements and the acquisition of fire-fighting equipment.

Permanent Funds

Permanent funds are used to report resources that are legally restricted to the extent that only
earnings, not principal, may be used for purposes that support the City’s programs.

Relating to Bryan cemeteries:
Myrtie Conway Astin
Bade Trust
Brandon Cemetery
J. W. English
Lucy B. Hervey
Mills Trust
Cemetery

Relating to Bryan libraries:

F. L. Henderson Library
Rountree Library
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COMBINING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Solid Waste Fund — To account for the provision of residential and commercial garbage collection and
the City’s interest in the Brazos Valley Solid Waste Management Agency’s landfill operations. All
activities necessary to provide such services are accounted for in this fund, including but not limited to,
administrative, operations, maintenance, new construction, financing and related debt services, and
billing and collection.

Bryan Airport Fund — To account for the revenues received and the expenses incurred by the City in the
operation of Bryan’s Coulter Airfield.

Bryan Commerce and Development — To account for economic development activities and public facility

development by the City. The activities related to the acquisition of property for development are
included in this fund.
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COMBINING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

Warehouse Fund — To account for the operation of the City’s warehouse function (excluding electric
inventory).

Insurance Fund — To account for funds accumulated by the City to cover general liability and workers’
compensation claims and associated administrative expenses.

Employee Benefit Trust Fund — To account for the administration of health insurance for City employees.

Resources are contributed by the City for employee health coverage and by the employee for optional
dependent coverage.
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AGENCY FUND

Payroll Fund — To account for the City’s payroll funds. Employee wages, associated employment taxes
and employee benefits are paid from the fund. This fund is excluded from the government-wide
statement of net assets and statement of activities since the assets are not available to support the

City’s own programs.
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CAPITAL ASSETS

USED IN THE OPERATION

OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
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CITY OF BRYAN, TEXAS

Capital Assets Used in the Operation of Governmental Funds
Comparative Schedules by Source

September 30, 2015 and 2014

2015 2014
Governmental funds capital assets:
Land S 11,591,736 $ 11,591,736
Buildings 38,760,125 42,811,914
Improvements other than buildings 32,009,793 31,781,678
Equipment 31,799,727 30,350,944
Infrastructure 186,160,966 180,812,706
Construction in Progress 4,091,755 5,247,939
S 304,414,102 S 302,596,917
Investments in governmental funds capital assets by source:
General Fund S 82,937,777 S 83,923,466
Special Revenue Funds 8,126,350 8,126,350
Private Contributions 41,060,677 39,011,598
General Obligation bonds 42,229,659 42,229,658
Grants 6,611,770 6,611,770
Certificates of Obligation 123,447,869 122,694,075
S 304,414,102 S 302,596,917

This schedule presents only the capital asset balances related to governmental funds. Accordingly, the
capital assets reported in internal service funds are excluded from the above amounts. Generally, the
capital assets of internal service funds are included as governmental activities in the statement of net
position.
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CITY OF BRYAN, TEXAS

Capital Assets Used in the Operation of Governmental Funds

Schedule of Changes by Function and Activity

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2015

Function and Activity

General Government:
Executive
City Secretary
Legal services
Fiscal services
Computer services
Purchasing services
Human resources
Facility services
Fleet services

Total general government

Development services:
Administration
Planning
Engineering
Inspections
Community Development
TIF infrastructure
Total development services

Public works:
Environmental services
Transportation services

Total public works

Public safety:
Police services
Fire and emergency medical services
Municipal court
Animal Center
Total public safety

Cultural and recreational:
Administration
Library services
Parks and recreation services
Total cultural and recreational

Construction in Progress - Unclassified

Total governmental funds capital assets

Governmental Governmental
Funds Capital Funds Capital
Assets Assets
October 1, 2014 Reclassifications Additions Deductions September 30, 2015
S 16,817,323 S - S 3,500 S 4,289,944 S 12,530,879
264,858 - - - 264,858
41,126 - - - 41,126
324,712 - - 11,208 313,504
8,363,847 - 393,225 - 8,757,072
1,773,249 - 10,915 - 1,784,164
44,862 - - - 44,862
3,323,226 - 197,022 88,927 3,431,321
70,619 - - - 70,619
31,023,822 - 604,662 4,390,079 27,238,405
581,283 - 48,169 21,800 607,652
70,070 - - - 70,070
206,491 - 19,685 186,806
119,143 - - 13,986 105,157
5,360,216 - - - 5,360,216
10,283,177 - 300,000 - 10,583,177
16,620,380 - 348,169 55,471 16,913,078
28,567 - - - 28,567
179,725,654 - 5,048,260 184,773,914
179,754,221 - 5,048,260 - 184,802,481
25,079,931 - 792,237 247,735 25,624,433
15,147,387 - 831,266 284,980 15,693,673
2,264,141 - 20,333 2,243,808
- - 9,500 - 9,500
42,491,459 - 1,633,003 553,048 43,571,414
143,955 - - 1,532 142,423
4,469,258 - 129,161 - 4,598,419
22,845,883 - 210,244 23,056,127
27,459,096 - 339,405 1,532 27,796,969
5,247,939 - 1,851,749 3,007,933 4,091,755
S 302,596,917 S - S 9,825,248 S 8,008,063 S 304,414,102

This schedule presents only the capital asset balances related to governmental funds. Accordingly, the capital assets
reported in internal service funds are excluded from the above amounts. Generally, the capital assets of internal service
funds are included as governmental activities in the statement of net assets.

141



‘uonisod 13U JO JUBWIILIS BYY Ul SIIIAIIIE [BIUSWIUIDAOS SB PapN|oul 948 SPUNY 3JIAIDS [BUJIUI JO S1aSSE |elided ay) ‘Aj[elauaD "SsJunowe aA0qe U} WoJ) papN|IXa
9. Spuny 9JIAJS [eUJUI Ul paliodau s1asse |erded ayi ‘AjSulpioddy “spuny |BIUBWIUIIA0S 01 pale|aJ sadue|eq 1asse [ended ayy Ajuo syuasaud ajnpayds siy |

0T VIV v0E S SSL160'Y S 996°091'98T S LTL'66L'TE S €6£600°CE S SCT‘09L'8€ S 9€L'T6S'TT S s)asse |e3lded spuny [EIUSWUIDA0S |10 1
CTT'6L6'LT (324441 vov'Le 687'676'T €6V TrL'ET S/9°8TT'T 801'6.6 |eUOI3ES.I3. puk |ednyjnd [el0 |
0LE8€T'ET €VC'T81 vov'Le VLT'8T9'T £09°298°6T vEL'€9S 80T'6L6 S3JIAISS UOI1eaJI3J pue Ssyled
6TV'865Y - - STS9LC €9699L'€ TV6'vSS - sadInJas Adeaqn
[ 444721 - - 00S‘v€ €26°L0T - - uoiensiulwpy
:|euolileasdal pue |esnyind)
YIV'TLS €V - - 816'€20'9T LEV'TYT TIS TS VT 875798°C Ayajes aignd jejo
808'€VT'T - - LT6°LTE S£9'90T - 9TZ'618'T 1Nod [edpdIUniy
€£9'€69°ST - - €9€'SEE’6 08LCT 0€S'SPE’9 - S2IAIDS [BD1PaW AduaBiawa pue aul4
€EV'VT9'ST - - 8€9°0LE"9 786°C¢ 187'£81'ST TEE'EVO'T S9IAIBS 21|0d
0056 0056 J31U3) |ewiuy
:Ayajes a1jqnd
€52'775'88T CLL6TL'E L€L'069'SLT 152°048'C 9CT'VL6 S€8°0C 7€09C’'S sy4omoljgnd [eo
989°¢61'88T CTLLBTL'E LEL069'SLT TSL°0L8'C 55256 0v8‘s e09re’s S9IAISS UoljelIodsuel |
£95°8C - - - °LS9T S66°TT - S3JIAJISS [BJUBWIUOIIAUT
:SyJom 21gnd
8L0'€T6'9T - [ T4:%4440)" €/6'816 8I8'TVT'S LTE'69T SPTOve S9IAIBS JUBWAO|IASP (B30
LLT'€8S'0T - ST8'ThY 0T 0St'8S 206'18 aJnjonJiseljul 4|1
9T2'09€'S - - §99°9¢ 89€'€80°S 7S9TET TES'STT juawdojarag Anunwwo)
LST'SOT - - LST'SOT - - - suonadsu|
908'98T - - L06'VLT - EVE'L 955y Supsauiuy
0L0°0L - - 8001V - 790°6C - Suluueld
7S9°209 - - 9€T'TLS - 0971 9ST'SE uonensiulwpy
:S921AJRS JuaWdolaAaQg
SYT'8Tv'LT 07,681 - 96/950°0T 616800'C £8/'806'CT €06°€92'C JusWuIaA0S [eIBUSSE [BIOL
6T9°0L - - 755°9¢ 96£°CE TL9T - SOJIAISS 193]
9EV'L9V'E STT'9¢ - 908'L19 L8T'8TT 87€G99'C - S90IAIDS Ajj1oe4
98y - - TL8'V¢E 166'6 - - $32JnosaJ uewny
Y9TV8LT - - 8vv'L9 6L9'6/9'T LEO'LE - S92IAJ3S Buiseyaund
CTLO'LSL'8 - - §20€99'8 6LT'€E 89/°09 - $92IAI3S Ja3ndwo)
Y0S€TE - - 0¢t'sLT - ¥8€°8¢ - SIAISS |BISIY
9TT'TY - - - 9TT'TY - - S30INISS [e8aT]
€8V'8TY SC9'€ST - L6S'SY 19C'v6 - 000°SZT Ateyaudas Ay
6/8°0€S°CT S - S - S LLE98T S - S 66S°S0T'0T S €06'8€T'C S SAIINJ9X3
:JUSWUIBA0Y |eJauan
ANADY pue uondun4
|elol ssaJ80.d aJnjonJisedyu| wawdinby s3uip|ing s3uip|ing pueq
ul pue ueyl Joy10
uoI3dNJISU0) Asuiyoe sjuawanosdw|

STOT ‘0€ Joqua1das jo sy

ANAoDy pue uondun4 Ag a|npayds

Spun4 |EIUBWUIBA0D JO uonesadQ ayj ul pasn s1assy [ended
SVX3L ‘NVAYSE 40 ALID

142



STATISTICAL SECTION

This part of the City of Bryan's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed
information as a context for understanding what the information in the financial statements,
note disclosures, and required supplementary information says about the government's
overall financial health.

Contents

Financial Trends (Tables 1-4) - These schedules contain trend information to help the reader
understand how the government's financial performance and well-being have changed over
time.

Revenue Capacity (Tables 5 — 15) - These schedules contain information to help the reader
assess one of the government's most significant local revenue sources, the property tax.

Debt Capacity (Tables 16 - 22) - These schedules present information to help the reader assess
the affordability of the government's current levels of outstanding debt and the government's
ability to issue additional debt in the future.

Demographic and Economic Information (Tables 23 — 25) - These schedules offer demographic
and economic indicators to help the reader understand the environment within which the
government's financial activities take place.

Operating Information (Tables 26 -28) - These schedules contain service and infrastructure

data to help the reader understand how the information in the government's financial report
relates to the services the government provides and the activities it performs.
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CONTINUING FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE TABLES
(UNAUDITED)

The Continuing Financial Disclosure Tables present various financial data originally distributed in
a debt official statement. The City is required to update financial tables originally distributed in
a debt official statement within six months after the end of each fiscal year. This financial
information is provided to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (MSRB) annually via the
Electronic Municipal Market Access (EMMA) system.

TYPE OF DEBT TABLE SERIES
General Obligation Bonds GO-1-GO0-13
Waterworks and Sewer System Revenue Bonds RW-1-RW-10
City Electric System Revenue Bonds REC-1 — REC-7
Rural Electric System Revenue Bonds RER-1 — RER-6

173



LS8S - S9Xe | WaJoleA Py Wodj d|qeAed 1gaq uonesijqo [esauan 19N ende) Jad
G95‘€GS - Uollen|eA Passassy d|qexe] eude) Jad

%81°'1

T0€'0809

S§S9'616°€9

SYE‘085°T8

000°0€S°SPT

LIT'TCTVEEY

€T6°08 - uolie|ndod pajewis3 GT0T
uollen|e  passassy a|gexe] 031 199Q xel uonesdiqo |eJauan 139N olley
GT0Z/0€/6 40 se pung SupjuiS pue 3saJ33u| Uolesl|qQ |eJauan
S9xe| walojeA py wolj d|geAed 1gaq uonesiqo |e4auan 19N

199 Suioddns J|9s : 5597

(ST/0E/6 J0 se) saxe| walojep py woly d|qeAed 1ga@ uolesi|qo 40 S21ed14i14a) 3 uonesi|qo |edauan

uolien|en s|qexe] 19N ST0Z/¥T0T

006°CT0'TCC

LTO'VET'SSSY S

0v6°€80°€C
00L'LtL
0€580L°€€
0SS'TYT
878°00T'Y
169VEY
ETT'€EC0'SL
€87'99€'ST
¢SLLoveT
€TG'816SS

suoI11NPayY 1UdWIleqy Xe |
9snods SUIAIAING SBIAISS PaWLIY O JIqUIIIA
suonindwax3 Jodasu4
Anadoud 1dwax3 pajesold
|0J41U0) uoiIn|jod
99¢€ ||'d @snoH
suo1Npay asn pue |ednyndusy
suondwax3 suelalap pajqesig
1uswisnlpy de) peaisswoH
suondwax3 pajgesiq o 59 JanO

an|ep 13JeA %00T 1e suolldnpay/suondwaxy ssa]

(Aradoud 1dwaxa Ajjerol Suipnjox3)
ou3sIQ |estesddy Ayuno) sozeug Aq paysijqeis3 uonen|e 134N STOZ/¥T0T

T-09 9|qelL

STOT ‘0€ 49qwa1das Jo sy
193Q uonesqo |e4auan pue suoirdwax3 ‘uolien|ep
sexa] ‘ueAig jo A1)

174



'spJ402au spajepdn 12143s1q |esieaddy 9yl pue paAjosal aue SaNn|eA pPalsalu0d se Jeah syl 1noySnouyl adueyd 03 109[gns aJe san|eA palyIla)
S1UN022Y 21|qNd 40 J3]|0J3dwo) 21e1S 3y 03 3913sIq |esiedddy Ayuno) sozeug oyl Aq pariodal sanjea passasse a|qexel Paljllad aJe umoys suonenjep 310N

818'€6£'8€5'E S 658°CEV'E8LE S 8TTye's68s S 0€¥'G98'SS0V S LTT'TCTVEEY S oN|BA PIssassy a|qexel

S/6'6/9'S6T 99/°676'71T 786°497'0SC 992°0€0'StT 006CT0TCC suononpay/suoidwaxy |0l s3]
%00'00T €78‘€L0VEL'E %00°00T G7979€'866°E %00'00T  V9T‘0T9'SVT'V %00°00T 969'S68°00€‘t %00°00T LTOVET'SSS Y suolldwax3 2104aq anjeA pasiesddy |e30L
%V6°0 09/°1ST'SE %Y6°0 0T8‘VL9°LE %L6°0 78.'8T0°01 %056°0 666798°01 %56°0 ¥95°980 €y Aloyuanuy |e1dads pue Alojuanu| ‘|eay
%1v°0 0€€'SSY'ST %6€°0 0t9'60S°ST %LED 0/7'6S€'ST %95€°0 7T'867'ST %9€°0 069'66C°9T J3y3Q ‘|euosiad 3|qidue]
%CC'CT 068°/8T95Y %06°'TT 166'7S6'SLY %C8'CT 086S6€TES %8C9°CT 8ET'STT'EVS %CECT 080Z8T‘T9S ssauisng ‘|euosiad a|qidue]
%Y1 0TT'06£9% %1C'T 0b/£'895°8Y %101 06L9TT sV %886°0 ocz'esy'ey %96°0 LT9'LT9EY 1N ‘|euosiad d|qidue] pue |eay
%CE0 0T8'V¥8‘1T %6C°0 €6LTVL'TT %0 ¥85'0€6°6 %LSC0 6S€'S90°TT %€6°0 0C6'vIvey S9NIDSRY [BJBUIIA JBYI0 pue se9 ‘|10 ‘|eay
%S0°8T 60L‘T60VL9 %¢0°0C 7TT'86£°008 %1€ 0C vZr'186TY8 %V 0C 909°C4S°0L8 %S6°6T 997888806 [BLIISNPU| PUE [BI2JBWWO) ‘[edY
%610 991’6169 %81°0 ¥ST'S9TL %8T°0 vL6'TLE L %t00°0 8LGELT %100 871'8¢C sjuswanoiduwl| youey pue wied ‘|eay
%0L"C 885°89/°00T %S9°C 79€‘158'S0T %SL'C 786°098'€TT %806°C 599°050°S¢T %8S°C LYT'8TELTT (AjuQ pue1) a8esa0y ‘|eay
%8C'C €0TL61'S8 %€0°C Tr8TET'T8 %L0°C 7C€'8/8'S8 %86T1'C TSELTIS'V6 %L0°C 0TS'SSC'v6 S1oel] /S107 JuedRA ‘|edYy
%S€0T 6T6°€67'98¢€ %ST°0T 7L6'6YL'S0Y %LT°0T S90°L0V'TTY %€9€°0T LTE€89'SHY %YT'TT S7S‘TTS'L0S Ajlwed-niniA ‘lenuapisay ‘|eay
%0€'TS 8ET'ELY'STE'T § %EC0S 666'€TS'800'C S %60'6Y T66°LLT'SE0'T S %80T'6¥ 6CTELOTITC S %YL'8Y 09S'TTE0CC'C S Ajjwe4-a|8uis ‘|enuapisay ‘|eay
|e301 30 % Junowy [e301 J0 % Junowy |e301 30 % Junowy [e301 J0 % Junowy |e301 30 % Junowy Aio8a1e)

T10C ¢10¢ €T0¢C ¥10¢C ST0C
¢-09 9|qel STOT ‘0€ 19quiaidas Jo sy

A10391e) Ag suonen|ep passassy a|qexe]
sexa] ‘uehug jo A1)

175



19ed

uonesiqo |edauan pue suonindwax3y ‘uolienieA T-09 9|qel 995 ‘199Q uoledi|qo |esauan Suinioddns-49s sapn|ou| @

"1e3aA 3uinsua ay3 Sulnp
93ueyd 01 13[gns suoday xe| Aladoud aieis [enuue s,A1D uo 1ouIsIg |esiedddy Ayuno) sozeug syl Agq papodal sy -

66L°T %9€°€ 000°0€SSPT G95°€S LTTTCT'VEE Y €16°08 ST0¢
188°T %S99°€ 000°020‘8¥T 0€S‘TS 0€¥'998'SS0Y 60.8L ¥10¢
STt %S8°C 000°00C°TTT T06'61 8T Tre's68'e T908L €T10¢
0LET %08°¢ 000'526'S0T SE6'8Y SYT'LTL'€8L'E TCELL ¢10¢
€8T %TCE 000‘08V'€TT 6CC'9v 8Y78'€6£'8€G°E TvS9L 170¢
0Tv'T %00°¢ 000°STZ'80T 18€'LY 0z6'0LV'0T9'E 1029, 0TO0¢C
ejide) UONEN[EA Passassy ., 1834 JO pu3 ejde) (y UONEN[EN  UOnendod 0€-6 Popu3
13d 1920 a|qexe] 03 192q je SulpueisinQ 134 uonenjep passassy a|qexe] pajewis3y Jeaa |edsiy
Xel '0'D  Xel‘Q'Djooney  1g3QXeL°'0’D  Passassy d|qexe]
€-09 9|qeL ST0C ‘0€ J2quia1das Jo Sy

AJ03sIH 192@ uonesijqo |eJauaD pue uolien|ep
sexa] ‘uelug jo M)

176



%¥1°00T %85°86 80€'T969C ceCL8T0 899¢v’'0 0666¢9°0 S10¢
%EL66 %L5°86 L2T0°66C'ST 188561°0 60TVEY'0  0666C9°0 ¥10¢
%99°66 %9986 L9S'8TY' VT §¢8561°0 E8V/LEV'0  8OEEEI0 €10¢
%91°66 %986 0€T'008°€C 128561°0 6/50v7'0  00¥9€9°0 ¢10¢
%0€°66 %SC'86 ¥£0°018°CC 800T0C°0 ¢6ESEVY'0 00¥9€9°0 T10¢
SuoI129]|0) SuoI129]|0) Ana7xeL punj3upjuis punjeiauan Lleyxel 0g/6 papul
|elol % ua.uIN) % pue 1saJaju| Jead, |easiy
¥-05 GTOT ‘O€ Jaqwa1das Jo sy

AJ03SIH U0I1123]|0) pue AA] ‘@1eY Xe|
sexa] ‘uelig jo Aw)

177



%1C'9

STT'TTE'69C S

%LY°0
%870
%610
%150
%V50
%95°0
%LS0
%CL0
%880
%00'T

uolnenjep passassy
alqexe] [e30] 40 %

989°/9€°0¢
082°0T.'0C
00€'SSTTT
STS‘0STCC
OvT‘00t '€
0SS‘9€T'vT
125'ST8ve
G/9'69T‘TE
0€T'vE6 LE
8TETLEEY S

uonenjep passassy
ST0Z/¥10T

SuisnoH

1uawdojanaaqg asn-1 NN
Sulanioejnuep
sjuswedy

$3401S |1e19Y
sjuswiedy

A8uau3

sjuswiedy

SuisnoH uapnis
8uissasoud poo4

Aliadoud jo ainieN

Q.7 uois|puad 0S0Y

95E37 PUNOJD - ANUSIBAIUN INTQY SBXD]
dio) |euonreutalu| yuj oho|

D77 suswiedy oIpisald I

931e3157 [EdY MeEeN-|BM

d13Ulod SMOpeaN MS

sal149doud ABiau3 uoojeH

0D 1uswaseue|A julodsawer

D71 8uisnoH juapnis ueAug

Juj swie4q uosiapues

19Aedxe] jo swieN

S-09°lqel

GTOT ‘T€ 49qwada( Jo sy
sioAedxe] 1s98ie7 U]

sexa] ‘uelig jo Aw)

178



Am_om.u pue m.OUv spuog Co_umm__n_o |edauan ||e sepn|oul,

YT9'T8E'6L S

6S6'TEV'ST S

SS9'6v6'€9 S

¥9.'S18'80T S

61Y'SEC'LT S

SYE‘08S'T8 S

8/€'/61'88T S 8LE'/99'Ty S

000'0€S'SPT S

- - - 61T°£0T°C ov1'LL 6L6'620°C 61T°L0T°C ovT'LL 6L6'620'C 6€0T
- - - 0€¥°90T‘C 0EV‘1ST 0005S6°T 0€¥°90T‘C 0EV‘1ST 000°SS6°T 8€0C
- - - 8TT'L0T'C 811'CCC 000'588'T 8TT'L0T‘C 811'7TC 000'S88'T LE0T
- - - 8St'60T°C 851°68¢ 000°0Z8°T 8Sv'60T°C 85t'68¢ 000°0Z8‘T 9€0T
- - - 9/0'80T‘C 9/0'€SE 000'SSL‘T 9/0'80T‘C 9/0'€SE 000'SSL'T SE0T
189°0S¥ 099°sT 120SEV 960°60T°C 960vTY 000'569°T LLL'6SST 9SL'6ty TZO'0ET‘C ¥€0¢
09€'0S¥ 09€°0€ 000°0Zy ¥82'€TS‘T 87’88y 000'S€0°C ¥79'€L6°C ¥¥9'8TS 000'SS¥‘C €€0T
SES6YY SESTY 000°S0¥ YEEVTST YEE'6SS 0005S6°T 698€96°C 698°€09 000°09€‘C [4014
601'8TL 60299 006'TS9 LYT'€ES9‘T LYT'0€9 00T'€20°C 9SETLEE 95€'969 000'5£9°C T€0T
¥SET8TT €98°S0T 16v°9L0°T 0ST'SLLT TvL10L 60S°€L0°C ¥09°LS6°E 709208 000°0ST‘E 0€0T
w6'v8s'T w919t 00€'€Cy'T 907 '78€E‘E 90L'S6L 00£'985°C 8YE'L96'Y 8¥€'LS6 000010t 620C
60T°6LET 898°617C TrE'6CTT 788°00°€ €77'S88 699°STS'C 160°08L'S T60°GET'T 000°Sv9‘v 8¢0C
908'SLET LyL'TEE 6S0°€EV0'C 106°90%'E 096'696 T¥6'9EY'C 80L'T8L'S 80L'T0E'T 000°08Y't £20T
8LT'VSLE SLT'TIY €00°€6T°E €TT'SE0'Y 9TZ€L0'T L66'T96°C 16V°68L°L T6VVES'T 0005529 920t
8YELI8'Y ¥8TvT19 €91°€0C't €1'628'S 9/5TTT'T LE]ITY 09£'9%9°01T 0929281 000°0Z8'8 1414
S69°€TL'S €00°S6L 76986 89€°67T9 090°€0¥‘T 80€°9ZLY €90°€S8'TT €90°861°C 0005596 jZ414
976'TEL'S 9¥6'656 086'TLLY LEO'VTT'9 LTO'TSST 020'€LS'Y €96'SS8'TT €96'015C 000'SVE‘6 €20T
SEBEEL'S €S6'6TT'T 788€T9Y ST9690°L L6V'EVL'T 8TT°9zZE’S 0Sv'€08°CT 0S¥'€98°C 000°0v6°6 ot
TTE'0S0°L LT9'STET 90L'VEL'S v€6'8CT'L 0v9'€06°T v62'STT’S 9ST'6LT VT 9SC'6TT'E 000°096°0T TzoT
€SY'98T°L VLTTIST 6LT°SL9'S €GE80V'L €€98L0°C 12L'6TE'S 908‘v6S VT 908°685°€ 000°S00°TT 0cot
SLO'8LTL TT1'9L9'T 7S6'T0S'S €IV'€CS'L §9€'STC'T 870'80€‘S 88Y'TOL VT 887'T68°E 000°0T8°0T 6T0T
wW'LIV'L 6TL V8T €16C29'S TLS€08'L €8Y'T9€°C £80Tyv'S €TT'TLT'ST €12°90C'v 000°S90°TT 8T0C
YI8EET’L L9V'T86'T LyE‘TST'S ve8'LTT'8 TL1'STST €59°209°'S 8€9'T9E'ST 8€9'90Sv 000'SS8°0T LT0T
TETETE'L S09°SYT'T 979°L9L'S ETV'TEE'8 6¥0°0€9°C vLETOL'S ¥S9°'svT’9T vS9'SLLY 000°0L¥‘TT 9T0C
|eioL 153491u| |ledulid |exol 153491u| ledpuld |exoL 159491u| |edulid papu3l

Jed\

|easty

30196 192Q |eloL 193Q Sunoddns y|3s ssa1 192@ uonesijqo |e4audn - SININIYINDIY IDIAYIS 1930
9-09 3|9el STOT ‘0€ Jaquiardas Jo sy

«SIUBWIINDAY 321AJ3S 193Q - UOIESI|O |B4aUSD - UolIeWIOLU| 3G3d

sexa] ‘ueAig jo A

179



oTETwL'y S

9€8'sPT9T S659¢
86SSTTC
Tre'eTe’L
T0€0809

@ OTSEOV'TT $

uonaafold 198png 9TOT JedA [edsly

9T-0¢-6 ‘@2uejeg pajewls]

3WOJU| JBYI0 PUB JUSWISIAU| pPa1eWIIST
siajsued] 128png

u01193||0D AAST XE1 pund SupjuIS pue 1saJalu| #10¢
ST-0€-60 ‘PuUNd SuUBjUIS pue 153.91U]

9T-0£-6 Sulpu3 JeaA |easi4 ‘syuswalinbay 921AI9S 1gad palewilsy

£-0D 9|qel

GTOT ‘0€ 49qwa1das jo sy
uol13d3foid 198png pund Supjuis pue 1saJ431U|
sexa] ‘uelug jo M)

180



‘Aluno) sozeug pue ‘YIANMSAG ‘SZYIL 214399|3 |edny D14193|3 AND ‘wa1sAs

JOMIS pue 4931\ Wod) sanuanal Aq pasoddns Ajuewrad st 1gap Suioddng }19s -

%00T

TE0'SEE8 S

0SE98Y'6E S

8unuoddnsg 95
spuog uonesdiqo |elauan walsAS Jo 93ejuad4ad

9T-0€-60 Sulpu3] JeaA |edasid 104
‘syuswalinbay puog 0) pue 0O waisAs 3uiuoddng J9s

sasodind JayiQ 404 3|gejieAy aduejeq

88G'860G¢ ST-0€-60 JAd
‘sjuswialinbay puog anuanay Wa1SAG :ssa

8E€6'V78S'19 S GT-0€-6 JA4 ‘©nUBASY WISAS 19N

8-09 GT0T ‘0€ Jaqwaidas jo sy

RLEl 8unuoddns-49s Jo uoneindwo)

sexa] ‘uelug jo M)

181



000'0S0‘€T $ - 000'SLLTT $ 000'5Z8'sT S
000°00¢ - 000008 000°000°T V8-v¢-1 [Iypueq Aseyues
000°058°C - 0000S€ 000°002‘€ v8-vC-1 uoljeledas apess peoljiey
000'SLL‘T - 000szE’s 000°00T‘L v8-vC-1T UOI1ED4I9Y pUE SiJed
000'sTC‘8 S - S 000°00€9 S 000'STSPT S v8-vC-1T $199.1S
Jdouejeg panss| panss| pazioyiny pazioyiny asodind
panssiun Sulag Ajsnoinaag junowy areq
junowy junowy
6-05 9|qel GT0T ‘0€ 49qwia1das Jo sy

spuog uoinesiqQ |e4auan panssiun Agq paziioyiny

sexa] ‘uelig jo Aw)

182



"GTOT ‘0€ 49qwia1das Jo se ulpuelsino suonedi|qo 4ayiQ ou sey A1) ayL

0T-05

GT0T ‘0€ 49qwa1das Jo sy
suoiedi|qo JPY10
sexa] ‘uelig jo Aw)

183



86C'0TT'ET S

918'CY1'9T

968'09v'CC S

1 ZANTAR TS

607'89€'SE S

LTL'TY3TT 86C'0TT'ET 9T8'TY19T 968'091°C¢ ZAN AN T4
185'89¢€'T 81S'TE6C 080'8T€9 8LT'STL'S GET'68TL
vE6'LY0CT 859'6250T LE8'/BEVT S9€'T96TT 5908091
TrE'ETT S9T'LY STT'ET 857'CT YELTEST
(£8LT6€) (06€6T9) (169°0TT €) (SST6EY) (£59'VT8)
6L£922°CT €8L'TOT'TT €TY'S8Y LT 797'88€CT 895'€0€’ST

(es€‘6L9'0T)

(ovt'L6S°L) S

(£52'690'8) S

(680°€vC9) $

(z1v'1688) S

vI8'€0ETS $ 6ST907'8Y S 078'0v9'€s $ 89%'S60VS $ 20¥'T00°2S $
0TS296°T 78T'SLE L19°06L v06LLT'T 6/9'8T6°C
OvL‘8ET 0zy'9TT LY9TE8'T - -

S/S'TSL'S 508'S00'9 Z8T'TPE'9 €EV'S9E'9 98%°0959
€S7'866°€C 06v'815°€ vLT'STEE STOvTE'E LET'TTV'E
0€0°SHT'E 8€8'808'C 819800 €29°LTT'E 9€6'850°€
¥90'v9T'LT 990759°9C 0159858 985'St0°0€ 980°058°0€
(££6°019¢) (€0£°STS°€) (86¥°STHE) (v62'96€€) (ovv'9Lv'e)

6IV'8¥9°CT S

196°202°CT S

0SE'T6T'ET $

T6T'TITET §

8TS'L99°€T S

duejeg pun4 Suipul
due|eg pun4 uluuidag
(oseauda() aseasou| 19N

JAY310 |erol

s19ssy |eyde) jo ajes

1nQ sJaysued) Sunesadp

uj suajsued] Sunesadp
saJanyipuadxy (4apun) 49A0

sanuanay (Hda1yaQ) ss9ax3

sainypuadx] [eyo]
AejinQ |ende)
sa8Jey) |easid pue 15a4a1u|
|eUOI1BDII3Y pUE |BAN}ND
SHI0M 2l|qnd
S921AJ9S Juawdolanag
A1ajes a1qnd

sasuadx3 aAlleJISIUILIPY PasINquiIay

JUBWUIBAO0D |BIBUSD

saJnypuadx3

T9v'vZ9’ov 610°609°0F 0v8‘0LS'SY T8ETS8 LY 0666018V S9NUaA3Y |e10]

780°6SY LTECEE 120'Sv0°C 8L'TET'T 920'v0C'T SNO3UE(|33SIA

8T0'S68'T LTEVYR'T SLL'V6L'T YSLVTLT LTO'€TLT S9JN131}404 pue ssauly

ovr'e9 166°06 VA WA LSS'VCT 0T6°LYT sguluie3 Juswisanu|

LE6'96'E 6vT9V8'E GCT'66T'S L9T'V6E'Y P18'8€SY SIIAIS J0} s95ieYD

08€°LSLT 00€‘EVET 0v0'820°T 695°68C'T VEO'V8T'T siueln

SLTC6Y ¥81°76S 6€5°59S €85899 90TSZ9 S}WJad pue sasuadl

6C¢'0T0CE S T9T'65SCE S €ST'188'vE S 698'8TSLES €/0°L8V'8E S Soxel
sanuanay

T10¢C C¢10¢ €T0¢C ¥10¢ ST0¢C
0€ Joquiaidas papu3 Jea, |edasiq
T1-09 @|qel STOT ‘0€ J9quia1das Jo sy

(siseq |enJooe palyipow) AJOIsIH ainpuadx3 pue SINUSASY pund |BIaUdD

sexa] ‘ueAig jo A

184



T 910N 22U3J3)3J ‘Pa1eISA] HTOZAd PUB ETOTZAL 40} UOILSOd 19N 4

¥60°€€C'30T $ 966'GSE90T 980°6/SCTT S 0/8'685'LTT $ 996'€/6'60T S «0€ 1d3S -uoisod 13N
LST'0STC0T ¥60°€€2780T 966°G5€°90T 788°L68°CTT 6€572S00T T 4300120 - UoIlsod 13N
L€8°T809 (860°LL8'T) 060€2Z9 886169V LTV'ISY'6 Sl9jsuel] 431y UONISOd 19N ul a8uey)d
¥8£'783°0T ¥2S'€L6’S ¥9€vSLCT LO6'8ET'CT €59'68L VT slajsued|
(Lv6'TO8Y) (zz9‘0s8L) (rL2'T€S'9) (6T6°9171°L) (9zz’see’s) Sl9jsuel] 240j9g UOIISO 19N Ul 3sealdsq
715°08559 8€9'7€869 GG8‘88€°S/ 7618579, 97€'S6ELL saJnipuadxy |ejo]
GI8'786'Y 9,095 SY9T'y TTE8YS'E €91°66C°€ 192Q w3 Suo7 Uo 3sa4dU|
¥£1'999°L LEO'TYT'S 9€T'S/LT'S 710°7€€'8 8E0'VLES uo11e3123Y pue ainin)
1S2'€69°1C 7€9°9¥€vT LS8EET CE ¥56'690°€€E 6LE'8Y9°EE Aya4es o11gnd
0T6'T60'VT T€S'69T'ST €79'v9LCT LT808TVT v18'768°9T S9IIAIDS SHIOM 2l|qNd
€TT'ISY'S €LV'OV6Y 066'7CE‘S GL7'S9T'S L69°€E0¥'S $32IAJIDS Juswdo|ansq
6ES'V69'TT LTT'19STT LTL'STL'TT €TTT98TT GET'SLL'E UOI1JISIUIWPY PUE JUBWUISAOD) [eauld9
saJnyipuadxy
G95'8/4L°09 91078619 185°258'89 €/5'T18'89 00T‘£S0CL SaNUaASY [e10]
G19'896'8 €¥€9€0'8 T¥0°€99°CT LTL'0ET0T 62068501 B3yo
L6T'TCTLT S9¥'SLSLT ZSO'VET'6T €S VERTT 850°€89°T¢ saxe] Jay10
6vC'€v0’cC €€8'SL0VC L99°€TL VT 9T/'G9.°ST 6866£0°8¢ saxe] Apadoud
SONUIARY |eJauad
99%°259°C €0C'TeT’e 698°T68°T 6v8'T99°T 8/0°6%0°C suonnguiuo) pue syuels |eyde)
¥66°209°C o9vLTEL’T 206°078°C LTS067'C L¥9'69L°C suonnguiuo) pue juels unessdo
¥¥6'6L€°9 97¥'62€9 0S0'v09'L  $ 0€7'8789 6629769 S3IAIDS J0) sddiey)
SO9NUIAQY Em‘_mo‘_n_
SONUIAIY
110C 710¢ €10¢ ¥10¢ GT0C
SOI11IAIDY JUBWUIBA0DH
VIT-09 d|qel GT0T ‘0€ Joqwia1das Jo sy

uoI11S0d 13N ul sasuey)
sexa] ‘uelug jo A

185



S8'6T¢C 951¥°0 %86°59 TEY'88L'LT ST0¢

10°TCC G88€°0 %89°'T9 6v7'788'LT ¥10T

LL 70T 9I'0 %9%°59 6T6'786°ST €10¢

09'16T S96£°0 %0€°79 TE6'VI8 VT 41014

78981 066€°0 %0L°C9 LTO'TOE VT 110¢

TLT6T S LLOVO S %9019 oT¥'809'vT S 0T10¢
“endepsad 318y XEL " Anoyxer pa19[[0) XeL 0€/6 Papu3
waJojepn py WwaJojeA PY 40 % Jed |edastd

J0 JudjenInby

‘S9Xe] 9SN pUE S3ES JO SUOII||0d
[e21103s1Y S,A}D 2U3 YM0} 39S 9]qel SuUIMO||0) YL "066T ‘T 419003100 9AI103443 suoidnpal xel Aladoud 4oy (%1 JO /1) 3ua24ad 3U0 JO jjey-auo
JO Xe1 9sn pue sa|es [euollippe ue panoidde A3 Y3 JO SI910A ‘DA0CE 0} PaJJd4al Xe) ash pue sa|es |ed0| (%T) 3ua2Jad auo ayl 03 uonippe uj

"94¢ UBY} aJow ou 03 paywl| si (Ayuno) ayi Aq paina| saxel asn pue sajes Suipnjoul) A3 ay3 jo eale ay3 ul
SOXE} 3SN pue $3|es [20] JO UOIID]|00 3y} ‘AjSuIpJoddy "%t/T 8 0} Bade Aue U 91eJ Xe} asn pue sajes d1eSaJ88e wnwixew ay3 sHWI| Me| 33e1s

‘'sanuaA AJunwwod pue suods pue
‘Jledas pue aoueualulew 333J3s |eddjunw ‘uawdolaAap |eldISNpUl pue Jlwou0dd Suipnjoul ‘sasodind Jay3lo Jo AlalJeA e J0j X} 3sh pue s3|es
e 3uIssasse Jo uo11do ay3 sa11d Uleldd SapIA0Ld OS|e me| 31e1S ‘U0I1939|3 uo1ldo [eJ0| e Ul S1910A 3yl Jo Aluolew e jo |eaosdde ayi 01 303[gns

*Je3A JUa44Nd Y3 Ul pa1eIaUd 3¢ 03 SANUAAAI Xe) S3|eS Ay} 4O

1unowe pajewlsa ay3y Aq paanpad aq 1snw Arg| xel Auadoud walojea pe ayl ‘palnd| pue panoidde S| xel [euollippe ayl J| "uoi1d3|3 uolido [edo|
e Ul S4910A 3y} Jo Aluofew e Aq panoudde §i ‘saxe] ‘walojen pe s)l Suidnpad Jo asodind syl 40 SWBll 3|geXE] JO SO|ES |IB1a] UO Xe) S3|es (%Z/T)
1U32.3d Jjey-auo wnwixew e guissasse 4o uoirdo ay3 Sa1d ulead sapinodd apo) xe] ay3 ‘uonippe uj "Ajyiuow AlD ayl 01 ‘934 DIAIBS %L

B JO UOI1ONPIP J314e ‘Xe] Y3 JO Spaa204d 33 SHWSJ OYM ‘Sexa] JO 931e1S ‘SIUN0IIY d1|gnd O J3]|013dwo) ayl Aq pa31da||0d S| Xe| SN pue sa|es
9yl "199p jo uawAed ay3 01 padpa|d 10u aie pue pun4 |elaUID) 3y 0} PALIPaID dJe sPaadoJd ay] AlD Yl UIYLIM Xe] IS pUe S3|es |ed07

%1 e An9| pue asodwi 03 Jamod a3yl A1) ay3 syuesd yoiym ‘Tz 191dey) ‘apo) xe] ‘v xel asn pue sajes |edpiunip ayy paydope sey Ay ayl

¢1-099|9eL GTOT ‘0€ Jaquia1das Jo sy
AJ03sIH xe] sajes |edpiun|al
sexa] ‘uelug jo A1)

186



'SIUBWISIAUI D14309|3 [edny pue 214399|3 A1) S9pN|aXa B|qeI SIYL )

%00T 8T8'G5€'96 S Spun4 s|qelsaAu| [e10 ]
%61°S 8€¥'v00°S S|00d 1UBWUJISA0D)
%L0°17¢C ¥86°06T€C s31ouady uodno)
%VL 0L 96£°09T'89 S sysodaq puewaq

95ejuadiad anjep yoog jJudwilsanu| jo adAL
'sa110891e2

JUBWISIAUL SUIMO[|0} BY3 Ul PRISDAUL DJ9M SPUN} 3|BISIAU]

s,A11D ay3 Jo sadejuadiad Suimo||o) 9yl STOZ ‘O€ J9qwa1das Jo sy

€T-05 9[qelL STOT ‘O€ Jaqwa1das Jo sy
() SHs0daq ysed pue sjuswiIsaAu| JuaLIND

sexa] ‘uelig jo Aw)

187



00'TLT'CT9'E 000°2L6'TC ¥7€9'968'6 ST0TC
0088178G0S°€E 000°68€°6T G90'S09°6 ¥10¢
00t'C6€T08'E 000°T8T'€C vLLVTY'OT €10¢
006865698 000°TZSTC G/9°TLS0T ¢10¢
00T'LLE'ELE Y 000°029'v¢C GS8'T86'TT T10¢
98esn |e10)1 a8esn a8esn og/6
Ajleqg 98esany papu3
yead Ajlea Jea\ |edasiy
T-MY 3|qeL SJBDA |BOSI4 BAl] 1seT

(suojjen) uondwnsuo) Ja3ep\ |BI1I0ISIH
sexa] ‘uelig jo Aw)

188



%TL VT 00L‘P¥S'TES
%850 000°056°0¢ Ajunwwo) uswsaliey M3IAISDI)
%690 002'960°ST 8uisnoH ueAug jo Ayioyiny SuisnoH
%€8°0 00€'v26'6C dHW age||IA Auno)/poomyeQ
%€6°0 009'8/G'€€ Av|1oe4 [BUOIIIRII0) dwe) uoslid |esapad
%160 00L'6CT'vE Av|1oe4 [euoildauI0) Hun uojjlweH - DAl
%LE'T 00.'62S'6Y 1usWuUIaA09 AJuno) Aluno) sozeug
%EL'T 008'TCET9 1UBWIUIBA0YD |Bd07 uehig jo AuD
%00°¢ 00v'€LETL Avjoe4 aJse) yyesH |exdsoH ydasor 1S
%1S°C 00€'7SS'06 |00YdS 31jgqnd asid
%ET'€ 00L980°€TT PuIsia Alnn PLISIa AN [erpads uioq|eM
a8esn a8esn J91eM\ Ansnpuj jo adAL Jawolisn)
191\
|10l o %
-\ 9|qel STOC ‘0€ Jaquia1das Jo sy

AUwESmCOU 191\ JO SuOj|ep uo Ummmmv SJoW0olsn) JoMaS pue Jalepn 1s98ue7ua|

sexa] ‘ueAug jo M)

189



(suojies 00s 4ad) ¥5°S
SO'v
8€'C
8€'C
8€'C
9L°TS

suojjen 000°T
19d ?d.ey)

awn|oA

V/N sa|es y|ng
VLET S10e41U0) |e12ads
VLET |eruswnedapaalu|
VLET sjooyas aljqnd uehug
VLET |elIsnpul/jenJawiwo)
TE'8S |eluapisay
Yjuo J49d sse|) J91e M
?diey)
Jawoisn)

€-Md 9[qEL

GTOT ‘0€ 19qwa1das aA110943
saley Jaiep\ Ajyiuon
sexa] ‘uelig jo Aw)

190



6¥79'590°CT 000°09T'169°C €EE'€9T'VTT 968'CSEL ST0¢C
7/8'686'TT 000°€S6'€SST LTV'6T8'TTT C€ET'L669 ¥10¢
¥8G'€6L'TT 000'v01'TLE'T €EE00LL6T LEL'66V'9 €10¢
89G5'691'CT 006'6%72'09G°C 8ST'VSE'ETT 8T7'S66'9 ¢10¢
0CT'8LY'TT 000°€08'T8E'C €8G°€8Y'86T 881'GCS'9 TT0¢C
S9NUANY a8esn a8esany 98esany og/6
pu3 Jea, |edsly |elol Alyauony Ajteg Papu3
|erol JedA |essly
7-Md 9|qel SIedA [BdSl4 dAl4 1sen

(suojjen) a8esn Ja1eMIISEMN
sexa] ‘uelig jo Aw)

191



08¢ 88°L |elasnpul/|ernJswwo)
€0'vS 88°LS [e12J3WWO0)) UON
suoj|en 000‘t Yjuo J4od sse|) J91emaisen
19d ?8.ey) adiey)
awnj|op Jawoisn)
S-MY 9|qel GT0Z ‘0€ Jaqwa1das anday3

sa1ey Jamas A|YluoN
sexa] ‘uelig jo Aw)

192



spuog anuanay AjuQ sapnjoul,

%00°00T 792'0LT'€9 $ 79C'00L'ET S 000°0LS‘6Y S
%S0°€ 889°€08 889°cE 000°0LL [420)4
€90°908 €90°99 000°0vL T€0¢C
%88°S¢ 6L0°9€€’C 6L0'TST 000'S8T‘C 0€0¢
IVT'166°C 1¥'9S¢ 000°SEL‘T 6¢0¢
16£°9T0'E 16€£°95€ 000°099°C 8¢0¢
6C¢6'CTT'E 6C6'CSY 000°099°C £¢0¢
GET'SET’'E GET'SYS 000°065°C 9¢0¢
%V6°CE €LT'8ST'E €LT'€E9 000°52S°C Y4014
16¥°9L0°€ 16¥°90L 000°0LE‘C 144014
v0LL6T°E voL'LLL 000°02'T €¢0¢
999°atS‘S 999056 000565y [440)4
16L'T€S'S T6LTTT'T 000°0Ct'Y T¢0¢
%€T'8¢E ¥58°00S°S ¥S8°09C'T 000°0vC‘Y 0¢c0o¢
TTLT8€E'S TTL98€T 000566 6T0¢
900°£8T'S 900°CES‘T 000'SSL‘E 8T0¢
9%,'86T'S 9vL'€L9'T 000's2S‘e LT0C
v6v'06T'S ¥61'S08°T 000'S8€‘E 910¢
painay |elol FCEYEIT jedidpulig papu3j
jedidulid Jo % Jea)
|easty

9-Md 9|9el

STOT ‘0€ 42qwa1das Jo sy
«SIUBWAIINbaY 921A19S 19 g WI1SAS JOMIS pue SHIOMIDIBAA - UOIleWJoJU| 3G3(

sexa] ‘uelig jo A)

193



'suoIINgLIIU0d uoisuad |en1de 199}42J 03 JUaWisnipe Ue sapn|aul GTOZ "UOIIeZIOWE pue uojiedaidap sapnaxy,,

09Y'1C 6€STC 0LL'TC 120Ce 0S€‘Ce SUO0I123UU0) JaMIS
¥08‘T¢ €I6'TT T/L1°CC 81¥'CC 048'CC SUO[3O3UU0) J21BM
T6T‘99C'ST S 809°LSY'ET S TTT'6TS'ET S 769°000CT S 8GT‘909CT 921AI9G 109 404 3|qe|leAy 19N
TLTL9ETT ¥95v99'CT 06S'STLTT 980'8/C°CT T7/8718CT sasuadx] |ejo]
86E£‘TET’9 96£'6/09 69T°LT6'S 9t6'6559 G€9‘1559 wia1sAS Jamas
VLL'SET9 89T‘G859 TZv'86L°S OvT'8TL'S LET'TIT9 S)JI0OMIBIBMN
“E sasuadx]
€9€'e€9°/C LT TTT9C T0L'vPT'St 81L'8LT'VT 0€0'6T¥'ST SaNUAAJY |e10 |
797°6€C €95°0/LT S8'16 68€°€0T ¥98'StT awodu| 1s3431u|
SOT‘CTT'ET €€T'TLOET L10'6TY'TT L69°96V°CT LYT'E8R]TT wa1sAs Jamas
966'18CVT S 9/£°6/8°CT S 6€8'€CTLTT S 769'8/9°TT S 6T0°06€CT S3J0MIBI.AN
SONUIAQY
1102 2102 €102 v10¢ ST0¢
JeaA |edsiy
8-MY 3|qeL GTOT ‘0€ 1oqwaidas Jo sy

mCO_um._wQO JO JusaWwialel§ pasuapuo) Emum\»m JoMaS pue S)JoMmialepn

sexa] ‘ueAug jo M)

194



‘paJ11aJ pue pied aJe salas Suile|aJi0d ay3 4o spuoq se padnpal

S| puoq A3aJns yoes jo Junowe a3jueliend A}auns ay] ‘Juawalinbal puny 9AJ9S3J 3} 10}

S61'818 TS 10 1unowe ay) ul Auedwo) soueansu| Ajueleng |epueuly Ag panssi Adljod Alauns e pue
‘€T/'SEYS JO JUNOWE By} Ul I91URIEND ddURUIA d1|gnd |euolieN Ag panss! Adljod Alauns e ‘009°€£8°SS
J0 j3unowe 31e32438e ay3 ul Ajueseno paunssy Ag panssi saidijod Ayauns omi Aq

papuny Ajquauund si pun4 aAJasaY ay1 ‘@duUeulIpJQ puog ual] Jolid 3yl Agq palnwiad sy 0

) 1) (STOTZ ‘O€ 19qwa1das) pund anIasay

v8080C°€ S (STOZ ‘O€ Jaqwia1das) pung SupjuiS pue 153493y
0000456V S (STOT ‘O€ 12qwa1das) spuog aNUIARY WIISAS JOMIS pue SHIOMIDIeAN

sawll /2T 9WodU| 33N ST-0€-6 Aq stuswalinbay wnwixe 40 93e49A0)
999‘stS‘'s ¢ 2270¢ ‘suswalinbay 1s9493u| pue |edpulld wnwixen

sawll 6€'€ 9WOdU| 33N ST0Z-0€-6 Ag suswalinbay a8esaAy o 98e49n0)
08L'teL's S Z€07-9T0T ‘uswalinbay 153493u| pue [edidulid [enuuy 98eJany
6-Md 919eL STOT ‘0€ 49qwia1das Jo sy

saoueleg pund pue 98eJaA0D) WIISAS JOMIS puUB SYJOMIDIBAN
sexa] ‘uelig jo Aw)

195



%00T 8T8'GSE96 S spun4 3|qe1saAu| [e10]
%S 8€V'v00°S $|00d 1UBWUIBA0D
%t ¥#86'06T°€C s919ua8y uodno)
%TL 96£'091°89 S sysodaq puewaq
EY:[SUERIEY] anjep paznJowy JUSWISaAU] JO adAL
's9110831e2

JUSWISIAUL SUIMO[|0} BY3 Ul PAISDAUL DJ9M SPUN} 3|BISIAUY

s,A11D 9y} Jo sadejuadiad Suimo||o) 9yl STOZ ‘O€ J9qwa1das Jo sy

0T-MdY 9|qel GTOT ‘0€ 49qwia1das 40 sy
syusodaq ysed pue SJUaWISaAU| JualIn)
sexa] ‘uelig jo Aa)

196



dwe74ad 9€°ST - 199
dwe7Jad 58°6

‘98ueyd o01103[gns aJe sadsey) |an4 (1)

901AJS unysi 1990s
921A9S Suny8iy Ajanaas

€0€0°0 €€C00 09400 uoiesiul| 9IAI3S Alepuodas

€0€0°0 LL00°0 18°CT 00°00% lerasnpu| 93.e

€0€0°0 ¢ST00 S0'8 79'9¢ 3SM JO 3WI] |eldJaWwo) 32IAISS |elduadH

€0€0°0 6€60°0-TCE00 - 00°LET 0 3wl puewa( |eldJawwo) 3IAISS |elauadn

00€v'C 8¢¢00 009 00°TC puewsq [elJawwo) |lews

€0€0°0 16000 T1S0°0 - 00'tT [eldJawwio) ||ews

86000 1SS0°0 - 00'TT (320 - Ae|N)) |erzuapisay uojiels 983)10)

86000 81700 - 00'TT (4dy - AON) |erzuapIsaY uoiels 98310D

€0€0°0 L6000 %500 - 00'TT ("0 - Ae|A) Jowiwing |enuapisay

€0€0°0 L6000 €Tv0°0 - S 00°TT S (4dy - "AON) J23UI [BIIUSPISDY

(T) un ymysad  w 4ad Umy 4dd W Jad Yo sse|) |eany
19d 9@84ey) |ang 19d 984ey) Jowoisn)

Aioren8ay aseg

0€€00 008T’€ 00200 88'S 00°00T‘8 UOISIAIQ 214303(3 |edny

dweqJad S8°0T-SL'Y 901A43S Sunysi 19341

dweJad §5°8 921AJ9S 3unysiy Ajunaas

88¢0°0 0089°CT 01000 89°CT 00'S2LT 9JIAIDS UoIssiwsuel |

00€0°0 006¢€°€ 7,000 Yaran 00°001 93.e7 221n49S Atewilid

00€0°0 SOvT0 SL00°0 0s'ct 00°001 [elysnpu| 93.e

L69T°0 100 789 16°9¢ 9SM JO SWI] S0IAISS |BIBUSYH |BIDJBWWO)

TOE0'0 00S0°€ 8T60°0-¥1€0°0 - 00°LET 9SM O dWI| puews( |eldJaWwWo) |jews

TOE00 00S0°€ S120°0 T€9 SL'6¢C puewsq [elJawwo) |jlews

TOE00 61100 0TSO0 - 0S'sT |elJawwo) jews

TOE00 T110°0 S0S0°0 - 00°TT ("0 - Ae|Al) Jowiwing |enuapisay

TOE00 S T1T0°0 8L€0°0 S - S 00'TT S (4dy - "AON) 423UIM |B13UBPISDY

(T) umy Ymiidd W Jed YW 19d M3 13d YuoN sse[d Au)

19d 984ey) |ang

Aioren8ay

aseg

19 981ey) Jawoisn)

T-234 9IqeL

GTOT ‘0€ Jaqwaidas jo sy
s931ey 214309|3
sexa] ‘uelug jo Aw)

197



‘A10391e2 3uijsodau a1esedas e se 1n0 udX04q dJ9M S1Y3I| 19941S pue sa31ed
[el41SNpuU| 13 [EJLIBWWOD) pausdisse aJam |ejuawliedaptalu] pue sallIoyiny dljqnd paliodad Ajsnoiaald ‘gToz u| -

%918 000'9002S’T %TC €6 000°€EY'8SLT %98°98 00069£S¥8'T |elol
%0L VT 000'68T'TLT %EV EC 000890°Cvy %TL'SC 00059Z91S sanlin 42Yy1o0
%8C°61 000°6¥8°SG€ %8661 000858°9L€ %S8°LT 0008LT'6L€E UOISIAIQ 211109|3 |edny
%€S5°8¢ 000T¥9'9ZS %VE6C 000°985°€SS %C1°9¢C 000°TL6'VSS [elISnpu| g [BlDJSWWO)
%5661 000°£2T'89¢€ %97°0¢C 000TZ6'S8¢E %6T°LT 000°55T'S9¢€ |elluspisay
pIos (Un) PIoS (Ym) PIoS (Ym) Jawoisn) Jo adAy
ym % so|es A3J1au3 ym % so|es A3J1au3 ym % so|es A3J1au3
010¢C 110¢ c10¢
%00°00T 0009TS988°T %T1 0T L6L'SS6'VTTT %00°00T £80°LS0'TY0C [eiol
%0€°0 9T5'S0T'9 514311192415
%ECCE 000££0809 %0¢C'8¢€ 000°T8L'6LL %CV'1E veT'v8T'TY9 sanliin 42Yy1o0
%1661 000°TL9°SLE %V5°0C eSv'eveeTy %CETC 788'S0T'sey UOISIAIQ 211109|3 |edny
%56°8¢ 000'60T'91S %0¢C°LC ¥89°€TT'9SS %0T1°8¢ G98°679°€LS (p|€HISNpU| 7 |BIDJSWWO)
%06°8T 000'655°9G€ %LT'8T 099°TT8'0LE %5881 00LTEL'VSE |elluspissy
pIoS (Ym) pIoS (Ym) pI0S (Ym) Jawoisn jo adAL
um % so|es A3Jaug Uym % so|es A3Jaug um % so|es A3Jaug
€10¢ ¥10¢ S10¢
¢-034 9|qel STOT ‘0€ 4oqwia1das Jo sy

AN N1g - s4owoisn) jo sadA| Aq sojes ASiaug

sexa] ‘uelug jo M)

198



%00°00T 8€T'00C'€ET S 8ET'0EV'TL S 000°0LLT9T S

%0¢C'€ 006'8¥7L‘C 006'80T 000°0t9°C LEOT

G/9'€ESLT SL9'ETT 000°0tS‘C 9€0¢

%0L°LT STEVSLT SCEVIE 000°0t¥‘C S€0¢

00T LStV 00T z6Y 000°996°€ ¥€0¢

6T¥'08L9 6TV'SLL 0005009 €€0¢

vr1'vS0'6 PYTvSTT 000°006°L [43014

18L'SL8'6 18L°08S'T 000'SZE’8 T€0C

%CETC TET'T88'6 TET9V6'T 000'S€6°L 0€0¢

SCE'VL8'6 SCE6TIEC 000'58S‘L 6¢0¢

G78'TL8'6 S78'CL9'C 000002, 8¢0¢

€98'v/8'6 €98'600°€ 0005989 LT0C

951’6486 9sv'ere’e 000°0S59 9¢0¢

%¥8'8T 90€°LL8'6 90€'7€9’e 000'stZ‘9 Sc0¢

v¥9'vL8'6 ¥v9'668°¢€ 000'SL6°S ¥¢0¢

ETV'LL8'6 ETVCST'Y 000'szTL’S €20¢

6TT1'998°0T 6TT'9VY'y 000°0Z¥9 [44014

vv1'vS8°0T vrT'6ELY 000'STT9 TT0¢

%V6°LE 18£'958°0T 18L'9T0°S 000°0178°S 0¢0c

906'09¢€'€E 906'S7E9 000'S€0°LC 610¢

¥68°C6LCT ¥68°£859 0005029 810¢

v6v'v06°LT ver'6TT L 000'G8.°0T L10¢

v6v'8TT6T v6v'cT9’L 000'S0S‘TT 910¢

painay |exol 1saJ491u| |edipund papu3

jediduiid JedA

30 % jeasy
€-034 9|qel GTOT ‘0€ 49qwa1das jo sy

214109|3 A1) - sudwaLINbay 921AISS 109Q SNUBAIY WSAS 2141093

sexa] ‘uelug jo M)

199



'SpUOQ SNUAASJ WIISAS 2141033 S 9NsS| 03 SID10A jo [eaosdde ayy uleiqo o1
paJinbaJ jou si A1) ay3 ‘me| 33e3s 03 uensind pue ‘spuog aNUSASJ 214193]3 PANSSIUN Ing PA1OA ou sey AlD 3yl

¥-034 9|qeL ST0T ‘0€ 49qwa1das o sy
Spuog anuaAly panssiun 1ng pazioyiny
sexa] ‘uelig jo Aw)

200



‘'suolingliiuod CO_mcwo_ |enioe 199(}aJ 0} ucwrcumj_._om ue sopnjoul gTQ¢ ‘"uoljezijuowe pue Co_um_uw.\_n_w_u S9pPN|oX3 @)

"92IAJ3S 1P 10} 3|ge|ieAe 1au uo 1dedwl ou uiAey Ing ‘sasuadxa pue sanuaAaJ |10} Suisealdul
‘dn passoug aJam XLIEIA UOISSILISURIL 10D¥T BY3 YBN0JY) P3||ig SISO PUE SINUDASI UOISSILISUBIY N1E ‘TTOT 2A0BHT )

€8GCE 09T'€€ 0T6°eE 609°v€ vLT'SE
vr91SE’LE S 166'6L9°€Y S €€6'9€SCE S TE09S0VY S zoz'oEE vy S
7SE698°LTT 9ST'EVTCTT €¥0798'8CT 60V ET9TYT 9T’ v99 Ty
966'0TC’'SST LYT'€T8'SST 9/6'86€T9T Ov¥'699'S8T 99t 'v66'98T
€95°69€ LE6'69€ 0z6'L0Y rEVIY Sv6'0LL

EEVTSB VST S

OTT'ESY'SST

950°T66'09T S

860°GST'S8T S

TTS'ETT98T S

TT0C

(41114

€10¢
Jeaj [edsly

v10¢

STO0C

sJawolsn) 21130913 A1D - N1g

JDIAY3S 1930 404 F19VI1IVAV L3N

(o)) S25UR0X3 WdIsAS 21432313 A¥D
SONUDAIY |e1o|

3WOdU| JUBWISIAU|

9NU3AIY 19yl pue _.Cw“.m>m 211993 >H._U
SONUOIAQY

(1)

S-034 9|qel

GTOT ‘0€ 1oqwa1das Jo sy

suoijesadQ waisAs 214193|3 A1) JO JUSWAIRIS PASUIPUO)

sexa] ‘ueAug jo M)

201



'6T0C Ul 906°09ESES 4O DIIAIDS 109P |enUUE WNWIXew [enjde pajdafoad ayy Aed

03 JU3IDIYNS 3 ||IM WISAS 214393|3 SY3 JO SBNUBAIY 19N 1Byl s3adxa AlD 8yl ‘(6TOZ 4e9A |eIsi4 ay3 40y

VdIAIL 03 3uswAed 310e43u02 S,A31D 9Y3 JO JUNOWE 3Y3 U] UOIIDNPAJ [BIFUBISONS B 323}424 YdIym) suoidafoud

9NUBA3J UO paseg ‘ddUeUIpJO pJeog oyl ul stluswadinbay a21A19S 1gaQ |enuuy 3y1 JO uoinuap ay3 4ad
uolle|ndjed 98eJan0d 3y} 40} 19 uoojjeg e se T0Z ‘T Ainr anp uawAed jedpuiid ay3 1ea41 1M AND Byl 0

€88°7SS0T S (STOT ‘0€ 19qwa1das) pund anIasay
vLV'1SE'Ss S (STOT ‘0€ 19qwaidas) pund Supjuls pue 1s3493u|
000°0LL‘TIT S GT0Z-0€-6 ‘SpPUOg dNUAASY WIAISAS 214309|3
sawl] €€'1 () 2!M9S 1q9p Joj 3|qe|ieAe 19N STOZ-0€-6 Ag sjuswalinbay wnuwixe Jo 98e49A0)
906°09€‘€E S 6T0¢ ‘stuswalinbay 1saJ4a1u| pue [edidulld WNWIXEA]
sawl] STt D2IAJDS 109p 40} 3|qe|ieAe 19N STOZ-0€-6 Aq stuswauinbay a3eiany Jo a3eian0)
900°009°0T S LE0T-9TOT WUawWalinbay 1saJaiu| pue |edidulld [enuuy 93e4any
9-234 9|qelL GT0T ‘0€ 49qwa1das o sy

saoueleg pund pue 28eJan0) 211039(3 A1)
sexa] ‘uelig jo Aw)

202



%001 €98°,08€8 S s|eiol
%0C°0E 960°0TE’ST S$91114N23s Aduade Ul JUSWISIAU|
%L6'L 6106499 $9134edJ31UN0d yum sysodap |ela3e||0)
%6S°€ 0176800 |00d 3,A00 Ul JUBWISAAU|
%V 85 86,6088V S susodaq puewaq
98ejuadiad anjepoog JUSWISAAU] Jo adAL
‘salJ10891ed

JUSWISaAUI SUIMO||0} BY3 Ul PI1SSAUL 9J9M SpUN} 3|qeISIAUI

3143093 AND s,N19 Jo sadejuadiad Suimo||o) 3yl STOT ‘0E 49qwia1das Jo sy

£-234d 9|qel

GTOT ‘0€ 49qwa1das jo sy
214399]3 A1) - suisodaq yse) pue SJUaWISIAU| 1Ud4IN)
sexa] ‘uelug jo M)

203



dwe7.4ad 9€°ST-T9°9
dwe Jad 58°6

*a8ueyd 01 103[qns aJe sadiey) [an4 (T)

901AJ9S Suilysi 199418
92IAJ3S Sunysi] Auunaas

€0€0°0 €€20°0 09£0°0 uonesiu| 221A195 Alepuodas
€0€0°0 1600°0 75100 TLVEEE 79'9C 39S 4O SWI| |EI2ISWWOD IIAIDS [BIBUID
€0€0°0 6020°0-0£00°0 6€60'0-TZEO00 - 00'LET 0 dWI] puewa( [BI2JAWWOD IINIIS [BIBUID
00€¥'C 82200 009 00'TC puewaq |eJaWWo) |lews
€0€0°0 1600°0 11500 - 00'¥T [eI2JaWIWOD |[eWS
€0£0°0 86000 15500 - 00°TT (300 - Aen) [erzuapisay uoneis 339)(0)
€0€0°0 86000 81t0°0 - 00°TT (4dy - AON) |ennUSpISaY UolIe)S 983)|0D
€0£0°0 £600°0 ¥¥S0°0 - 00°TT ("0 - Aen)) Jowwing [ennuapisay
€0€0°0 L6000 €170°0 - 00°TT S (1dV - "AON) Jo3UIMN |E1IIUBPISDY
(1) umvwi ymiiad M 4ad ym 1ad MY J3d Yyuo sse[J |edny
19d ad4ey) |an4 19d 984ey) Jowoisn)
AiorenSay aseg
0€€0°0 008C'€ 0020°0 88'S 00°00T‘8 uoIsSIAIQ D133 |eINY
dwe? Jad §8°0T-SL'¥ 921AJIDS SUY3IT 193418
dwe7Jad 65°'8 92IAJ3S Sunysi] Auunaas
88200 00€v'e 0T00°0 89'C1T 00'S2LT 9JIAIDS UOISSIwsuRI |
00£0°0 006€°€ ¥£00°0 STt 00°005-00"00% 98.e7 221M3S Adewld
00€0°0 0097°€ SL00°0 05°CT 00°00% |elysnpu| a81e7
L69T°0 w100 YT ¥-0L'C 16'9C 9S JO dWI| JIAIDS [BIDBUID |BIDIBWWO)
T0€0°0 6020"-0L00° L%90°-65€0° - 00°LET 9SM JO dWI| puewa( [eldJaWWO) |lews
10€0°0 00S0°€ ST70°0 1€9 GL'6C puewsaq [e1JawwWo) |jews
T0€0°0 61100 0TS0°0 - 05'ST [eI2JaWIWOD |[ewS
T0€0°0 TT10°0 S0S0°0 - 00°TT (PO - Aey) JawwNg |eluap|say
T0€0°0 S TTT00 8L€0°0 S - 00°TT S (4dy - *AON) J33UIM [B13IUSPISaY
(T) i ymyiad M 4ad ymy 4ad MY Jod Yuon sse|d A
19d 9d4ey) |an4 19d 984ey) Jowoisn)
Aiojre|nSay aseg

T-d434 3|qeL

STOT ‘0€ 4aquiaidas o sy
saley d13039|3
sexa] ‘ueAig jo A1)

204



%00°00T 000°08TLEE

%00°00T 000'T80'8S€

%00°00T 000°66/'6EE

%1C'8C 000€2TS6
%6L'TL 000°£50°T¥T

%0€°0€ 000£0S80T
%0L°69 000'7LS'6¥7C

%8€°0€ 000TET'€0T
%C9'69 000'895'9€C

|elol
[e1nJawwo)
|elusplisay

plos (Um>)
UM % so|es Aduau3

plos (Um>)
UM % s9|es Aduau3

plos (Um>)
UM % so|es A3Jaug

otoc¢

T10¢

¢10¢

%00°00T 000°878°TS€E

%00°00T GTS'6€8'S8E

%00°00T LS690v'S0Y

%VL0E 000°LS¥'80T
%9769 000°TLE VYT

%LY'6¢ ¥89°069°€TT
%ES°0L TY8'8v1'TLT

%0€'TE SSY'v68'9CT
%0L°89 T0S'TTS'8LT

Jawoisn) jo adAL

|elol
[e1Jawwo)
|elusplisay

pIoS (Um) PIoS (Um) PIoS (Ym) Jawoisn jo adAL
UM % s9|es Aduau3 UM % s9|es Aduau3 UM % so|es A3Jaug
€10¢ ¥10¢ S10¢
¢-d3d 9|qel STOT ‘0€ 4oqwia1das Jo sy

|edny - suswoisn) jo sadA] Aq sajes ASuau3

sexa] ‘uelug jo M)

205



%00°00T L09°C0T0T S L09°LS6°C S 000'SPT'L S
%S8°0¢ 000°61Y 000°6T 000001 ¥€0¢
0S0'LTY 0S0°LE 000°08¢€ €€0¢
88€'61Y 88€'vS 000'99¢€ [43014
SLL'STY SLL'0L 000°st€ T€0C
%eT'TC 0Sv'9TY 0St'98 000‘o€€ 0€oc¢
ETV'9TY ETV'TOT 000STE 6¢0¢
887'STv 88C'qTT 000°00€ 8¢0¢
00L'8TY 00.'8TT 000°06¢ LT0C
S/0°9Tv SL0TVT 000S.T 9¢0¢
%L6'TC 000'8T¥ 000°€ST 000'59¢ Sc0¢
9ST'6TY 99T '¥91 0009S¢ ¥¢0¢
G/8'61Y SL8'VLT 000°st7¢ €20¢
€98°61Y €98'v8T 000S€T [44014
000'8LL 000'80¢ 000°0LS TT0¢
%¥0°9¢€ 000°08. 000‘0€C 000°0SS 0¢0c
0S6°LLL 0S6°LYC 000°0€S 610¢
00t'08L 00t'S9¢ 000STS 810¢
SC9'sLL 579°08¢ 000°S6Y L10¢
009°6LL 009'v6¢ 000°s8Y 910¢
painay |exol 1saJ491u| |edipund Suipu3
jediduiid JedA
30 % jeasy
€-434 d|qel GTOT ‘0€ 49qwa1das jo sy

syuswalInbay 921A19S 109 SNUBASY WISAS 2141097 |euny

sexa] ‘uelug jo M)

206



.Co_um_uw.\_n_wh_ SopPN|oX3 0

€091 18891 9G6S/T 8CE'ST 890°6T SJ3W031sN) 21303|3 |edny
6EL'6LT'Y S €8'6TC's S [8S'€L0'S S 8G/‘86T°S S 8170°860°9 S JDIAY3S 193A Y04 F1aVTIVAY 1IN
€6L'7T9°LT TSE'8YE°9C 60C'1€C'LT §G6/‘205°0¢€ LT8'V9T'EE () S2SUAXT WaISAS 211309]3 |eany
ZESV06'TE VLT'8LG'TE 96.'V0ECE €T5'T08'SE S/8'79¢6E SaNuUaA3Y |ejo]
LYE'ES €€€78 [44°AAY% €1e'eL 008'S. 3WOJU| JUSWISBAU|
G8T‘1S8'TE S T¥8'S6v'TE S VLELST'TE S 00£'8TL/SE S S/0°L8T'6€ S Wa3sAS 211303|3 |euny
SONUOA™Y
T10¢C 210¢ €10¢ v10C ST0C
Jea |edastd
¥-43Y 9|qeL STOZ ‘0€ Joqwia1das Jo sy

suonelsadQ waisAs 214109|3 [edny JO JUBWS1LLS PASUIPUOD)

sexa] ‘uelig jo Aw)

207



wo'TIE S (STOT ‘0€ 412qwia1das) pun4 aniasay
SYAWA 24 S (STOT ‘0€ J2qwa1das) pun4 SupjuiS pue 1saJaiu|
000°SVT‘L S GTOZ-0€-6 ‘Spuog anuaAay walsAs 211103|3 |euny
sawl] T8/ 92IAJIDS 10ap 10} d|ge[leAy 19N GT0Z-0€-6 AQ suswalinbay wnwixe|A Jo 93e49A0)
00v'08L S 8TOT ‘Sluswalinbay 1sa491u| pue |edidulld wWnwixep
sawll /¥'TT 92IAJIDS 1Gap 104 d|ge|leAy 19N STOZ-0€-6 AQ syuawalinbay 93e4aAy JO 93e49A0)
9TL'TES S ¥€07-9T0T ‘Iuswalinbay 1sa493u| pue |edidulld |enuuy 98elany
G-Y3Y 9|qel GTOT ‘O€ 12qwia1das o sy

saouejeg pund pue 28eJaA0) 21110397 |edny
sexa] ‘uelug jo M)

208



%00T TCL'TLT'S S s|elo|
%S¢ 098°€00'C $31314n235 Aduasdy
%SL 198°/9T‘9 S sysodaq yueg
wmmu:wu._wn_ o9njeA yoog JUIWI]SOAU| "_.O wn>._.
's9140891e2

JUSWISaAUI SUIMO||0} BY] Ul PI1SSAUL 2J9M SPUNS J|qeISIAUI
214309|7 |eJny s,N 19 o saSejusdiad Suimo||o) 3yl STOZ ‘0€ 42qwaldas Jo sy

9-434 9|qeL GT0T ‘0€ 49qwia1das o sy
914193|7 |eJny - sHsodaQg Yse) pue SJUSWISIAU| JUd44Nn)
sexa] ‘uelig jo Aw)

209



CITY OF BRYAN
The Good Life, Texas Style”

This page left blank intentionally.

210



	MD&A Page Numbers
	Govt Wide Stmts Page Numbers
	RSI General Fund Page Numbers
	Supplemental Page Numbers
	Supplemental Info Contents
	Financials - Auditor
	Govt Wide Stmts
	Govtl Funds
	Enterprise Funds
	Fiduciary Funds
	RSI - TMRS 10 years
	RSI - General Fund
	Non-Major Govt'l
	Debt Srv Fund
	Special Revenue
	Capital Projects
	Permanent Funds
	Non-Major Enterprise Funds
	Internal Srv Funds
	Agency Funds
	1-CA By Function & Act CAFR
	1

	4-CAFR Sch of Chgs
	cafr version

	Capital Assets
	1


	Nonmajor Enterprise
	Combining Financial Statements
	Nonmajor ENTERPRISE Funds


	Internal Srv
	combining financial statements
	INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS


	Fiduciary Fund
	AGENCY FUND

	Capital Assets
	CAPITAL ASSETS
	USED IN THE OPERATION

	This page left blank intentionally
	ADP5F7A.tmp
	Combining Financial Statements
	Nonmajor Governmental Funds

	Special Revenue Funds
	Capital Project Funds
	Permanent Funds


	Notes Page Numbers
	Statistical Page Number
	STATISTICAL SECTION - 1st page
	Statistical Section
	1-Net Asset by Component pg 136
	2-Change in Net Assets pg 137-8
	3-FundBalof GovtlFunds pg 139
	4-ChgsInFunbBalGovtlFnds pg 140
	5-GovtActTaxRevBySrce 
	6-Assessed Value & Est 
	7-PropTaxDirect&Over 
	8-PrinPropTaxpayers 
	9-PropTaxLevies&Collect 
	10-Top 10 Elec pg 145
	11-ElecSoldByType pg 146
	12-Electric Rates pg 147
	13-TopTen WaterCustomers pg 148
	14-TopTenSewerCustomers pg 149
	15-WtrSwrRates pg 150
	16-OS Debt Ratios pg 151
	17-Legal Debt Margin pg 153
	18-RatiosBondedOSDebt pg 153
	19-GvtActOverlapDebt pg 155
	20-PledgedRevCvrgeCity pg 155
	21-PledgedRevCvrgeRural pg 156
	22-PledgedRevCvrgeW WW pg 157
	23-SalesTaxCategory pg 158
	24-DemoEcoStats pg 160
	25-PrincipalEmployers pg 160
	26-FT Employees pg 161
	27-OperatingIndicators pg 162
	28-CapitalAssetStats pg 163

	STATISTICAL SECTION - Continuing Disclosure
	Supplementary Debt Disclosures FY15v2
	GO-1 GO Debt Valuation pg166
	GO-2 Assessed Valuation p167
	GO-3 GO Debt History p168
	GO-4 Tax RateLevy History Pg169
	GO-5 Top Taxpayers
	GO-6 GO Debt Req Pg171
	GO-7 I&S Fund Budget Pg172
	GO-8 Self Supporting Debt p173
	GO-9 Unissued GO Pg174
	GO-10 Other Oblig p175
	GO-11 Gen Rev & Exp p176
	GO-11A Chgs Net Assets p177
	GO-12 Sales Tax Hist
	GO-13 Inv & Dep
	RW-1 Water Consumption p180
	RW-2 Water-WW Customers p181
	RW-3 Water Rates p182
	RW-4 WW Usage p183
	RW-5 WW Rates p184
	RW-6 W-WW Debt Req p185
	RW-8 W-WW Stmt Operations p186
	RW-9 W-WW Cov Fund Bal p187
	RW-10 Inv & Dep p188
	REC-1 Elect Rates p189
	REC-2 City & Rural Sales p190
	REC-3 City Debt Req p191
	REC-4 Unissued Rev Bonds p192
	REC-5 City Operations P193
	REC-6 City Cov & Fund Bal p194
	REC-7 City Inv & Dep p195
	RER-1 Elect Rates  p196
	RER-2 Rural Sales p197
	RER-3 Rural Debt Req p198
	RER-4 Rural Operations p199
	RER-5 Rural Cov & Fund Bal p200
	RER-6 Rural Inv & Dep p201


	RSI Page Numbers.pdf
	RSI - TMRS 10 years Page Numbers
	RSI General Fund Page Numbers

	Supplemental Page Numbers.pdf
	Supplemental Info Contents
	Financials - Auditor
	Govt Wide Stmts
	Govtl Funds
	Enterprise Funds
	Fiduciary Funds
	RSI - TMRS 10 years
	RSI - General Fund
	Non-Major Govt'l
	Debt Srv Fund
	Special Revenue
	Capital Projects
	Permanent Funds
	Non-Major Enterprise Funds
	Internal Srv Funds
	Agency Funds
	1-CA By Function & Act CAFR
	1

	4-CAFR Sch of Chgs
	cafr version

	Capital Assets
	1


	Nonmajor Enterprise
	Combining Financial Statements
	Nonmajor ENTERPRISE Funds


	Internal Srv
	combining financial statements
	INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS


	Fiduciary Fund
	AGENCY FUND

	Capital Assets
	CAPITAL ASSETS
	USED IN THE OPERATION

	This page left blank intentionally
	ADP5F7A.tmp
	Combining Financial Statements
	Nonmajor Governmental Funds

	Special Revenue Funds
	Capital Project Funds
	Permanent Funds


	ADP9942.tmp
	Double Spaced

	Blank Org Chart Nov. 2015.pdf
	Slide Number 1

	Blank Page



